CIRCULATING COPY

Riu-1-94-001-03

LOAN COPY ONLY

Vegetated Buffers in the Coastal Zone

A Summary Review and Bibliography

Alan Desbonnet Pamela Pogue Virginia Lee Nicholas Wolff



This publication was funded by the NOAA Office of Sea Grant, U.S. Department of Commerce, under Grant #NA 89 AA-D-SG-082, and by NOAA Office of Coastal and Ocean Resource Management, under Grant #NA90 AAH C2433. The U.S. Government is authorized to produce and distribute reprints for governmental purposes notwithstanding any copyright notation that may appear hereon.

Additional copies of this publication are available from Rhode Island Sca Grant Publications, University of Rhode Island Bay Campus, Narragansett, RI 02882-1197, Order P1333.

National Sea Grant Depository Publication #RIU-T-93-001. Loan copies available from the National Sea Grant Depository, Pell Library Building, University of Rhode Island Bay Campus, Narragansett, RI 02882-1197.

Sea Grant is a national program dedicated to promoting the wise use and development of marine resources for the public benefit.

This document should be referenced as: Desbonnet, A., P. Pogue, V. Lee and N. Wolff. 1994. Vegetated Buffers in the Coastal Zone — A Summary Review and Bibliography. Coastal Resources Center Technical Report No. 2064. University of Rhode Island Graduate School of Oceanography. Narragansett, RI 02882. 72 pp.

ISBN 0-938 412-37-x

LOAN COPY ONLY

Vegetated Buffers in the Coastal Zone

A Summary Review and Bibliography

Alan Desbonnet Pamela Pogue Virginia Lee Nicholas Wolff

CIRCULATING COPY

Coastal Resources Center Rhode Island Sea Grant University of Rhode Island

July 1994

ISBN 0-938412-37-x







Acknowledgments

i

2

We are grateful to the many people who provided material and insights for this manuscript: Dr. Art Gold - Department of Natural Resource Science, University of Rhode Island; Grover Fugate, Dave Reiss, Mark Imperial, Jeff Willis, and Jim Boyd - Rhode Island Coastal Resources Management Council; Scott Millar -Rhode Island Department of Environmental Management. We also gratefully acknowledge the Pell Library staff at the University of Rhode Island Graduate School of Oceanography for collecting many manuscripts and publications that were difficult to find. Comments, suggestions, and critical review of the manuscript by Peter Groffman, New York Botanical Garden, Institute of Ecosystem Studies; Heather Crawford, Connecticut Sea Grant; Elizabeth Gibbs and Tony Corey, Rhode Island Sea Grant; and Laurie McGilvray, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource Management, greatly improved the finished document from earlier versions.

Table of Contents

ł.

Acknowledgments	_
I. Introduction	5
Definition of vegetated buffer	
■ Multiple benefits	
II. Vegetated Buffer Use and Effectiveness: A Review	9
Nonpoint Source Pollution Control	9
Critical Variables Affecting Pollutant Removal	9
Surface Water Flow	10
Groundwater Flow	10
Slope	1 1
Soil Characteristics	
Pollutant Characteristics	13
Vegetation Type	14
Grasses	15
Woody-stemmed Species	18
Buffer Width	19
Removal of sediment and suspended solids	21
Removal of total and nitrate-nitrogen	24
Removal of total phosphorus	
Performance standards	24
Wildlife Habitat Protection	
Erosion and Flood Control	29
Historical and Cultural Preservation	31
Scenic and Aesthetic Enhancement	31
General Guidelines for Multiple-use Vegetated Buffers	
■ Implementation Approaches to Multiple-use Vegetated Buffer	
The "Ideal" Buffer	
Contour	
Vegetation	
III. Use of Vegetated Buffers in the Coastal Zone	
Application and Approach	
Public Perception	
■ Management and Maintenance	
■ An Example: Rhode Island's Coastal Buffer Program	
■ State Coastal Buffer Programs: A Summary	
IV. Selected Bibliography	47
V. Appendices	65
Appendix A - The Rhode Island Coastal Zone Buffer Program	65
Appendix B - The Rhode Island Coastal Zone Buffer Program: Management Guidance	



I. Introduction

Recent events, such as algae blooms; fish kills; closure to harvest of finfish and shellfish stocks; increased coastal development, tourism, and recreation: loss of tidal wetlands and wildlife habitat; and scenic degradation of coastal viewsheds, all have increased our awareness of the need to preserve, protect, and restore our nation's coastal resources. The problems observed along the coastal zone are not the result of any single event, but rather are a result of multiple changes that, when added together over time, have frayed and split the threads that link together ecosystem functions. In response, management schemes and regulations are developed that we hope will slow the rate of ecosystem change, smooth the frayed threads, and splice back together the severed links. One such management effort can be the application of vegetated buffers for use in the coastal zone. Vegetated buffers have been applied in the fields of forestry and agriculture to moderate nonpoint source degradation of water courses, in wildlife management to improve and provide habitat, and in landscape architecture to improve visual appeal. While great emphasis is being placed on the use of vegetated buffers to abate nonpoint source degradation of waterways, none of the above uses are exclusive of the others. It makes both good sense and good economics to pursue a multiple-use application of the vegetated buffer concept in coastal ecosystems.

It is the intent of this document to formulate concepts and ideas pertaining to the development of vegetated regions along the coastal zone that provide multiple benefits once implemented. It is not the intent of this review to provide the specific details, or provide critical comparison, of runoff sources and buffer effects when located on specific types of soils, for instance. There are many reviews of this type available in the published literature. This review differs from other published reviews of vegetated buffer uses in that it attempts to synthesize a broad spectrum of buffer benefits, effectiveness, and the variables that determine effectiveness.

Definition of vegetated buffer

Of the variety of definitions found in the literature (Table 1), all include the concept of a vegetated buffer acting as a transitional zone between differing land uses, and/or as a barrier to, and filter of, surface water runoff. As a result of their association with reducing the impact of development and landscape alteration on water resources, vegetated buffers are now being routinely employed as a tool for managing the environment. Vegetated buffers are often implemented, for instance, to mitigate the effects of nonpoint source pollution by removing pollutants from runoff through plant and microbial uptake, microbial degradation and conversion, physical trapping, and chemical adsorption. Phillips (1989a) describes vegetated buffers as "one of the most effective tools for coping with nonpoint source pollution." The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA, 1993) states: "...constructing vegetative treatment systems, will be considered in all coastal watershed pollution control activities." Statements such as these give significance to the use of vegetated buffers, and further contribute to their adoption and use for the control of nonpoint source pollution in current resource management schemes.

Resource managers are beginning to view vegetated buffers as one method of working toward compliance with recently drafted National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and EPA nonpoint source pollution control measures. The practice of implementing vegetated buffers, however, has generally focused upon their use as a "best management practice" (BMP). Overall, there is a lack of understanding with regard to developing vegetated buffers to provide benefits beyond what a typical BMP can provide. For instance, EPA (1993) states: "The term [vegetated buffer] is currently used in many contexts, and there is no agreement on any single concept of what constitutes a buffer, what activities are acceptable in a buffer zone, or what is an appropriate buffer width." This statement emphasizes the lack of general understanding and the common confusion concerning the use and effectiveness of vegetated buffers as a resource management tool.

Further confusion arises from the distinction, noted in Table 1, between a vegetated filter strip and a naturally vegetated area. Filter strips are typically considered a BMP engineered for a specific purpose, such as sediment removal. Forested buffers, on the other hand, are typically natural areas left along stream and river banks to mitigate the effects of logging on in-stream trout and salmon habitat. These practices are commonly considered separate entities — one edge of field (filter strips) and the other edge of stream (forested buffers) — despite their similarities in purpose. Together they make up a range of functional uses greater than either considered alone.

This review incorporates information taken from both vegetated filter strip and forested buffer studies, since the use of both is important in developing a general understanding of the effectiveness of vegetated buffers, particularly from a multiple-use perspective. When the term "vegetated buffer" is used in this document, particularly with regard to management implications for the coastal zone, it specifically refers to naturally vegetated areas that have been, or are being, set aside along the coastline, whether grassy or wooded. When reference is made to designing vegetated buffers where they presently do not exist, the intent is to develop a vegetated area that mimics native vegetation appropriate to the same locale. Our choice of the term "vegetated buffer" keeps with its original use to designate naturally vegetated areas, but we develop further the concept of multiple use and multiple benefits for this versatile management tool, as adapted from information on both natural and engineered vegetated buffers.

Table 1. A selection of definitions for vegetated buffers.

Multiple benefits

Vegetated buffers often produce many benefits that are neither well-documented nor originally intended. They can be used for providing wildlife habitat; for promoting visual diversity; for bird watching, hiking, and picnicking; for preserving the integrity of historical and cultural sites; for flood zone management by setting development back from the immediate banks of waterways; and for protecting structures from storm damage. Establishment of vegetated buffers throughout the coastal zone also can help provide for the long-term economic viability of the resource by maintaining an aspect of the natural wilderness of the coast that draws people to the shoreline.

Vegetated buffer programs, however, are rarely developed to fully consider the multiple benefits and uses that they offer to resource managers and to the general public. The "single use/single benefit" approach used more often tends to alienate some sector of the public that does not view that single use/single benefit as a priority. Public awareness that the vegetated buffers support multiple benefits — pollution control, wildlife habitat diversification, and scenic improvement, for instance — may lead to more effective implementation, as well as giving

Reference	Definition
Patfrey and Bradley, 1982	Zones of undeveloped vegetated land extending from the banks or high water mark of a water course or water body to some point landward. Their purpose is to protect the water resources, including wetlands, they adjoin from the negative impacts of adjacent land use.
Dillaha et al., 1986a	Bands of planted or indigenous vegetation used to remove sediment and nutrients from surface runoff.
Soil Conservation Service, 1989	Strips of grass or other vegetation that trap pollutants from land areas before they reach adjacent water bodies.
Chesapeake Bay Local Assistance Act, 1990	An area of natural or established vegetation managed to protect other components of a Resource Protection Area and state waters from significant degradation due to land disturbances.
Brown et al., 1990	Transitional areas between two different land uses where one mitigates the impact from the other.
Palmstrom, 1991	Intended to provide a neutral area to lessen the impact of man's activities (i.e., fertilizer use, on-site septic systems, urban runoff) on sensitive resources.
Comerford et al., 1992	A barrier or treatment area protecting adjoining areas from the off-site effects of some disturbance.
Dodd et al., 1993	strips of land in transitional areas between aquatic and upland ecosystems. From a water quality management perspective, riparian buffers can be defined as areas designed to intercept surface and subsurface flow from upland sources for the purpose of improving water quality.
EPA, 1993	Strips of vegetation separating a water body from a land use that could act as a nonpoint source.

greater incentive for voluntary adoption and participation in such programs.

Before vegetated buffers can become an effective multiple-use management tool, however, their variable uses and effectiveness must be better understood by resource managers, who can then develop programs to maximize the benefits and minimize the shortfalls for their use along the coastal zone. The implementation of vegetated buffer areas in the coastal zone can directly assist in pollution control, habitat diversification, and visual beautification. The application of multiple-use vegetated buffers, however, will best be implemented at a watershed scale to protect the rivers and streams, and in effect, the entire ecosystem, from which the coastal zone ultimately derives its health. Anything less than a system-wide approach will result, as it has in the past, in only partially solved problems. The implementation of vegetated buffer programs, however, regardless of the environment in which they are applied or the care and effort taken in their design and development, can neither take the place of, nor fully mitigate, the effects of poor land management techniques. Vegetated buffers should be considered a tool that can assist in the restoration of coastal and watershed ecosystems once sound land management practices have been developed and put into general practice, and not as an inexpensive technological savior to mitigate poor land and other natural resource management practices.



II. Vegetated Buffer Use and Effectiveness: A Review

Nonpoint Source Pollution Control

Nonpoint source pollution of our nation's waterways is of major concern for natural resources policy and management. The U.S. EPA recently estimated that 50 to 70 percent of the nation's threatened or impaired surface waters were being adversely affected by agricultural nonpoint source inputs, and that five to 15 percent of threatened or impaired surface waters were being adversely affected by urban runoff (Griffin, 1991). Concern is also growing for the degradation of groundwater due to nonpoint source impacts, which has implications with regard to subsurface recharge to streams, rivers, lakes, and estuaries, as well as to drinking water supplies. A national survey of wells conducted by the U.S. Geological Survey found that nearly 6.5 percent contained nitrate concentrations in excess of the EPA-established safe drinking water standard of 10 mg/l nitrate-nitrogen (Madison and Brunett, 1985).

Recent estimates of the impact of nonpoint source pollution have pushed forward a new era of regulation to abate water quality degradation. NOAA and EPA have both drafted new guidelines for regulations to limit nonpoint source pollutant impact on surface waters. Under the purview of Section 6217 of the Coastal Zone Management Act and Section 319 of the Clean Water Act, the mandated regulation of nonpoint source pollutants will begin in earnest.

The control of nonpoint sources of pollution, however, will not occur as easily as for point sources, which can usually be clearly identified, quantified, acted upon, and monitored for compliance to discharge standards. Nonpoint sources, by their very nature, are most often diffuse, cryptic, not easily monitored, and in many ways not fully understood. A further problem is that, even when a nonpoint source is clearly identified, it is often not the sole cause of any observed degradation of water quality or habitat. Instead, it is usually a result of the cumulative impact of many nonpoint sources within the area.

Although numerous problems are inherent in controlling nonpoint sources of pollution, abatement methods are being developed and implemented along watercourses throughout the world. Many of these are engineered control measures designed to mitigate the off-site impacts of development catch basins, settling ponds, and grassy swales, for instance. The implementation of vegetated buffers as BMPs has generally been practiced by resource managers with the intent of removing sediments and attached pollutants from runoff water. This practice is well-supported and documented in the literature, where numerous studies can be found that describe the design and effectiveness of vegetated buffers as a BMP. Other measures employ increased planning to abate the impacts of future development. Rezoning, cluster development, setbacks from watercourses, and defining naturally vegetated areas as buffers are some examples of planned mitigation measures. Naturally vegetated buffers have typically been applied as habitat preservation measures, except within the field of forestry, where they have been extensively applied for sediment control.

In order to assess the potential value of implementing vegetated buffers as a nonpoint source pollutant control measure, the many variables that affect how buffers remove pollutants from runoff must be understood. A better understanding of how vegetated buffers work, and what factors limit their use and effectiveness as pollutant removal mechanisms, will assist in evaluation and implementation of practical and functional vegetated buffers.

Critical Variables Affecting Pollutant Removal

Vegetated buffers are typically employed with the primary objective of removing sediment and its attached pollutants from surface water runoff. Pollutant removal is primarily achieved by slowing the surface water flow that transports sediments, allowing time for the settling of sediments and the pollutants adhered to them. The effectiveness of a vegetated buffer in removing pollutants, however, will vary according to a number of conditions, such as:

- · Soil type in the buffer
- Depth of the water table in the buffer
- Type, density, and age of vegetation in the buffer
- Pollutant concentrations contained in the runoff water entering the buffer
- Land use and size of areas draining into the buffer

- Hydrologic regime of the area within and adjacent to the buffer
- Width of the buffer
- Residence time of water in the buffer
- The path of runoff water into and through the buffer

Due to the inherent variability in the conditions that determine the effectiveness of vegetated buffers for the removal of pollutants, no single "best buffer" has been identified for widespread application. However, with better definition of those variables that determine buffer effectiveness, a better understanding can be gained as to what conditions, in general, promote pollutant removal effectiveness.

Surface Water Flow

In order for a vegetated buffer to effectively remove pollutants and sediments, the surface water flow through the vegetated buffer must be slow, shallow, and uniform (Broderson, 1973; Dillaha et al., 1986a). Surface water runoff should progress as shallow "sheet flow," and not become channelized as it moves across the buffer area. Slow flow allows for pollutants --- which are often adsorbed to sediments - to settle out and become incorporated into surface soils (Lee et al., 1989). Settling will be most pronounced in runoff that contains large-sized sediment particles, and less pronounced in those containing fine silts and particulates, which often require long retention times and very slow flows in the vegetated buffer to effectively settle. Slow flow also promotes utilization of nutrients by plants, assists flood control by allowing water to percolate into the soil, and reduces erosion within the buffer area. Rough surfaces, which better reduce flow velocity and promote sheet flow, result in greater pollutant and sediment removal than smooth surfaces (Flanagan et al., 1986; Williams and Nicks, 1988).

Field tests, however, indicate that naturally occurring vegetated buffers are generally incapable of inducing sheet flow from storm water runoff due to the natural tendency of water to move in discrete channels. Dillaha et al. (1986a) report a range of 40 to 95 percent reduced efficiency of sediment, nitrogen, and phosphorus removal in vegetated buffers when runoff flow through the buffer area deviated from shallow sheet flow. Channelization of flow through the buffer was cited as a major problem and limitation to buffer effectiveness during the review of riparian buffers implemented on agricultural lands in the state of Virginia. Nearly all the vegetated buffers inspected needed some form of maintenance or engineering to reduce channelization of flow, and to increase effectiveness in the removal of sediment and pollutants from surface runoff. The natural tendency of water to move in discrete channels may be one of the greatest impediments to successful buffer implementation for nonpoint source pollution control, particularly when implementing nonengineered vegetated buffers.

When depth of the surface water flow is such that vegetation in the buffer is submerged, effectiveness is reduced. As submergence increases, filtering efficiency of the buffer declines to zero (Karr and Schlosser, 1978; Barfield et al., 1979). When storm events occur, such as sudden thunderstorms, precipitation can often be extremely heavy, submerging the buffer and allowing an initial heavy flow of pollutants into receiving waters. All vegetated buffers may experience temporary ineffectiveness during thunderstorms or similar events that bring heavy precipitation.

Groundwater Flow

As surface soils become saturated, water may move vertically rather than horizontally through the soil layer and enter into the groundwater recharge system. The net movement of groundwater depends on soil type, subsurface impermeable layers, geology, hydrologic regime, and slope. Groundwater carries soluble pollutants that have passed through soils in percolated water. As it eventually recharges to lakes, rivers, streams, and coastal waters, it can become a source of pollution to surface waters. Groundwater may also move into subsurface aquifers and degrade potable water supplies. In areas such as the coastal northeastern United States, groundwater recharge can be a significant source of nitrogen enrichment to coastal waters (Valiela et al., 1992; Weiskel and Howes, 1992). Leachate from septic tanks, leaking underground storage tanks, landfills, and accidental spills can all enter the groundwater system, eventually entering coastal waters.

Vegetated buffers, however, may only be able to remove a limited number of pollutants from groundwater — nutrients and some metals, for instance. Oils, most metals, and pesticides will generally not be effectively removed by vegetated buffers once they have entered the groundwater recharge system. Furthermore, vegetated buffers located over deep water tables are not usually effective in the removal of pollutants from subsurface flow. Deep groundwater flows can move over considerable distances and over relatively long time frames (Hynes, 1983), and at depths where plant root systems are unlikely to reach them. Areas that are recharged from deep groundwater flows often receive pollutant inputs from distant sources that may have originated decades ago. A time lag may therefore develop between both cause and effect, as well as between the implementation of abatement measures and any observable effects.

Nutrient uptake and utilization by plants can be a major pathway of nutrient removal from groundwater supplies in a vegetated buffer. In areas that contain a shallow aquaclude (a subsurface impermeable soil layer), subsurface flow may be more horizontal than vertical, increasing the likelihood of groundwater being reached by the roots of overlying vegetation. In a forested area located over a shallow aquaclude (less than four meters deep), Peterjohn and Correll (1984) reported an 80 percent removal of nitrate from surface water flow, and Correll and Weller (1989) reported an 84 to 87 percent removal of nitrate from groundwater. In these instances the subsurface aquaclude kept the groundwater available to the root systems of plants in the buffer for uptake, as well as keeping it available to denitrifying microbial communities.

A major pathway for nitrate removal in groundwater is denitrification. The process of denitrification, which converts nitrate to nitrogen gas, which is then released to the atmosphere, is reliant upon the existence of a microbial community of denitrifying bacteria. The microbial community is partly reliant upon anaerobic conditions - a circumstance in which no free oxygen is present. The oxygen present in nitrate (NO,) is utilized for metabolism by the microbial community, and nitrogen gas is released to the atmosphere as a metabolic byproduct. A further limitation to this process is the availability of a source of carbon (organic material) to support the microbial community (Obenhuber and Lowrance, 1991). Soils that are poorly drained and rich in organic materials will typically provide conditions that promote denitrification.

Areas with a shallow water table, such as wetlands and areas with poorly drained soils, most readily provide the conditions conducive to the removal of nitrate contained in both surface and groundwater supplies. A series of related studies by Gold et al. (1991), Simmons et al. (1992), and Groffman et al. (1992), reported that nitrate removal was greater in areas with shallow water tables than in those with deep water tables during both dormant and growing seasons. Ambus and Lowrance (1991) found that 68 percent of the denitrification they observed occurred in the top two centimeters of soil. A shallow water table keeps groundwater close to the surface and in the area where carbon sources (i.e., organic leaf litter) are most likely to promote the growth of denitrifying microbes. Correll and Weller (1989), based on biomass removal estimates for nitrate-nitrogen, suggest that denitrification may be the most important nitrate removal mechanism from groundwater in forested areas.

There is, however, some concern that use of vegetated buffers to treat surface water runoff may actually increase groundwater nitrate and other soluble pollutant concentrations by promoting percolation into soils. Gold et al. (1989) and Weiskel and Howes (1992) have both reported that nitrate can readily travel through soils and into groundwater supplies with little or no removal in transit. This may be true for many soluble forms of pollutants, particularly in areas with highly permeable or very well-drained soils (Schwer and Clausen, 1989). Under some soil conditions --- welldrained, sandy soils, for instance --- the vegetated buffer could slow surface flow, promoting rapid percolation of surface water to groundwater, and actually degrade potable water supplies or coastal waters. It is presently unclear, however, to what extent this event occurs, and further study is needed to determine if and when vegetated buffers promote groundwater contamination.

Slope

Areas of steep slope do not allow for long retention time of runoff water, and since pollutant removal is at least partially time-dependent (i.e., to allow plant uptake and denitrification to occur), steep slopes reduce vegetated buffer effectiveness. Furthermore, steeply sloped areas negate the velocity-reducing effects of surface roughness, and thereby promote erosion. Even though a steeply sloped area may be thickly vegetated, it may be ineffective at removing sediments and pollutants because it promotes erosion and channelization of flow through the buffer area. The shallower the slope, the longer the residence time, the slower the flow, and the greater the ability of sediment and pollutants to settle and be removed from the runoff.

A slope of less than 15 percent reportedly allows for adequate retention time and pollutant removal, while steeper slopes may not be suitable for vegetated buffers due to the slopes' erosion potential and lack of adequate retention time (Schueler and Bley, 1987; Niewswand et al., 1990; Palmstrom, 1991). Clark (1977) gives some examples of minimum buffer widths for water quality protection according to slope and soil crodibility; he recommends a minimum width of 10 meters for areas with no slope on slightly erodible soils. extending to 50 meters for 30-percent slopes on severely erodible soils. Trimble and Sartz (1957) suggest adding an extra 0.6 meters of vegetated buffer width for each one-percent increase in slope within the vegetated buffer for minimum effectiveness, and a 1.2-meter increase per one percent slope increase to attain greatest water quality protection. Broderson (1973), in a study of the effectiveness of forested buffers to remove sediment from runoff before the runoff enters a stream, suggests that fifteen-meter buffers are sufficient at slopes less than 50 percent, and a maximum 66-meter buffer is sufficient for extremely sloped areas. Comerford et al. (1992) note, from a review of the literature, that slopes greater than 30 percent generally allow inadequate retention time in a vegetated buffer for any significant denitrification to occur.

Slope of the area preceding the vegetated buffer also can affect pollutant and sediment removal. Steep slopes leading into a flat buffer area often tend to cause the bulk of the transported sediment to be deposited on the leading edge of the buffer area, forming a berm (Magette et al., 1986; Robat and Sabol, 1988). Once a berm is formed at the leading edge of the vegetated buffer, water will be channeled around the buffer, rendering it uscless. Eventually the berm will be breached, causing channelization of flow into the vegetated buffer, increasing erosion and reducing buffer effectiveness for pollutant and sediment removal.

Soil Characteristics

Soils with high permeability generally provide greater filtration of sediment and attached pollutants (Chescheir et al., 1988; Lee et al., 1989). Once the pollutants enter the soil layer, they can become incorporated through physical, chemical, and biological interactions. However, highly permeable soils, such as sandy soils, may allow for the rapid movement of water into the groundwater recharge system. The movement may be so rapid that no removal of pollutants is allowed by plants, and only minimal removal by physical and chemical adsorption, particularly for dissolved forms of pollutants.

Figure 1 shows that well-drained soils are only half as effective for the removal of nitrogen as poorly drained soils. Sandy soils provided the least nitrogen removal, regardless of drainage capacity. Ehrenfeld (1987) found that nitrogen from septic system leachate moved greater distances vertically than horizontally through the permeable sandy soils of the New Jersey Pinelands, where the nitrate-laden septic leachate quickly percolated below the root zone of buffer vegetation. In some soils, vegetated buffers that are not located directly in the septic system leach field plume will be ineffective in removing nitrate. The contaminants contained in



septic system leachate can readily enter nearby waterways under these conditions.

Poorly drained soils generally retain water long enough, and often under conditions favorable enough, that pollutant removal is accomplished. Figure 1 presents a range of nitrogen-removal data reported by Groffman and Tiedje (1989a) for a variety of soil types and conditions. Poorly drained soils were found to be more than twice as effective as well-drained soils for the removal of nitrogen. Poorly drained soils that contain a higher organic content are more apt to promote the growth and maintenance of denitrifying microbial communities and hence greater nitrogen removal (Nichols, 1983; Peterjohn and Correll, 1986; Groffman et al., 1991a). In cases where long residence time occurs in saturated, organic soils, nitrogen removal may be high (Cooper, 1990). These conditions are typically found in salt marshes, wetlands, and wet forests, all of which have been repeatedly reported to express high denitrification potential. Saturated, organically rich soils, therefore, can be useful in the removal of both soluble and sediment-bound pollutants, while sandy soils may be most effective in removing sediments and bound pollutants, and soluble forms only marginally.

Soils rich in clay content are often relatively impermeable, and removal of pollutants from surface waters by soil percolation can be low. Scheuler and Bley (1987) do not recommend vegetated buffers as effective pollutant removal mechanisms in clay-rich soils. Mixed clay soils, however, as shown in Figure 1, often are effective in the removal of pollutants. Clay soils often have high affinities for binding positively charged pollutants, particularly metals, by acting as a cation (negatively charged) exchange site. Provided the clay soils are not compacted, and runoff over the area is slow, pollutant removal via chemical binding may be significant (Zirschky et al., 1989). Chemical removal, however, is finite: once metals are adsorbed to soils, they can be freed for transport by further chemical or physical disturbance of the soil layer, and may be moved during the next runoff event. A ranking of stability of soil-bound metals given in Baker and Chesnin (1975) shows that copper has the greatest tendency to remain stable once adsorbed. Zirschky et al. (1989), experimenting with copper, nickel, zinc, cadmium, chromium, iron, lead, and manganese, found that only copper and zinc were

consistently removed. Other metals may therefore not be effectively removed from surface runoff by vegetated buffers, even in buffers with conditions conducive to metals removal, and other methods may need to be explored if removal of metals is of major concern.

Pollutant Characteristics

Many studies indicate that most pollutants and nutrients transported by surface runoff are attached to sediments. This tends to be true for metals (Zirschky et al., 1989), pesticides (Lake and Morrison, 1977), phosphorus (Karr and Schlosser, 1977; Chescheir et al., 1988; Lee et al., 1989), and some forms of nitrogen (Karr and Schlosser, 1977; Chescheir et al., 1988). Nitrate, however, has less affinity to sediments, and is most often found in a dissolved phase (Chescheir et al., 1988). Runoff that characteristically contains pollutants bound to sediment need only move through a buffer able to remove the sediment load. When runoff characteristically carries pollutants in dissolved or soluble forms, the buffer area will need to promote long retention times in order for those pollutants to be effectively adsorbed to soils or utilized by plant and microbial communities.

The effectiveness of pollutant removal will be related to the concentration of pollutants entering the vegetated buffer from outside sources. Much of the reviewed literature reports testing buffer efficiency in response to sources that have very high concentrations of incoming pollutants, particularly sediments and nutrients. For instance, Edwards et al. (1983) measured concentrations of total suspended solids, nitrogen, and phosphorus entering grassed buffers from a cattle feedlot to be: 10,200 mg/l TSS; 705 mg/l N; 152 mg/l P. In most cases, very favorable removal efficiencies were reported, despite a high input rate. In the Edwards et al. (1983) study, removal rates of 87 percent TSS, 83 percent N, and 84 percent P were recorded after the feedlot runoff had moved through a settling basin and sixty meters of grassed buffer. This may suggest that vegetated buffers treating more "average" concentrations of pollutant inputs might produce even greater removal efficiencies than those reported in the published literature (see Schueler (1987), for example, for average concentrations of various pollutants contained in urban runoff water).

In contrast, Nichols (1983) reported that re-

moval efficiency for nitrogen and phosphorus decreased as loading of those nutrients into a wetland treatment area increased. Reuter et al. (1992) report similar results. The U.S. Army Corps. of Engineers (1991) suggests that, despite reported high removal efficiencies for pollutants in vegetated buffers, high pollutant loading rates into the buffer may result in degradation of adjacent sensitive water bodies. For example, Castelle et al. (1992) reported that 55 percent of the assessed buffers implemented to protect wetlands that bordered residences using lawn maintenance systems showed impacts from fertilizer applications. The symptoms ranged from increased wetland plant growth to wetland plant death from nitrogen toxicity. Under high pollutant loading conditions, the percentage of pollutants not removed may be sufficient to cause degradation of water quality and other resources. This is further exemplified by the study of Edwards et al. (1983), in which, despite high removal rates (87 percent TSS, 83 percent N, 84 percent P), the pollutant load leaving the sixty-meter grass buffer was high (988 kg TSS, 63 kg N, 15 kg P), as were concentrations (3,840 mg/l TSS; 260 mg/l N; 51 mg/l P). Although high pollutant removal rates in vegetated buffers will certainly reduce loadings to receiving water, they may not necessarily equate to protection of water quality.

Over time, a vegetated buffer may become "saturated" with sediments and pollutants, reducing overall removal efficiency. Eventually the buffer could become a source of pollutants to adjacent water bodies. It is well known that physical disturbance can cause pollutants trapped in a vegetated buffer to become available for transport out of the buffer area. However, not enough research has been conducted on vegetated buffers to adequately assess either the conditions that lead to saturation with pollutants or the circumstances under which an undisturbed vegetated buffer becomes a pollutant source,

Karr and Schlosser (1977) note that pollutants contained in surface runoff are generally bound to smaller-sized sediment particles, such as silts and clays, and that the effectiveness of any vegetated buffer will partially depend on how well it removes silts and clays from runoff water. Clay sediment in runoff generally exists at very small sizes, and Karr and Schlosser (1978) report that, as particle size decreases, the buffer width required to remove a greater percentage of those particle sizes increases dramatically. Wong and McCuen (1982) similarly found that disproportional increases in buffer width - from 33 to 66 meters - were required to increase sediment removal efficiency of a grassed buffer from 90 to 95 percent. The largest sediment particles are generally deposited within the first few meters of the vegetated buffer, leaving the fine silts and clays in suspension. For example, Neibling and Alberts (1979) reported that only 37 percent of claysized sediment and particulates were removed within a 0.6 meter width of grass vegetated buffer, while 91 percent of the total sediment load was removed within the same effective buffer width. Wilson (1967) found that most coarse-grained sediment was removed in 3.3 meters, most silt in 15 meters, and most clays by 90 meters in a buffer vegetated with Bermuda grass.

Relatively narrow buffers, provided they promote shallow sheet flow through the buffer area, will effectively remove coarse-grained sediments and their associated pollutants. Wider buffers, however, will be required to remove smaller-sized particles of sediment and the pollutants adsorbed to them. Pollutants in dissolved forms may require even greater buffer width to be effectively removed by chemical interactions, plant uptake, or microbial transformation.

Vegetation Type

The vegetative ground cover within a buffer serves multiple purposes with regard to overall buffer effectiveness by removing pollutants, providing habitat, and creating aesthetic appeal. The type, density, and age of the vegetative ground cover play a large role in determining the effectiveness of pollutant removal, the habitat value to wildlife, and the overall aesthetic appeal of the vegetated buffer. The vegetative ground cover contained in a buffer can be manipulated, often in a cost-effective manner, to better achieve the goals for which the vegetated buffer was implemented. For instance, the vegetative cover in the buffer could be manipulated to enhance the removal of various pollutants of concern, thereby providing some flexibility to resource managers for achieving their specific goals.

Table 2 provides a range of removal rates reported in the literature for nitrogen, phosphorus, and sediment in both grassed and forested buffers and over a variety of site-specific conditions. Nitrogen was the most widely reported pollutant with regard to removal in vegetated buffers. The removal rates provided in Table 2 may be useful to resource managers for estimating potential nitrogen removal in implemented buffers, based upon vegetation and other general characteristics. In the event that pollutant loadings were able to be estimated, actual removal rates for a proposed vegetated buffer could be estimated, based upon Table 2 and sitespecific data, and the buffer area modified in order to achieve the desired pollutant removal goal.

The removal rate values for nitrogen presented in Table 2 are graphically presented in Figure 2 to visually show the range of nitrogen removal rates in grassed and forested buffers. The range of nitrogen removal rates represented in Figure 2 shows that, overall, grassed buffers have greater nitrogen removal potential than forested buffers. Forested areas, particularly wet forests, are frequently noted in the published literature to be more effective nitrogen removers than grassed areas. In Figure 2, however, grassed buffers are shown to have the potential to remove nitrogen at a rate approximately three times greater than that of forested areas. The potential for forested areas to remove nitrogen may be underestimated in the presented data, since some of the grassed buffers were treated with direct nitrogen applications (fertilizers), thus providing a greater representation of their overall nitrogen removal potential. Studies conducted with forested buffers generally did not include fertilizer treatments; therefore, their range of potential nitrogen removal may be underestimated. However, unfertilized control plots of Kentucky bluegrass utilized by Morton et al. (1988) had removal rates of only 2.0 kg/N/ha/yr, which is considerably lower than the lowest removal rates reported for forested areas (see Table 2 and Figure 2). Furthermore, fewer studies for grassed buffers reported removal in kg/ha/yr than for forested buffers, and the average removal rate for grassed buffers may more closely approximate those for forested, given greater representation (see Figure 2).

Grasses and woody-stemmed species are described separately below because of the unique characteristics of each type, as well as the differences each group exhibits in the removal of sediment and pollutants from runoff. Furthermore, the literature on the two types of ground cover is very different. Most of the work completed for grass buffers comes from studies of vegetated filter strips

where the primary pollutant of concern is sediment (and its adsorbed pollutant load). The results of grassed buffer studies are generally reported as percent removal and typically have treated source areas with a high pollutant load. Studies of wooded buffers generally have focused on naturally forested areas, with the removal of nitrogen the primary focus. Nitrogen removal typically is through biological rather than physical/chemical pathways, such as denitrification and plant uptake and storage. Forested buffer studies less often reported source areas that contained high pollutant loads, and generally treated logged or urban areas rather than livestock and agricultural areas. The result is very much two separate bodies of knowledge, which have taken two separate paths of study. This makes for some difficulty in directly comparing grassed and forested buffer studies, as the methods and reporting of results are generally different. Enough of each, however, has been reported in similar units that some preliminary comparisons can be made and relationships proposed.

Grasses

Grasses tend to be very effective in reducing overland flow, as well as being effective nutrient and sediment removers. Removal rates reported in Table 2 and used in Figure 2 show that grassed bufffers treated with fertilizer applications can remove up to 290 kg N/ha/yr. Despite high reported removal rates and efficiencies, it is often unclear how this relates to water quality protection. Morton et al.(1988) found nitrate leachate concentrations leaving fertilized plots of Kentucky bluegrass to be well below the EPA drinking water standard of 10 mg/l nitratenitrogen. Nitrate concentrations ranged from 0.51 to 4.02 mg/l, with the higher values found leaving heavily fertilized, overwatered experimental plots. The results of this study suggest that home lawn fertilization practices may not always pose a direct threat to drinking water supplies. Although these reported concentrations do not appear threatening to potable water supplies, concentrations at the upper portion of the range could, when combined with other sources of nitrogen, contribute to eutrophication of coastal waters. This may be particularly true in the temperate coastal zone, where soils are typically composed of glacial till and sand, which often allow rapid movement of groundwater to coastal waters with only minimal removal of nitrogen.

Table 2. Removal rates for various pollutants in vegetated buffers. The values reported for removal in grassed buffers may be high relative to forested buffers because most received direct fertilizer treatments, whereas forested buffers did not. Removal rates for forested buffers may therefore be underestimated with regard to their actual removal potential. [1 kilogram = 2.2 pounds; 1 hectare = 2.47 acres]

Reference	Removal Rate	Details		
NITROGEN				
Ehrenfeld, 1987	75 - 80 kg N/ha/yr	Hardwood wetland getting septic tank leachate		
Ehrenfeld, 1987	45 - 56 kg N/ba/yr	Pine upland getting septic tank leachate		
Ehrenfeld, 1987	68 - 69 kg N/ha/yr	Oak upland getting septic tank leachate		
Peterjohn & Correll, 1984	77 kg N/ha/yr	Mid-Atlantic coastal plain forest trees		
Palazzo, 1981	290 kg N/ha/yr	Orchard grass; sewage waste treated		
Fail et al., 1986	50 kg N/ha/yr	Plant uptake and storage in a coastal plain riparian forest		
Cole & Rapp, 1981	75.4 kg N/ha/yr	Mean of 14 temperate deciduous forests		
Lowrance et al., 1984c	51.8 kg N/ha/yr	Aboveground plant storage in riparian forests		
Lowrance et al., 1984c	31.5 kg N/ha/yr	Denitrification in riparian forests		
Morton et al., 1988	2.0 kg N/ha/yr	Kentucky bluegrass control plot		
Morton et al., 1988	32 kg N/ha/yr	Kentucky bluegrass; overwatered and fertilized		
Brown & Thomas, 1987	194 kg N/ba	Bernuda grass on sandy soils with repeated harvesting		
Peteriohn & Correll, 1984	11 kg/ha particulate organic N	Riparian forest treating agricultural watershed		
Peterjohn & Correll, 1984	0.83 kg/ha ammonium N	Riparian forest treating agricultural watershed		
Peteriohn & Correll, 1984	2.7 kg/ha nitrate N	Riparian forest treating agricultural watershed		
Peterjohn & Correll, 1984	45 kg/ha nitrate N in	Riparian forest treating agricultural watershed		
	groundwater			
Groffman & Tiedie, 1989a	10 kg N/ha/yr	Well-drained loam		
Groffman & Tiedje, 1989a	tt kg N/ha/vr	Somewhat poorly drained loam		
Grotfman & Tiedje, 1989a	24 kg N/ha/yr	Poorly drained loam		
Groffman & Tiedic, 1989a	18 kg N/ha/yr	Well-drained clay—loam		
Groffman & Tiedie, 1989a	17 kg N/ha/yr	Somewhat poorly drained clay - loam		
Groffman & Tiedie, 1989a	40 kg N/ha/yr	Poorly drained clay -loam		
Groffman & Tiedic, 1989a	0.6 kg N/ba/yr	Well-dramed sand		
Groffman & Tiedic, 1989a	0.8 kg N/ha/yr	Somewhat poorly drained sand		
Groffman & Tiedic, 1989a	0.5 kg N/ha/yr	Poorly drained sand		
Groffman et al. 1991a	311 g N/ha/day	Well drained aerobic forest soil with nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	365 g N/ha/day	Poorly drained aerobic forest soil with nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	7.889 g N/ha/day	Tall fescue on aerobic soil with nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	4.537 g N/ha/day	Reed canary grass on aerobic soil with nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	1.1 g N/ha/day	Well-drained anaerobic forest soil, no nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	1.306 e N/ha/day	Well-drained anaeropic forest soil, pitrate added		
Groffman et al. 1991a	13.1 g N/ha/day	Poorly drained anaerobic forest soil, no nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	1 402 g N/ha/day	Poorly drained anaerobic forest soil, nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	1.0 e N/ha/day	Tall fescue on anaerobic soil, no nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	17.208 g N/ha/day	Tall fescue on anaerobic soil, nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	1.0 g N/ha/day	Reed canary grass on anaerobic soil, no nitrate added		
Groffman et al., 1991a	15.208 g N/ha/day	Reed canary grass on anaerobic soil, nitrate added		
Warwick & Hill, 1988	0.05 0.53ug N/m ² /dm	Sandy sediments		
Warmick & Hill 1099	0.00-1.20 NI 70	Organic - edimente		
	0.08—1.20 μg N/m ⁺ /day	Weterman had design and addresses		
warwick & mill, 1988	1.053.19 μg N/m²/day	watercress ded dernitis and sediments		
Hook & Kardos, 1977	388 kg N/ha/yr	Reed canary grass; sewage waste treated		
Rhodes et al., 1985	0.341—7.265 g N/hr/acre	Mean of 111 high-altitude wet meadow samples		
Lemunyon, 1991	99.3 / 37.5 kg N/ha	Smooth Bromegrass in 15m ⁴ well-drained plot: urea treated		
Lemunyon, 1991	56.1 / 20.6 kg N/ha	Garrison grass in 15m ² well-drained plot; urea treated		
Lemunyon, 1991	73.9 / 48.9 kg N/ha	Kentucky bluegrass in 15m ² well-drained plot; urea treated		
Lemanyon, 1991	87.6 / 38.4 kg N/ha	Orchard grass in 15m ² well-drained plot; urea treated		
-		services and the service of the services proved and the services		

:

Table 2. Removal rates for various pollutants in vegetated buffers. Continued

.

Lemunyon, 1991	80.9 / 34.1 kg N/ha	Reed canary grass in 15m ² well-drained plot; urea treated
Lemunyon, 1991	65.2 / 33.5 kg N/ha	Sweet vernal grass in 15m ² well-drained plot: urea treated
Lemunyon, 1991	78.2 / 37.9 kg N/ba	Tail fescue in 15m ² well-drained plot; urea treated
Lemunyon, 1991	40.5 / 11.7 kg N/ha	Big bluestem in 15m ² well-drained plot; urea treated
Lemunyon, 1991	29.1 / 18.5 kg N/ha	Switchgrass in 15m ² well-drained plot; urea treated
Hill & Sanmugadas, 1985	37—412 mg N/m²/day	24-hour stream sediment incubation
Hill & Sanmugadas, 1985	33—223 mg N/m ² /day	48-hour stream sediment incubation
Schellinger & Clausen, 1992	0.72 kg/m ^{-/} yr TKN	22.9 X 7.6m mixed species grass buffer; 2% slope
Schellinger & Clausen, 1992	0.32 kg/m ² /yr Ammonia-N	22.9 X 7.6m mixed species grass buffer; 2% slope
PHOSPHORUS		
Peterjohn & Correll, 1984	3.0 kg/ha total particulate P	Riparian forest treating agricultural watershed
Lowrance et al., 1984c	3.8 kg P/ha/yr	Aboveground plant storage in riparian forests
Schellinger & Clausen, 1992	0.15 kg/m ² /yr TP	22.9 X 7.6m mixed species grass buffer: 2% slope
Schellinger & Clausen, 1992	0.12 kg/m ² /yr Dissolved P	22.9 X 7.6m mixed species grass huffer; 2% slope
Schellinger & Clausen, 1992	0.09 kg/m ² /yr Ortho P	22.9 X 7.6m mixed species grass-buffer: 2% slope
Cole & Rapp, 1981	5.6 kg P/ha/yr	Mean of 14 temperate deciduous forests
SEDIMENT & OTHER		
Peterjohn & Correll, 1984	4.1 kg/ha/yr of particulates	Riparian forest treating agricultural watershed
Schellinger & Clausen, 1992	1.13 kg/m ² /yr TSS	22.9 X 7.6m mixed species grass buffer; 2% slope

Figure 2



Grasses are desirable as part of the vegetative matrix that constitutes the vegetated buffer. They are generally able to respond rapidly to increased concentrations of nutrients, grow rapidly and densely, and typically grow well in nearly all climates. Thickly planted, clipped grasses provide a dense, obstructive barrier to horizontally flowing water. This increases the roughness of the terrain, which reduces flow velocity, promotes sheet flow, and increases sediment and adsorbed pollutant removal efficiency. This also increases residence time in the buffer, which promotes uptake of nutrients by plants. Low-cropped grasses, however, may not be adequate in areas that experience frequent flooding, as they are rendered temporarily useless when submerged. Grasses that are to be used as part of the vegetated matrix of the buffer should therefore be left in an uncut condition, or at least not cut below a height of three or four inches. A worst-case grassed buffer would be one that is highly manicured and clipped low, resembling a golf course putting green. These become flooded very easily, thus being rendered useless as a pollutant filter. Medium height, thickly growing grasses represent the ideal for a grassed buffer area.

The use of grasses in vegetated buffers has many maintenance benefits. Mowing is relatively easy, and the clippings can be readily collected for a more permanent removal of nitrogen and other pollutants from the buffer area. Considering that grasses --- particularly thickly growing covers --are also effective at reducing runoff velocity, they may be used with the additional effect of promoting slow, shallow sheet flow of runoff into a naturally wooded buffer area. Although grasses are effective as vegetated buffer species, they lack the versatility required of multiple-use buffers --- for preserving wildlife habitat or promoting visual diversity, for instance — and generally are not suitable for use as the only cover within a multiple-use vegetated buffer area. Grasses therefore are suitable as part of the vegetated matrix that makes up the buffer area, or as ground cover in the area immediately preceding the naturally vegetated buffer.

Woody-stemmed Species

Woody-stemmed species generally have deeper and more well-developed root systems than grasses, and when the root system is greater than two feet deep, the vegetated buffer may be effective for the removal of pollutants from groundwater (Ehrenfeld, 1987; Groffman et al., 1991b). In general, hardwooct species are better nitrogen removal mechanisms than are conifer species (Spur and Barnes, 1980), but the overall removal of pollutants will vary according to characteristics of the forested buffer site — such as vegetative composition, depth to the water table, and hydrology.

For wooded buffers, poorly drained forest plots have been found to provide greater denitrification than well-drained forest plots by creating better living and growth conditions for denitrifying microbes, as well as by keeping water within the organically enriched surface soil layer and close to root systems of resident vegetation (Correll, 1991; Groffman et al., 1992). Figure 2 shows removal rates as high as 85 kg N/ha/yr have been reported for nitrogen removal in forested areas. The range of nitrogen removal rates for forested buffers is small, suggesting that removal and storage in these sites are, on average, fairly consistent. With regard to plant uptake. Ehrenfeld (1987) found that brush species did not show an increased nitrogen content in the presence of septic system leachate, while hardwood and conifer species did. This suggests that species with shallow root systems may often be ineffective at removing nitrogen from groundwater supplies, except in poorly drained areas where groundwater remains near surface soils. Areas with a deep water table will need to rely on deep-rooted species to realize any nitrate removal prior to recharge from groundwater supplies to nearby waterways.

There is considerable variation in the documented nitrate-reducing capacity of forested buffers, depending on site and climate. Whole-watershed studies conducted by Peterjohn and Correll (1984) and Lowrance et al. (1984a,b) report high levels of nitrate removal from surface water within forested buffers of mid-Atlantic latitudes, while work conducted by Warwick and Hill (1988) noted very little nitrate removal in northern latitudes (Canada). Warwick and Hill (1988), however, did note that reduced nitrate removal at their study site may have been at least partially due to minimal retention time of runoff during their experiments, and that increased retention time of runoff water in a forested buffer should increase nitrate removal efficiency.

Groffman et al. (1992) and Simmons et al. (1992), in companion studies, noted that nitratenitrogen reduction in a vegetated buffer is dominated by plant uptake during the growing season, but that soil microbial denitrification is the dominant nitrate removal mechanism during the dormant season. Denitrification during the dormant season was a result of a higher seasonal water table that allowed nitrate-laden waters to remain near surface soils, which are richer in organic content and allow for microbial denitrification. Groffman et al. (1991b) reported that nitrate removal decreased by 64 percent between the growing and dormant seasons in their study of vegetated buffers in Rhode Island, while Correll et al. (1992), during a study of vegetated buffers in Maryland, reported 97 percent nitrate removal rates from groundwater in the fall (growing season), declining to 81 percent removal in winter months (dormant season).

These findings suggest that, at least in temperate latitudes, seasonal variability in vegetated buffers can be expected. Actively growing vegetation will be effective at nutrient removal during summer months, when coastal waters are typically most susceptible to nutrient inputs. During the dormant season of vegetation, at least in areas where groundwater can rise near the soil surface, denitrification will continue to remove nitrate, but possibly at a reduced rate. Cold weather months, however, may result in vegetated buffers becoming ineffective as the ground freezes and becomes generally impermeable.

Although not as simple as mowing the grass, selective harvesting of woody-stemmed species is possible, thereby permanently removing nutrients from the vegetated buffer system (Lance,1972; Leak and Martin, 1975; Todd et al., 1983; Lowrance et al., 1984c; Ehrenfeld, 1987). Should a vegetated buffer not be periodically harvested, eventually the nitrogen stored in plant tissues will reenter the system through decomposition. Woody-stemmed species are good long-term nitrogen sinks, but removal of the entire plant also removes the nitrogen uptake and storage mechanism. As trees are removed from the buffer area, they will need to be replaced for continued nutrient removal at a more or less steady rate.

Ehrenfeld (1987) noted that most primary production by trees is converted to leaf materials, and Peterjohn and Correll (1984) found that 81 percent of the nitrogen uptake in a riparian buffer was returned to the forest floor as leaf litter at the end of the growing season. Removal of leaf litter from vegetated buffers may therefore be considered an effective permanent nitrogen removal mechanism in buffer management schemes. The removal of leaf litter, however, results in the loss of organic/detrital material to soils in the vegetated buffer, changing one of the conditions — high organic content that promotes the growth of denitrifying microbial communities. The positive or negative effects of leaf litter removal may be site-specific (e.g., presence of a high water table).

Buffer Width

Buffer width variability is one of the most versatile tools available to the resource manger. Other variables that affect the efficience of vegetated buffers in the removal of pollutants are often unchangeable, or at least may not be altered in a very cost-effective manner. Buffer width, however, is often easy to manipulate in order to better achieve the desired affect (e.g., water quality protection).

Table 3 lists vegetated buffer widths reported in the literature to be adequate for generalized purposes.

The range of buffer widths runs from two meters to nearly 200 meters, with a variety of vegetation types reported. These data are presented graphically in Figure 3, showing the overall range of values reported to be adequate to protect water quality in several categories of water bodies. The values contained in the table and figure suggest that even relatively narrow buffers (less than 10 meters wide) have some reported value as a resource mangement tool for the protection of water quality. Based upon mean values reported by category, however, forty-five meter buffers appear adequate to protect water quality in general, at least within freshwater systems and areas where sediment and adsorbed pollutants are the major concern.

Table 4 presents a range of pollutant removal effectiveness values, according to buffer width, reported in the literature. Although values for the removal of other pollutants may have been given in the publications cited, those presented in Table 4 sediment, total suspended solids (TSS), nitrogen, nitrate, and phosphorus — were reported most frequently, and were felt to provide the best range of values for review purposes. Also provided in the table, when given in the original manuscript, is information on runoff (pollutant) source, vegetation type(s), and slope of the buffer.

What is immediately obvious is the variability in pollutant removal over both the range of buffer widths and within similar buffer widths summerized Table 3. Recommended vegetated buffer widths for pollutant removal, giving the desired effect of the implemented buffer. The reported values are generally intended as minimum buffer width values to achieve the desired purpose. [1 meter = 3.28 feet]

Author(s)	Width (m)	Objective	Specifics
in: Comerford et al. 1992	2	Maintain stream channel stability	Ozark Mts
Ahola, 1990	2 - 10	Stream habitat protection	
Ahola, 1990	5 - 20	River/take protection	
Scheuler and Bley, 1987	7	Low level pollutant removal	Grassed buffer
in: Comerford et al., 1992	7 - 12	General purpose use	Low slope; rural land
Palmstrom, 1991	7.6	General purpose use	
Doyle et al., 1975	7.6	Protect water quality from animal wastes	Forested buffer
in: Comerford et al., 1992	. 8	Protect general water quality	
in: Comerford et al., 1992	ġ.	Protect water quality from ground-based herbicide applications	
Martin et al., 1985	10	Protect water quality from clear-cut	Forested buffer
Clark, 1977	ю	General purpose use	0% slope over slightly erodible soils
Swift, 1986	10 - 19	Protect general water quality	Road runoff sediment
Trimble & Sartz, 1957	10.6 - 12.2	Protect water quality from logging	<10% slope
Florida Div. Forestry, 1990	11	Protect general water quality	Primarily streamside
in: Comerford et al., 1992	11	Protect small stream water quality	Forested buffer
in: Comerford et al., 1992	12 - 24	Protect general water quality	Forested buffer
in: Comerford et al., 1992	12 - 83	Moderate erosion protection	Forested
in : Comerford et al., 1992	15	Protect water quality from pesticides	
Phillips, 1989b	15 - 60	Protect general water quality	Well-drained soils
in: Comerford et al., 1992	15 - 103	Severe crosion protection	Forested buffer
Corbett & Lynch, 1985	20 - 30	Protect water quality from logging	Forested buffer
Clark, 1977	23	Protect water quality from logging	Forested buffer
Moring, 1982	30	Protect salmon egg and juvenile development	Forested buffer
Erman et al., 1977	30	Protect stream water quality from logging	Forested buffer
USACE, 1991		90% removal of TSS	Grassed buffer
in: Comerford et al., 1992	30	Protect water quality from aerial herbicide applications	
in: Comerford et al., 1992	31	Protect large stream/river water quality	Forested buffer
Phillips, 1989b	40-80	Protect general water quality	Poorly drained soils
Clark, 1977	45	Protect general water quality	30% slope over severely erodible soils
Clark, 1977	46	Protect general water quality	<u> </u>
in: Comerford et al., 1992	91	Protect private residences from aerial herbicide applications	
Phillips, 1989b	93	Protect stream water quality	Under all conditions
Roman & Good, 1983	100	Wetland protection	NJ Pinelands habitat
Brown et al. 1990	178	Protect wetland water quality	· · · ·

...

÷

in Table 4. This variability in vegetated buffer pollutant removal effectiveness is a direct result of the site-specific conditions previously discussed. Most of the reported pollutant removal values come from studies that have utilized buffers vegetated with grasses to treat runoff from sources rich in pollutants — manure, sewage spray, and feedlots for instance. The range of values for removal effectiveness presented in Table 4 may therefore be biased toward the treatment of extreme pollution sources, compared to what may be considered typical for runoff water. Furthermore, studies of grassed buffers have provided most of the data summarized in Table 4, with the result that forested buffers are potentially underrepresented with regard to pollutant removal efficiency.

The data presented in Table 4 are graphically shown in Figure 4 through Figure 8 for sediments, total suspended solids, nitrogen, nitrate, and phosphorus. An associated "best fit" curve - a logarithmic function using percent removal as the dependent variable --- is also provided to show the modeled relationship between buffer width and pollutant removal efficiency. The relationship between buffer width and polutant removal agrees with those previously developed by Karr and Schlosser (1978), Wong and McCuen (1982), and others, in which removal efficiency increases rapidly up to a certain buffer width, after which large increases in buffer width are needed to improve removal efficiency by even a small amount. It is important to note that the data used to construct the graphs in Figures 4 through 8 do not come from a single, controlled study, but from a wide variety of studies reported in the literature. The studies were conducted at a variety of sites and treated different pollutant

sources with differing input concentrations (see Table 4). The relationships between percent removal and vegetated buffer width given here, therefore, integrate buffer effectiveness over a range provided in the literature, and are to be interpreted as generalized, or average, pollutant removal effectiveness.

Removal of sediment and suspended solids

Sediments are readily removed from surface water runoff moving through vegetated buffers. This is evident from Table 4 and is further exemplified in Figure 4, which shows that removal efficiencies are typically high, even for relatively narrow vegetated buffers. From the modeled relationship, a vegetated buffer of even two meters in width could be expected to remove about sixty percent of the sediment load entering the vegetated buffer. A twentyfive-meter-wide vegetated buffer could be expected to remove about eighty percent of sediment inputs. Only slight increases in removal efficiency with increasing buffer width are noted for buffers greater than 25 meters wide. Overall, vegetated buffer width must increase by a factor of 3.5 in order to achieve a 10 percent increase in the removal of sediment in the vegetated buffer. Although the majority of data that was used to develop the curve shown in Figure 4 comes from grassed buffers, the few reported values that come from forested buffers are high, particularly at larger buffer widths.

The pattern noted for the removal of total suspended solids (TSS; Figure 5, following page) in vegetated buffers is similar to the relationship seen for the removal of sediment. In vegetated buffers six meters in width, the expected removal efficiency for TSS is about sixty percent. Eighty percent removal

Figure 3

Figure 3. A range of vegetated buffer widths reported in the literature to be adequate for the protection of water quality in various water body types. The range represents buffer widths noted in the literature, as reported in Table 3. The General category contains buffer widths that were reported to protect water quality, but were not specific to a type of water body. The heavy line contained in the bar represents the mean of the data that make up the range. [1 meter = 3.28 feet]



21

 Table 4. A summary of pollutant removal effectiveness values according to width of the vegetated buffer. Removal efficiency values are given as percent removal for each of the various pollutants treated in the vegetated buffer — sediment,

 TSS, total nitrogen, total phosphorus, and nitrate-nitrogen. [1 meter = 3.28 feet] · · · · · · · · · · ·

...

		1				
Author(s)	Width (m)	Sediment	TSS	N	P	NO3
Doyle et al., 1977	0.5	· · ·		T	9%	0%
Neibling & Alberts, 1979	0.6	91%	1			1
Neibling & Alberts, 1979	0.6	37%	<u> </u>		1	
Neibling & Alberts, 1979	1.2	78%	1 · · · ·			+
Doyle et al., 1977	1.5			1	8%	57%
Neibling & Alberts, 1979	2.4	82%			+	+
Doyle et al., 1975	3.8			95%	99%	+
Doyle et al., 1977	4.0				62%	68%
Young et al., 1980	4.06			84%	83%	9%
Dillaha et al., 1988	4.6	•••	31%	0%	2%	+ - · · ·
Dillaha et al., 1988	4.6		87%	61%	63%	
Dillaha et al., 1988	46		76%	67%	579	342
Magette et al., 1987	46		77%	17%	110	
Dillaha et al. 1986h	46	63%	· · · · ·	639	630	
Neibling & Alberts 1979	10	830%		0,1 //		<u> </u>
Neibling & Alberts 1979	61	90%		1		+
Dovle et al. 1975	76	2070		060	000	
Schellinger & Clausen 1997	7.0		405		407	
Schallinger & Clausen, 1792	7.0		4//	1,0%	100	
Dillaba at al. 1099			21%	10%	10%	
Dilloha at al. 1990	9,1		26%	14	19%	10
Dillaha et al., 1965	9.1		9,7°%	11%	80%	4%
Dillaha et al., 1966	9,1	70.01	88%	71%	57%	11%
Dillana et al., 19800	9,1	/8%		18%	/81/4	
Magene et al., 1987	9.2		80%	31%	5.3%	
nompson et al., 1978	12			45%	55%	46%
Bingham et al., 1978	1.5			28%	25%	28%
Mannering & Johnson, 1974	15	45%				
Doyle et al., 1977	15.2			97%	99%	
Lake & Morrison, 1977	15.2	46%				
Peterjohn & Correll, 1984	19	90%		62%	0%	60%
Young et al., 1980	21.3	81%				
Young et al., 1980	21.3	75%				
Schwer & Clausen, 1989	26		95%	92%	89%	
Young et al., 1980	27.4	93%				
Young et al., 1980	27.4		66%	87%	88%	1
Young et al., 1980	27.4		82%	84%	81%	1
Edwards et al., 1983	30		23%	31%	29%	
Doyle et al., 1975	30.5			98%	99%	
Patterson et al., 1977	35		71%			1
Thompson et al., 1978	36			69%	61%	62%
Wong & McCuen, 1982	45	90%			1	
Woodard, 1988	57	99%			1	
Edwards et al., 1983	60		87%	83%	84%	1
Baker & Young, 1984	79			99%		1
Karr & Schlosser, 1978	91	55%	50%		<u> </u>	
Karr & Schlosser, 1978	215	97.5%	90%		1	†.
Karr & Schlosser, 1978	304	99%	97%	· ·· ·		
Lowrance et al., 1984				85%	30-429	83%
Jacobs & Gillam, 1985					<u> </u>	99%
Rhodes et al., 1985					· · ·	990%
Reuter et al., 1992			85%		<u>970</u>	85-00%
Schipper et al 1989	· ··· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		0.5 4		1	090/
osimpper et al., 1707	F				1	1 20.10

____.

.

Table 4. A summary of pollutant removal effectiveness values according to width of the vegetated huffer. Continued

Runoff source	Vegetation	Slope	Other
Dairy manure	Grass fescue	104	90 mT/ta
Rate soil	Grass	77	For coarse grained sediments
Bare soil	Grass	71	For clay-sized particles
Bare soil	Grass	77	For clay sized particles
Dary manore	Grass		90 mT/ha
Bare soil	Grass	71	For clay-sized particles
Dairy manure	Forest/scrub	35-40%	Gravely, silt loam soils
Dairy manure	Grass		
Dairy feedlot		-44	
Dairy manure	Orchard grass	\$4	Concentrated flow
Daity manure	Orchard grass	119	Av. 10.000 kg/ha manure application
Dary manore	Orchard grass	16/7	Av. 10,000 kg/ha manure application
Dary manure	Forest/scrub	35-404	Gravely, silt-loam soils
Fertilized cropland	Orchard grass		
Bare soil	Grass	74	For clay sized particles
Bare soil	Grass	7%	For clay-sized particles
<u> </u>		1	······································
Dairy yard mooff	Fescue & rve mix	24	Poorly drained, surface sample
Dairy yard runoff	Fescue & rye mix		Poorly drauged, subsurface sample
Dairy manure	Orchard grass		Concentrated flow
Dairy manure	Orchard grass	119	Av. 10.000 kg/ha manure application
Dairy manure	Orchard grass	16%	Av. 10.000 kg/ta manure application
		4	
		+	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Dairy manure	Orchard grass		
Poultry manure	Fescue	6-8%	
	Rhiegrass soil		
Dairy manure	Enrest/scrub	35-40%	90 mT/ha: Gravely, silt-loam soils
	Blacerass sox		
Agricultural runoff	Forested	+	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Feedlat_rumoff	Com	19	
	Oats	13	
Milk house waste	Fescue & rve mix	24	
	Com		25-year 24-hour storm simulation
	Orchard grass	J74	25-year 24-hour storm simulation
<u> </u>	Sorehum/erass	4%	25-year 24-boar storm simulation
Feedlot nmoff	Fescie	- X/	Settling basin, then through 60 m of grass
		-	butier
Dairy manure	Forest/scrub	35-40%	Gravely, silt-loam soils
Liquid dairy waste	Fexcue	3.4%	
		1	
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Natural, mixed		
Feedlot effluent	Fescue	2%	Moved through 2 consecutive 30m VFS
Fertilizers	Grass	-† 1	······································
· · · ·	Bermuda grass	+·· · · !	
		+I	
·		1	
·	Forested	+1	
	Forest/wetland	+	79.6 ha undisturbed watershed
		+I	
Fertilized field	Man-made gravel	+1	
runoff			
Sewage spray	Forested pine	1	

.

occurs at about sixty meters of buffer width, beyond which improved removal efficiency is slight with increased buffer width. For TSS removal, an approximate increase in buffer width by a factor of 3.0 provides a 10 percent increase in removal efficiency. The greater vegetated buffer widths required for TSS removal, compared to sediment removal, may be due to smaller-sized particles and a greater amount of particulate matter, which in general requires greater buffer width to be adequately removed from surface water runoff. As with sediment removal, the few included forested buffer values are high for the removal of TSS from runoff.

Removal of total and nitrate-nitrogen

The removal efficiency of vegetated buffers for nitrogen varies considerably, particularly within the range of narrow buffer widths. This is very evident from both Table 4 and Figure 6. Removal efficiency of nitrogen in anine-meter-wide vegetated buffer is expected, from the modeled relationship, to be about sixty percent. Removal efficiency increases with increasing buffer width to about 80 percent removal at sixty meters of buffer width, after which point the rate of removal of nitrogen per unit increase in buffer width slows. An approximate increase in vegetated buffer width by a factor of 2.6 is required to achieve a 10 percent increase in nitrogen removal efficiency.

The nitrogen removal efficiency data used in Table 4 and Figure 6 are mainly from studies performed in grassed buffers, and therefore may not adequately portray removal efficiencies of forested buffers. However, the scatter in the forested buffer data included in Figure 6 appears as wide and as variable as that noted for grassed buffers.

Nitrate removal is variable, but generally low, according to the data given in Table 4 and shown in Figure 7, for all buffer widths. The modeled nitrate removal-to-buffer width relationship shown in Figure 7 suggests that approximately 50 percent of the nitrate present will be removed in buffers of one hundred meters in width. The modeled relationship for nitrate removal suggests that increased removal will only occur given enormous increases in vegetated buffer width. It is unclear if the low removal efficiency of nitrate in vegetated buffers provided by this model is due to the data being generally from grassed buffers, which are often less than ideal denitrification sites, or if the relationship between buffer width and nitrate removal is simply inappropriate. Considering that nitrate removal predominantly occurs through biological rather than physical or chemical means, site-specific variables, such as denitrification potential, may need to be considered in order to better estimate nitrate removal in vegetated buffers.

Removal of total phosphorus

The data given in Table 4 and modeled in Figure 8 suggest that the removal efficiency of phosphorus in vegetated buffers is quite variable, and relatively low at very narrow buffer widths. Buffer efficiency increases rapidly to twelve meters of buffer width, where approximately sixty percent phosphorus removal is achieved. Buffer efficiency improves with added buffer width, until approximately eighty percent removal is achieved in an eighty-five-meter-wide vegetated buffer. Greater phosphorus removal, as with other pollutants, is achieved only with large additions of buffer width after this point. Overall, an approximate increase in buffer width by a factor of 2.5 is required to achieve a 10 percent increase in phosphorus removal.

Although phosphorus is reported to be typically bound to sediments, it is generally bound to smallersized sediment particles (Karr and Schlosser, 1977). Since smaller-sized particles and particulates are typically not as effectively filtered out by vegetated buffers as coarse-grained sediments, this may result in the differences noted between sediment and phosphorus removal efficiencies, as seen when comparing the removal patterns in Figure 4 and Figure 8. The forested buffer data given in Figure 8 appear to be as variable and scattered as those for grassed buffers.

Performance standards

From the values given in Table 4, and the modeled relationships seen in Figure 4 through Figure 8, an estimated removal standards matrix was constructed (Table 5). Other than for nitrate, the matrix suggests that, on average, 50 percent overall pollutant removal can be expected to occur in vegetated buffers five meters wide. Seventy percent removal efficiency can generally be expected to occur in vegetated buffers of about thirty-five meters in width, while eighty percent removal efficiency might be expected in buffers of about eighty-five meters in width. Vegetated buffer widths between

Figure 4.

Figure 4. Relationship of percent removal to buffer width for the treatment of sediments contained in surface water runoff. An approximate increase in vegetated buffer width by a factor of 3.5 is required to achieve a 10 percent improvement in removal of sediment. The most efficient vegetated buffers, based upon width-to-removal ratios, will be about 25 meters in width, after which large additions of buffer width are required to achieve only small increases in sediment removal efficiency. The modeled line is: % removal = [(7.613) * In(width in meters)) + 55.8]. Data are taken from Table 4. [1 meter = 3.28 feet]

....



Figure 5.

Figure 5. Relationship of percent removal to buffer width for the treatment of TSS contained in surface water runoff. An approximate increase in vegetated buffer width by a factor of 3.0 is required to achieve a 10 percent improvement in removal of TSS. The most efficient vegetated buffers, based upon width-toremoval ratios, will be about 60 meters in width, after which large additions of buffer width are required to achieve only small increases in TSS removal efficiency. The modeled line is: % removal = [(8.34 * In(width in meters)) + 45.1]. Data are taken from Table 4. [1 meter = 3.28 fect]



250 and 550 meters will be needed to achieve 90 – 99 percent overall pollutant removal effectiveness.

The matrix given in Table 5 may be useful in estimating the potential overall removal of a vegetated buffer for a given buffer width, or for estimating the removal of a given buffer width for a specific pollutant of concern. These values should be held in light of the site-specific conditions in and around the actual buffer area, and buffer width adjusted according to best professional judgment for best estimating a buffer width to achieve the desired removal efficiency.

Wildlife Habitat Protection

For the purposes of this review, the term "wildlife" refers to both animal and plant species. The use of the term wildlife, with regard to its animal component, is generally meant to encompass all except large mammals. This is particularly true at narrow buffer widths, but large mammals may become part of the vegetated buffer complex as the width of the buffer increases, providing more suitable conditions and space for large mammals.

The vegetated buffer concept has reached its greatest application for wildlife habitat protection in the development of "greenway," "stream corridor," and "habitat corridor" management programs. These practices generally set aside vegetated strips along rivers and streams to promote good water quality, maintain wildlife habitat, and provide wildlife travel corridors. Current paradigms suggest that increased environmental diversity and complexity promote increased biodiversity (see Wilson, 1988). Therefore, the establishment of vegetated buffers can be viewed as one step in maintaining local ecosystems and promoting regional biodiversity. The following highlights some of the potential benefits to wildlife of vegetated buffers, as noted by Groffman et al. (1991b):

- Increased species diversity: mixed habitat types promote greater diversity
- Increased foraging sites: mixed vegetation provides greater food availability
- Wildlife dispersal corridor: wider buffers provide a better travel corridor
- Escape from flooding
- Hibernation sites
- Breeding and nesting sites: wider buffers reduce nest parasitism

- Decreased disturbance from neighboring areas
- Decreased predation: wider buffers further reduce predation

It is difficult to be specific about the value to wildlife of vegetated buffers as habitat, since the vegetative makeup of the buffer area will often determine what species will use it, as well as how they use it. The habitat value of vegetated buffers for different animal and plant species will also be determined by width of the buffer, proximity to other required habitat types, proximity and density of predators and competitors, and proximity of each organism to others of its species. Furthermore, noise disturbance from developed or developing areas affects habitat quality and use. The greater the disturbance, the greater the buffer required to reduce the impact upon the use of adjacent environments by wildlife. In some instances, buffers may need to be established around habitat areas in order for them to be successfully utilized by wildlife. This will be most critical in areas that are highly developed and create a lot of disturbance — noise, for instance. The value of narrow buffers as habitat will therefore be directly related to the amount of disturbance they receive from adjacent areas.

Table 6 provides a summary of buffer widths reported in the literature considered to provide habitat for various broad wildlife categories: this summary is presented graphically in Figure 9. Several authors (for example, Tassone, 1981; Cross, 1985; Triquet et al., 1990; Groffman et al., 1991b) note that vegetated buffers that are contiguous to areas of natural vegetation are likely to support, or be used by, a greater number of species. Even small vegetated buffers can be enhanced in value by being close to undisturbed areas that more fully satisfy species-specific resource requirements.

From the reported values in Table 6, which range from 15 to 200 meters, it is difficult to determine a "best size" buffer width for general wildlife habitat. It has been noted that 15-meter buffer widths provide habitat under certain conditions, and it may be that widths much less than that will not provide adequate space — bird nesting sites for instance — for resident species. Buffers less than 15 meters wide, however, may provide adequate habitat for the temporary activities, such as resting or feeding, of both resident and transitory species.

Figure 6.



Figure 7.

Figure 7. Relationship of percent removal to buffer width for the treatment of nitrate contained in surface water runoff. Unlike the other modeled pollutant removal-to-buffer width relationships, that for nitrate is suggested to be inappropriate. Nitrate is typically removed by biological processes rather than through physical and chemical means, and the variables that control denitrification may better determine the removal of nitrate in vegetated buffers than does buffer width. Data are taken from Table 4. [1 meter = 3.28 feet]



Figure 8.





Table 5. Estimated removal standards matrix for specific pollutants as taken from the modeled relationships shown in Figure 4 through Figure 8 for vegetated buffers. In general, greater than 50 percent removal standards can be met with vegetated buffers about 5 meters wide. The 80 percent removal category generally marks the optimal width-to-removal ratio boundary, above which the increase in removal efficiency for a given increase in buffer width is small. [1 meter = 3.28 feet]

			Buffer Width (m)		
% Removal	Sediment	TSS	Nitrogen	Nitrate	Phosphorus
50	0.5	2	3.5	>100	5
60	2	6	9		12
70	7	20	23		35
80	25	60	60	·	85
90	90	200	150		250
<u>99</u>	300	700	350		550

.

Many studies have determined buffer widths for wildlife habitat by determining species-specific needs — such as those for rare, threatened, or endangered species — and then applying them to buffer width requirements. Few studies, however, have determined overall needs for multiple-species use of buffers, and fewer still have studied use patterns of wildlife for existing or newly established vegetated buffers that are part of a multiple-use resource management program. It is therefore difficult to determine how buffers of various widths and vegetative makeup, once implemented, will be used by wildlife.

However, if current paradigms are correct, then with regard to value of vegetated buffers to wildlife, bigger is better, and some is better than none. Large buffers may be required in areas where species preservation is a major focus of vegetated buffer development, while smaller buffers may be adequate in other areas, particularly where more contiguous stretches of habitat are nearby. Larger buffers will provide a greater diversity of resources over the long term for wildlife in general, while small patches will provide "island" habitats in the larger mosaic. The greater the diversity of available resources, the greater the potential for the long-term survival of the targeted or intended wildlife species, as well as for incidental users.

Some caution, however, is noted in a summary by Groffman et al. (1991b) of vegetated buffers as wildlife habitat. The authors note that sharp contrasts between habitat types, such as engineered buffers, may promote the growth of weed species. The weed species could invade nearby natural areas, replacing resident vegetation with opportunistic and transient species. This was reported by Dillaha et al. (1986a) to be a common problem in vegetated buffers assessed in the state of Virginia. Weed species have been known to invade nearby habitats. thereby reducing the habitat value of the buffer. This is a most important consideration if the vegetated buffer is established for the protection of rare. threatened, or endangered species, and may also be a consideration in the development of small buffers that represent island patches.

This suggests that care should be taken in designing and designating vegetated buffers next to sensitive areas, or where rare or endangered species live. In these cases, the vegetated buffers could be developed to graduate into the sensitive habitat, rather than providing a sharp contrast between habitat types. In some cases where no buffer exists, a sharp contrast may be unavoidable, and transient wildlife may be the major users of the vegetated buffer area. Wider buffers will provide less contrast, since they will produce a larger gradient between habitats, and will become habitat themselves. Some routine assessment and maintenance practices may be required to maintain habitat value and keep invading species from overtaking implemented buffers.

Erosion and Flood Control

Vegetated buffers employed as crosion controls are generally applied as best management practices to mitigate the off-site impacts of development and construction activities. However, by their very nature, vegetated buffers can assist in reducing erosion even when not specifically designed for that purpose. Since vegetated buffers slow the velocity of runoff flow, as well as dissipate flow and reduce channelized flow, they will reduce the probability of erosional problems downstream of buffer areas.

It was previously noted, however, that vegetated buffers can become clogged with sediment removed from surface water runoff. Vegetated buffers that are employed specifically for erosion control — for instance, to control sediment movement from construction sites — may need to be rehabilitated after construction work if they are intended to continue functioning as a multiple-use buffer.

Vegetated buffers also have value for flood control, and have been employed for this purpose. They control flooding by reducing flow velocity, allowing absorption and storage of water in soils, and by moving water from surface to subsurface watercourses. Vegetated buffers also mitigate property destruction by maintaining some undeveloped land along waterways and keeping developed or developing areas back from floodwaters, storm surges, and extreme high tides.

The capacity of the buffer area to provide flood control will depend on rainfall and runoff intensity, soil characteristics, hydrologic regime, and slope of both the buffer and the source of runoff water. Even under ideal conditions, the ability of a vegetated buffer to control flooding will be related to the water source area. A buffer that is small relative to the water source area will have only limited ability to control flooding. When buffers are applied with a primary intent of flood control, water-holding Table 6. Recommended buffer widths for wildlife habitat. The reported widths are generally intended as minimum values to provide the desired habitat requirement to meet the given objective. [1 meter = 3.28 feet]

Author(s)	Width (m)	Objective	Specifics
Triquet et al., 1990	15-23	General ayian habitat	Riparian wooded area
Shisler et al., 1987	15-30	Protect wetland habitat from low- intensity distorbances	Densely growing mixed species buffer
Tassone, 1981	.0	Wildlife travel corridor	
Shisler et al., 1987	30-45	Protect welland habitat from high - intensity disturbances	Densely growing mixed species buffer
Howard and Allen, 1989	60	General wildlife habitat	
Tassone, 1981	60	Breeding sites for fragment-sensitive bird species	
Groffman et al., 1991b	60 - 80	General wildlife habitat	
Cross, 1985	67	Small mammal habitat	Wooded riparian area
Groffman et al., 1991h	91.5	Protect significant wildlife habitat	Natural vegetation
Brown et al., 1990	178	Wetland habitat protection	
Scheuler, 1987	200	Diverse songbird community	
U.S. ACE, 1991	<00	For all but large mammals	Riparian forest

Figure 9.

ţ

Figure 9. Ranges of buffer widths Avian 200noted in the literature to provide effective habitat for several broad Wildlife Travel Corridor categories of wildlife. The ranges **Breeding Bird** of categories represented by a circle All Except arise from one study, and therefore 200-Large Memmals ~ may not be very representative of General Wildlife that particular category. Two reported values make up the range **Rare Species** ٠ shown by each of the horizontal 0 20 40 80 80 100 bars. Data are taken from Table 6. Range of Butter Widths (m) [1 meter = 3.28 feet]

and the second second

capacity of the buffer area will need to be determined, and proper width applied to the buffer in order to store the water received during a given storm event.

Historical and Cultural Preservation

While vegetated buffers are best known for their use in preserving and protecting water quality and wildlife habitat, application of coastal buffer zones may also have value in preserving and protecting historical and cultural sites. In Rhode Island, for instance, many of the important archaeological sites pertaining to Native Americans — such as summer encampments and trading sites — are within 200 feet of the coast. The same may be true for other coastal states. If so, establishing coastal vegetated buffers can preserve potentially important sites for future archaeological study.

Scenic and Aesthetic Enhancement

Aesthetic and scenic qualities of vegetated buffers often provide an "extra" value or benefit to the major purpose for which the vegetated buffer was designed. As noted in Mann (1975), Simeoni (1979), and Forman and Godron (1986), landscapes with high visual diversity are generally more appealing than nondiversified landscapes. Designed planting of trees and shrubs within the buffer area can enhance visual diversity and thus aesthetic appeal. As the vegetated buffer attracts wildlife, such as songbirds, visual and biological diversity are both enhanced. In areas previously cleared of vegetation, reestablishing native species can assist in rebuilding the sense of "wilderness" often associated with coastal expanses. It is this sense of isolation and wilderness that makes coastal regions attractive to those who visit.

The aesthetic value of vegetated buffers is, however, mostly based on subjective factors, and therefore not fully transferable in implementation practices. Although no criteria for aesthetic values of vegetated buffers exist, aesthetics will continue to be included as an intrinsic value of vegetated buffers that are implemented for natural resource management.

General Guidelines for Multiple-use Vegetated Buffers

Although the conditions determining the actual effectiveness of a multiple-use vegetated buffer will be of a local and/or site-specific nature, some general guidelines can be developed for the use of vegetated buffers. Table 7 provides a generalized overview of the pollutant removal effectiveness taken from the modeled relationships and as presented in Table 5 — and wildlife habitat value, taken from Table 6 — for a range of buffer widths for multiple-use vegetated buffers. The effectiveness of vegetated buffers for pollutant removal, as well as for wildlife use, is presented as increasing steps of buffer width.

Using the generalized set of buffer widths presented in Table 7 for developing and implementing a vegetated buffer policy requires that local conditions and intended uses be taken into consideration. The buffer widths listed in Table 7 are meant to be useful in a general sense for planning purposes. For example, the table values may be overly large if removal of sediment is the intended effect, and if the area of buffer implementation is very conducive to sediment removal. Similarly, the table values may be too small if the removal of metals is the intended effect and the proposed buffer area overlies impermeable soils on steep slopes.

From the values presented in Table 7, a multiple-use vegetated buffer of five meters could be considered a reasonable minimum-buffer-width standard. A five-meter-wide vegetated buffer will provide approximately 50 percent sediment and nutrient removal (except for nitrate). While a vegetated buffer of this width may not provide good overall wildlife habitat, it may be sufficient to provide resting and feeding areas for both resident and migratory species. A five-meter-wide multipleuse vegetated buffer can be practically implemented, except in areas of very dense development, and these exceptions could be reviewed as a variance to general buffer policy. A five-meter-wide vegetated buffer could be established as a minimum goal for the restoration of already developed areas. Establishing a minimum buffer width will also maintain or improve the scenic and aesthetic quality of the area, and will act as nondestructive, natural fencing between public waters and private uplands,

It should be kept in mind, however, that a fivemeter-wide vegetated buffer removing approximately 50 percent of pollutants and sediment contained in surface waters may not meet minimum performance standards in all instances. If an approximate performance criterion of 80 percent removal is desirable, then a 75-meter-wide vegetated buffer may be the acceptable minimum. This buffer width will also provide minimum general habitat value. If protection of habitat for significant species is to be the main purpose of the vegetated buffer, then 200 meters may be the minimum acceptable buffer width. This width will also provide approximately 90 percent removal of sediment and pollutants. As minimum buffer width increases, however, conflict may arise in areas where small-sized land parcels or extensive development already exists.

For general-purpose buffers that will provide some value as wildlife habitat, a minimum width of 15 meters is suggested. A vegetated buffer of this width should be implementable in most areas that are only moderately developed. Vegetated buffers of 15 meters should provide some water quality protection for most waterways (e.g., approximately 60 percent pollutant removal); will offer minimal wildlife habitat value and greater visual and aesthetic appeal; and can provide a natural physical barrier between public and private properties.

For areas that are undeveloped, or are characterized by large lot sizes, buffers of 50 meters or more could be applied to ensure that some areas are providing general wildlife habitat. Buffers of this width could be applied to all publicly owned lands, such as state parks, recreation areas, and conservation areas. For areas that are considered critical, or provide habitat for rare, threatened, or endangered species, the buffer width could be extended to 100 meters or more to ensure sufficient habitat diversity and isolation from disturbance, and to promote the long-term survival of these species and their ecosystem. The minimum acceptable width will be determined by the function or functions of the vegetated buffer. Resource managers may need to define present and future uses for the regions under their purview, and then develop minimum multiple-use vegetated buffer widths for the goals and uses desired.

Implementation Approaches to Multipleuse Vegetated Buffer

One approach to multiple-use buffer implementation is applying a fixed vegetated buffer width along all waterways. For instance, a vegetated buffer of 25 meters in width could be required bordering all waterways. This approach, according to Table 7, would provide approximately 70 percent overall removal of sediment and pollutants, and provide minimal general wildlife habitat. Along many areas, however, a 25-meter vegetated buffer may make some developable lots unusable due to site constraints, and may not give sensitive resources adequate protection. Shifting the fixed width to higher or lower values alleviates problems on one end while creating them at the other. This approach has many limitations, but has been used by resource managers in vegetated buffer programs.

A variation of the fixed-width vegetated buffer approach is that recommended by the U.S. Forest Service in a recently published booklet describing riparian buffers (see Welsch, 1991). In this case, a vegetated buffer has a minimum width of 28 meters, and consists of three zones. The zone closest to the water is of a fixed width (five meters) and allows for no alteration of the buffer. The second, or middle, zone has a minimum width (17 meters) but can be expanded based upon local or site-specific conditions or to achieve a given effect (e.g., rare species protection). Limited use, such as selective harvest of timber, may be allowed in this zone of the buffer area. The third, or most inland zone, abuts a developed or disturbed area and possesses a minimum width (6 meters) that can also be expanded based on local conditions. This inland zone might consist of lawn in a residential setting or hay field in an agricultural setting. This approach alleviates some problems by allowing greater buffer widths to be applied as needed, but still may be restricted in its applicability in areas where small lot sizes are common.

A further modification of the fixed-width approach to vegetated buffer implementation is setting a realistic minimum vegetated buffer width based upon lot size or land use. A minimum width could be established for small lots or high-density residential areas so the buffer will provide some benefit for pollutant removal and/or habitat while not inordinately restricting use of property. The minimum vegetated buffer width could then be expanded as lot size and/or land use changes to provide greater benefits of pollution removal and habitat provision, while not overly restricting use of private or public lands. One example of this approach is that developed by the state of Rhode Island, which is provided in full detail in Appendix A.

An alternative to a fixed-width vegetated buffer is a vegetated buffer tailored to each site, using a model to generate a buffer width based upon a variety of data, but dependent upon site-specific conditions. This approach is often data-intensive.

Buffer Width (m)	Pollutant Removal Effectiveness	Wildlife Habitat Value
5	Approximately 50% or greater sedurient and pollutant removal	Poor habitat value, useful for temporary activities of wildfife
Kı	Approximately 60% or greater sediment and pollutant removal	Minimally protects stream habitat:poor habitat value, useful for temporary activities of wildlife
15	Oreater than 60% sediment and pollutant removal	Minimai general wildlife and avian habitat value
3)	Approximately 70% or greater sediment and pollutant removal	Mitumal wildlife habitat value; some value as avian- habitat
łu	Approximately 70% or greater sediment and pollutant removal	May have use as a wildlife travel corridor as well as general ayan habitat
SÚ	Approximately 75% or greater sediment and pollutant removal	Minimal general wildlife habitat value
75	Approximately 80% sediment and pollatant removal	Fair-to good general wildlife and avian habitat value
100	Approximately 80% sediment and pollutant removal	Good general wildlife habitat value, may protect significant wildlife habitat
200	Approximately 90% sediment and pollutant removal	Excellent general wildlife value, likely to support a diverse community
600	Approximately 99% sediment and pollutant removal	Excellent general wildlife value; supports a diverse community; protection of significant species

 Table 7. A summary of pollutant removal effectiveness and wildlife habitat value of vegetated buffers according to huffer width. The stepwise increments are adapted from Table 5 and Table 6, and reflect changes in pollutant removal effectiveness and wildlife habitat value according to width of the vegetated buffer. [3] meter = 3.28 feet]

but does result in a given buffer width that will better approximate a specific performance standard, The modeled approach, however, will only be as good as the site-specific data from which the model is run. High quality data for use in a model will often be expensive (e.g., time put into collecting it). which may limit its overall practicality for general use in resource management programs. Furthermore, most modeled approaches only consider one vegetated buffer benefit - pollutant removal, for instance — and neglect other potential benefits. Many of the existing buffer defineation models were developed to mitigate construction impacts, and therefore may not be readily applicable in establishing multiple-use vegetated buffers in already developed or undeveloped areas. A further limitation to the site-specific modeled approach is that regulatory staff will be required to delineate vegetated buffers on a case-by-case basis, which could become time consuming. Furthermore, permit applicants will not be able to incorporate vegetated buffer widths during the initial design process. This will add cost to all development requiring a permit, and the cost will be borne by both the permit applicant and the permitting agency.

Despite its limitations, the modeling approach is often considered the most accurate and dependable. method of delineating vegetated buffer widths, and is commonly used by regulatory agencies. A strictly modeled approach, because it is based solely upon "real" data, leaves less room for argument of required buffer widths (other than whether or not the input data or the actual model is appropriate) and is therefore generally viewed as more "justifiable." Since a strictly modeled approach is very "blackand-white," it is generally inflexible, and may limit full implementation of multiple-use vegetated buffers by resource managers. Using a modeled approach to determine buffer widths to achieve a given pollutant removal standard, and then reviewing the modeled buffer width using best professional judgment to achieve other benefits (e.g., provision of wildlife habitat) may provide more flexibility and a better multiple-use vegetated buffer program,

Each approach to the application of vegetated buffers as a management tool has both good and bad points, and it will be up to the implementing authority to determine what trade-offs are the most reasonable and the most acceptable. Costs and benefits will have to be weighed and examined in light of the uncertainty, restrictions, and flexibility inherent in each of the different approaches.

The "Ideal" Buffer

Although it is not possible to develop a "one best" vegetated buffer for all purposes, it is possible to describe the components of an "ideal" vegetated buffer for multiple use. If the vegetated buffer is intended to reduce pollutant inputs to waters from nonpoint sources, provide wildlife habitat, and establish a visual and physical barrier, it is possible to develop a general description of an ideal vegetated buffer. This description may prove useful in creating vegetated buffers that will perform within expectations and provide the results for which they were established.

Contour

The ideal multiple-use vegetated buffer for the removal of pollutants, regardless of width, would be relatively flat in contour in order to promote shallow sheet flow through the buffer. This would increase residence time, allow greater absorption of water into the soil layer, and reduce the probability of channelized flow. The vegetated buffer would not have any gullied or channelized areas within it. Similarly, the landscape surrounding and leading into the buffer would not promote channelized flow into the buffer area, and would have adequate vegetation or engineered design to reduce sedimentation at the leading edge of the buffer zone. Engineered designs might include the installation of level spreaders, or mechanical grading of the soils to produce a less steep slope, and/or alteration of the "preferred" direction of surface flow to promote shallow sheet flow into the buffer.

Vegetation

Ideally, the vegetation within the multiple-use vegetated buffer would consist of a mix of species. The leading edge of the buffer might consist of a thickly growing grass maintained at a height of about four inches. Beyond the grassy area would grow a mix of trees, brush, and possibly native grasses. The species of trees would have welldeveloped root systems capable of exploiting nitrogen stores traveling in groundwater, particularly in areas that are serviced by septic systems. Brush or woody-stemmed understory species would also provide a well-developed root system and canopy. Wherever possible, wetlands — both coastal and inland — would be incorporated into the buffer area. These areas most often provide the conditions that are conducive to denitrification, as well as often providing valuable habitat. Furthermore, upland buffers would be designated around wetland areas to provide habitat for the many animals that use wetlands as feeding and foraging areas but rely upon the uplands for breeding sites and refuge from predators.

Vegetation species growing in the buffer would be native, or species that are known to grow in similar habitat and climate. Ornamental species may be appropriate, provided they will not exclude or outcompete native species. Many state agencies or nongovernmental organizations --- land trusts, universities, and botanical societies --- have put together pamphlets that list and describe plant species native to a region. These publications would be consulted when planning a vegetated buffer to best ensure an indigenous cover within the buffer area. This is important for ensuring the longevity of the vegetation in the buffer, for providing adequate cover and forage for resident species, and for preventing problems associated with invasions of nonnative species.

To provide greatest value to wildlife, the ideal buffer would contain a mix of vegetation that fruits on a progressional schedule in order to provide a variety of feed types over the greatest length of time. Vegetation in the buffer would be as randomly distributed as possible --- woody vegetation interspersed with areas of grass - to provide increased diversity within the buffer habitat landscape. Vegetation of various heights and canopy thickness would provide the greatest diversity to avian wildlife, and would promote use by the greatest diversity of birds, as well as other fauna. Some bird species - herons and osprey, for example - require large trees as nesting sites, and providing some large trees in the vegetated buffer would promote the nesting activities of these and other species.

For aesthetic appeal, a mix of vegetation would provide visual diversity. Although some tall trees within the buffer area would be kept to provide canopy habitat, short trees and brush would be dispersed throughout the buffer to allow water views from areas landward of the leading edge of the buffer. Based upon vegetation type and pollutant uptake rates, the buffer area would be determined to
remove a given portion of those pollutants of concern, and then aesthetically fit into the landscape based upon development patterns and paths of surface water flow.

The ideal multiple-use vegetated buffer would be designated in existing natural areas. Designating vegetated buffers composed of existing vegetation assures the habitat value of the buffer to the support of native species. Designation of preexisting vegetated areas as buffers is also more economical since the costs of design and engineering are avoided. Although the ideal vegetated buffer may not be realized under most circumstances, the concept of the ideal buffer is useful as a reference or goal during design and implementation phases. It can help ensure that the buffers that are eventually implemented will contain the most desirable traits possible, given natural limitations and site restrictions, and thereby be the most practical. The closer to the ideal a given buffers becomes, the more closely it will serve its intended purpose and provide the anticipated results.



III. Use of Vegetated Buffers in the Coastal Zone

Application and Approach

Vegetated buffers hold the promise of being an effective multiple-use management tool for sustaining the diverse uses of the coastal zone. The range of multiple-use vegetated buffer widths, five to 200 meters (or more; see Table 7), provides resource managers with a set of tools that can be applied according to developmental conditions along the coast. It also allows flexibility with regard to purpose and use of the multiple-use vegetated buffer area. Adopting some form of vegetated buffer program that applies minimum buffer widths according to existing or potential development and density, as well as applying wider buffer zones around areas of critical concern, can result in the development of a contiguous, or nearly contiguous, band of vegetated land bordering the coast. Such a program will assist in reducing the nonpoint source contribution of pollutants flowing into coastal waters, provide a diversity of wildlife habitats, provide for the protection and enhancement of scenic and aesthetic appeal of the coastal zone, promote flood and erosion control, and provide a visual and physical transition zone between public and private coastal properties. Development of such a program is realistic, equitable, and feasible.

A coastal zone buffer policy can be readily established using a variety of available resources. U.S. Geological Survey topographic maps, town zoning maps, aerial photographic survey results, or Geographical Information Systems (GIS) databases can readily be used to interpret conditions along the coast, and then to establish vegetated buffer widths for a given region. Habitat for rare, threatened, or endangered species; areas particularly prone to erosion and/or flooding; areas bordering poorly flushed estuaries or significant shellfish beds; and areas of particular historic or scenic significance may be identified as critical resource areas by coastal managers, and larger buffer widths implemented to provide for a greater degree of protection and/or preservation.

Although the removal rates presented in Table 2 cannot be used directly to provide a required width for implementing a vegetated buffer, they can be used to estimate annual removal rates for a given area of vegetated buffer. If estimates of pollutant input to the vegetated buffer can be arrived at ---through nonpoint source loading models, for instance --- an estimate of removal efficiency can be obtained for a given buffer area. Given the rapidity of the growth and sophistication of nonpoint source loading models and computerized geographic information systems, it is not unrealistic to imagine calculating pollutant loadings to the coastal zone, locating sensitive habitat areas or especially scenic or otherwise "special" areas, determining the vegetated buffer area required to provide expected benefits, and then designing the location, extent, and configuration of the vegetated buffer.

Some coastal areas, such as historical seaports and coastal villages, gain much of their charm and ambiance by their location directly on the water. In such instances, a vegetated buffer may be inappropriate, and other ways to mitigate nonpoint source pollution impacts and create wildlife habitat, if possible, may need to be considered. Resource managers will have to evaluate the various uses of their coastal zone, decide on a vegetated buffer approach, and then define where and how to implement the vegetated buffer program.

Public Perception

It is important to acknowledge that humans are a species that utilizes the coastal zone for a variety of purposes. This must be not only considered, but incorporated into vegetated buffer policy. Design and implementation of a coastal vegetated buffer zone program that disregards human use of the coastal zone is bound to meet both resentment and resistance, which could potentially be great enough to force the abandonment of the use of this important management tool for preserving and protecting coastal resources.

Establishing a program that utilizes vegetated buffers for multiple use — pollution control, wildlife habitat, scenic improvement — would help in making the program more appealing to a wider audience. Furthermore, a multiple-use approach to a coastal vegetated buffer program would make the results of its implementation more "real" in the eyes of many. Increased scenic improvement, or greater wildlife sightings, are both very tangible, very visible, and very real public "benefits" of a multiple-use buffer program. Certainly they are more tangible than increased pollutant removal, which is often invisible to, and misunderstood by, the general public,

The ideal buffer program, however, would be one that is acceptable to the landowner who is being requested to "donate" the fringe of coastal acreage for the benefit of the public. Certainly the private landowner will garner some benefit from the program — increased wildlife sightings and the presence of a natural barrier between his personal lands and those of the public, for instance — but resentment due to land use limitations is often felt by private landowners. Given some leeway for manipulation and use of the buffer area, most landowners will feel less threatened by the program's infringing upon their rights of ownership and use.

Management and Maintenance

Regulatory agencies should develop a vegetated buffer use, maintenance, and management booklet that outlines to abutting landowners what is permissible within the buffer, information sources for the proper maintenance and management of the buffer area, and a calendar and schedule of recommended or required maintenance procedures. An assessment of implemented buffers by Castelle et al. (1992) reported that 95 percent of the assessed buffers showed signs of alteration after their implementation. In all cases where the buffer was part of a residential lot, the buffer was eventually replaced with lawn by the homeowner. The authors suggest that a lack of clear use and management objectives for the buffer, as well as a lack of buffer monitoring, resulted in the high alteration rate. A strong public education program implemented with the adoption of the buffer policy into the regulatory framework will go a long way toward helping landowners understand why the buffers were established and how landowners can use and maintain these areas. This is supported by the findings of Castelle et al. (1992), who note that buffers on the property of landowners who understood the purpose of the buffers were less affected by homeowner manipulation and impact than those buffers on property of landowners who had little or no understanding of buffer purpose.

The management of coastal zone multiple-use vegetated buffers will need to balance landowners' rights to use of their property with maintenance of the purpose for which the buffer was originally implemented. Winding trails and footpaths would be allowed within the vegetated buffer to provide

access to the water's edge, and the trails would be checked and maintained on a regular basis for erosion or promotion of channelized flow through the buffer area. An occasional picnic table, gazebo, or similar use structure might be suitable within some vegetated buffers, provided it promotes neither a loss of effectiveness nor overuse of the buffer as a travel zone to and from the structure. Areas that have buffers established to protect critical habitat or significant wildlife may not be suitable for any manipulation for recreational use. Such manipulation will have to be assessed on a case-bycase basis in order to ensure that the original intent for which the buffer was established is not jeopardized. Appendix B provides an example of a multiple-use vegetated buffer management and maintenance program. This example is taken from the Rhode Island Coastal Resources Management Program (CRMP), and was developed to complement the vegetated buffer policies for the state of Rhode Island CRMP (Appendix A),

All woody-stemmed species of vegetation would be pruned and trimmed on a schedule to promote vigorous growth and utilization of nutrients. As trees and brush mature, or as individual plants succumb to natural causes, selective harvesting would maintain a vigorously growing and diverse plant community. Leaf litter and other organic debris, providing that it does not present a hazard or limit other intended uses of the buffer area, would not be removed from the buffer area. The breakdown of leaf litter provides a natural source of carbon to the soil layer, which is one requirement for the process of denitrification. Considering that coastal waters are generally nitrogen-sensitive, and nitrate is a readily usable form of nitrogen in marine waters, the promotion of denitrification in coastal zone vegetated buffers should be considered a priority. Grass clippings may or may not be removed from the buffer area, and worn or thin spots may be overseeded. Although neither fertilization nor watering of the buffer area would be needed as a regular maintenance. activity, either or both might be appropriate in establishing new buffer areas or restoring existing ones,

An Example: Rhode Island's Coastal Buffer Program

An example of multiple-use vegetated buffer policies that have been developed for use in the coastal zone of Rhode Island is provided in Appendix A. It applies various-sized, fixed-width vegetated buffers, based on the summary given in Table 7, for residential lands; a fixed-width buffer on areas of concern or significance; and a case-by-case approach to other development, such as industrial, residential subdivisions, and commercial uses.

The Rhode Island example institutes vegetated buffers along the entire coastline of the state, while taking into consideration land parcel size and existing coastal development patterns. The program strives to strike a balance between land use by the homeowner and protection of coastal resources. The widths of the established buffers are determined according to lot size and Coastal Resources Management Council (CRMC) water type. The CRMC water type is a designation of the predominant use of coastal waters (i.e., I-Conservation Areas; II-Low Intensity Boating; III-High Intensity Use: IV-Multipurpose Waters; V-Commercial and Recreational Harbors; VI-Industrial Waterfronts and Commercial Navigation Channels). Special measures (e.g., wider buffers) are applied along areas that are considered critical or sensitive, such as wetlands or habitat that is used by rare, threatened, or endangered species.

The vegetated buffer policies and regulations are limited to residential areas (existing and infill) and allow for limited use of the buffer areas so that homeowners are not unduly denied use of their coastal property. These policies and regulations are used as guidelines for other types of development (commercial/industrial), but the final determination of buffer width for development other than single family residential is performed on a case-by-case basis by CRMC staff engineers and biologists to mitigate any potential impacts to the coastal zone.

The Rhode Island vegetated buffer program was developed to provide for multiple uses and multiple benefits. During development of the program, it was quickly realized that implementing vegetated buffers that would provide both high pollutant removal and high quality habitat was not practical in all coastal areas. Attempting to implement such buffers would either lead to the proposed program's not being adopted, or to requests for variances on nearly all permit applications.

Given this, a program was developed that balances the landowners' rights and the CRMC's mandate to "preserve, protect, and where possible, restore ecological systems." Narrow buffer widths are applied on small lots so as not to cause the lots to become unusable, and with the realization that pollutant removal will be limited and habitat value minor. As lot size increases, wider buffers are implemented, increasing their value for pollutant removal, wildlife habitat, and visual appeal.

In all cases, and for all lot sizes, wider buffers are implemented where they border waters whose primary use has been designated Type I — Conservation, or Type II — Low Intensity Boating. The reasoning is that these types of waters require a higher degree of protection and preservation in order to maintain their designated primary uses. Wider buffer widths are also applied when the area receiving the buffer abuts an area of critical concern, special significance, or scenic or historical importance.

The actual regulatory program, as adopted by the state of Rhode Island, is included in Appendix A exactly as it appears in the state's regulatory coastal program documentation. Appendix B includes a complementary vegetated buffer maintenance and management document created as part of the vegetated buffer program implemented by the Rhode Island CRMC.

State Coastal Buffer Programs: A Summary

This review of coastal states' programs, policies, and/or regulations that could be used to establish vegetated buffers along the coastal zone concerns itself only with those that are a part of the states' Coastal Zone Management Programs. Policies and regulations applied by other state agencies are mentioned when the state CZMP defaults to other programs to avoid replication, or when no CZMP has been established for a given state. Finally, despite the fact that the shores of the Great Lakes are considered under the federal coastal zone management program, this review restricts itself to a description of those states bordering saltwater coastlines.

Table 8 provides an overview and summary of the differences among states' policies, regulations, and requirements for the establishment of vegetated buffers along the coastal zone. A similar description of state buffer policies has been put together in Castelle et al. (1992), but pertains strictly to wetlands and buffers around wetlands, Readers with a particular interest in wetlands may want to review that document. The program descriptions given here are based on a review of published state programs and/or discussions with state agency personnel. Any errors, omissions, or misinterpretations are those of the authors.

Of the twenty-three state programs reviewed, four had buffer programs applying to the entire coastal zone as an element of their state coastal zone management programs. Two other states had buffer elements that pertained only to a certain portion of their coastal zone. Nearly all states had some form of mitigation procedure that could be applied during the permitting process to establish vegetated buffers in the coastal zone. Construction or septic system setbacks, which could be used to establish vegetated buffers, were reported by most states, although many reported those to be established by town rather than state regulations.

The various setbacks and buffer policies being used by state coastal zone management programs that could establish vegetated buffers range from 20 feet to 300 feet of buffer width (excluding the possibility of no buffer). This represents a range of buffer effectiveness (from Table 7) from fifty percent pollutant removal and poor habitat value to eighty percent pollutant removal and good general wildlife habitat value. No state program had policies or regulations that provided greater than 80 percent pollutant removal, and none provided buffer widths that were in the category (from Table 7) considered excellent as wildlife habitat, although either or both could potentially be achieved during case-by-case buffer development.

Alabama

The state of Alabama has a 40-foot construction setback requirement, but it is only applicable to land along the shoreline areas immediately on the Gulf Coast; it does not include back bays and coves. The application of the 40-foot setback is meant to protect beach dune systems and is measured from the dune crest. Vegetated buffers may be established through local zoning regulations of coastal districts but are not a requirement of the state coastal zone program.

Alaska

In the state of Alaska, separate requirements for coastal vegetated buffer areas may be established through local government mandates for each regional borough. Regulations exist that require leaving vegetation along coastal areas being logged, but the actual vegetated width preserved is determined on a case-by-case basis. On city- and stateowned lands, a 100-foot no-cut zone is required, while on private property there is a 66-foot no-cut zone. This relates to timber harvest areas only, and as noted above, is subject to modification on a caseby-case basis. No statewide coastal zone program buffer requirement currently exists.

California

The state of California buffer program focuses on wetland habitat protection. The program requires a minimum 100-foot buffer around coastal wetlands. with additional width required if adjacent lands are biologically significant, if sensitive wildlife inhabit the buffer, if the area is highly susceptible to erosion, or if proposed development poses significant potential impact. The 100-foot buffer, however, is used as guidance only, and may be negotiated on a case-by-case basis. Buffer regulations may exist at local levels of government, and may be more or less stringent than the 100-foot buffer guideline suggested by the state coastal program. Vegetated buffers may be applied to riparian areas when coastal program jurisdiction is extended into watersheds that drain into sensitive coastal areas.

Connecticut

The state of Connecticut coastal zone program has policies that promote preservation of vegetated coastal areas but has no statewide requirements. Implementation of vegetated buffers or construction setbacks along the coast may occur through zoning regulations and requirements at local levels of government. Construction setbacks that do exist in local zoning ordinances may vary by town throughout the coastal zone of the state. New vegetated buffer policies and regulations are being drafted by state regulatory agencies. While these new policies are generally focused on riparian systems, their application may be extended into the state's coastal zone.

Delaware

In the state of Delaware, establishment of vegetated buffers in the coastal zone is not a requirement of the coastal zone management program but may occur at the local level, according to local zoning regulations. State CZMP staff may require the establishment of a vegetated buffer during the Table 8. A listing of buffer and setback widths that coastal states have established through their coastal zone management programs. M denotes the width is mandated, while R denotes that the width is recommended only, {1 foot = 0.305 meters}

State	Buffer Width	Status	Setback Width	Status	Comments
Alabama			40'; Applies to Gulf Coast only	М	Primarily for dune protection and preservation
Alaska	-		100° city/state lands; 66° private property	м	Applies only to timber harvest operations
California	100' around wetlands	R			Mainly for habitat preservation
Connecticut		1			Through local ordinances
Delaware			50' from mean high water mark	М	Also through local ordinances
Florida		1			Through local ordinances
Georgia		1			No CZMP at present
Hawaii			40' from shoreward vegetation line; 20' if hardship shown	м	Applies to all islands in the Hawaiian islands group
Louisiana					Through local ordinances
Maine	75' along entire coast; 250' along sensitive wetland areas	м			Also has a buffer management program
Maryland	100' along Chesapeake Bay shore	м			Case-by-case on non-Chesapeake Bay shores
Massachusetts					In process of development
Mississippi					Rarely; case-by-case
New Hampshire	100' along wetlands	м			The definition of wetlands includes the entire NH coast
New Jersey	0-300° on a case-by-case basis	R	·····		Only along sensitive areas; local zoning supersedes state
New York			75 from wetlands (30' in New York City)	м	Vegetation not required in the setback
North Carolina	30' around significant waters	М			Vegetation not required in buffer
Oregon					Through local ordinances
Rhode Island	0-200 on a case-by-case basis	R	50' from the coastal feature	М	New buffer program being reviewed
South Carolina			Variable, according to erosional rates	R	Only applicable in coastal dunes; vegetation not required
Texas		1			CZMP being developed
Virginia	100° along Chesapeake Bay shore	м			Not required along other state coastal areas
Washington				[Through local ordinances

permitting process on a case-by-case basis. Furthermore, a 50-foot construction setback from the edge of a water body or wetland is required, and may act as a vegetated buffer. The state coastal zone program also requires the use of vegetation for shoreline stabilization as a first choice during the permitting process. Rip-rap or other engineered shoreline stabilization structures may be allowed where vegetation proves inefficient or impractical. A major focus of the program is the creation of wetland areas as the shoreline stabilization structure of choice.

Florida

In the state of Florida, vegetated buffers may be established in the coastal zone as part of the permitting process on a case-by-case basis, or as mitigation requirements due to proposed development impacts. Furthermore, requirements for vegetated buffers may exist at local levels of government through implementation of construction setback regulations for development along the coast. Statemandated setbacks in the coastal zone relate only to requirements for the setback of septic systems from coastal wetlands.

Georgia

The state of Georgia has no statewide requirements for the establishment of vegetated buffers, and at present is not a participant in the federal coastal zone management program. A Marshland Protection Act may create vegetated buffers in the coastal zone adjacent to protected marshes (or as the marsh itself), but the primary purpose of the Act is to protect marshlands, not create vegetated buffers. The Shoreline Protection Act gives state regulatory agency staff some discretionary power to establish vegetated coastal buffers through the permitting and review process.

Hawaii

The state of Hawaii has policies and regulations within the state coastal zone program to establish vegetated buffers along the coast. For all of the Hawaiian island group, a 40-foot shoreline setback is required, beginning at the shoreward edge of the coastal vegetation line and extending inland. The buffer is generally intended to remain in an undisturbed state, but certain uses are allowed, and variances may be sought for limited development within the buffer. In cases in which hardship can be proven, the mandatory 40-foot setback buffer can be reduced to 20 feet. Each of the islands in the Hawaiian island group may develop its own regulations with regard to the shoreline setback, but the width may not be less than the 40 feet mandated by state regulations,

Louisiana

The state of Louisiana has no statewide policies or regulations that establish vegetated buffers in the coastal zone. Vegetated buffer areas may be established on a case-by-case basis as part of the state permitting process. When established, buffers are used to protect significant habitat or resources by moving development activities away from the resource to a region of minimal impact.

Maine

The state of Maine, as part of its Shoreline Zoning Act, has implemented a coastal vegetated buffer establishment program. The coastal zone program mandates a 75-foot minimum vegetated area, measured from mean high water, along the entire Maine coast. The buffer must be kept in a vegetated state, with no more than 40 percent of existing trees in the buffer being harvested every 10 years. Pruning and other maintenance procedures are allowed, but complete removal of grasses or understory in the buffer is prohibited. A vegetated buffer 250 feet wide is required along areas bordering sensitive wetlands. The larger buffer width is implemented to provide added protection to wildlife, especially waterfowl, while the minimum buffer width of 75 feet is implemented for protection of water quality and visual appeal.

The buffer applies to new construction only, and preexisting lots are exempt from the 75-foot buffer requirement. Precxisting lots may not expand by greater than 30 percent, may not expand toward the water's edge, and if outside the 75-foot buffer zone, may not extend into the buffer area during expansion. Local zoning ordinances may require a greater buffer width than the minimum 75-foot buffer mandated by the state program.

Maryland

It is the policy of the Maryland coastal zone program to promote the establishment of vegetated buffers along the coast, and buffers may be required on a case-by-case basis, particularly around wetland areas. As part of the Chesapeake Bay Program, all land 1000 feet inland of the shoreline of the Chesapeake Bay and its tributaries is subject to a 100-foot buffer requirement. The buffer requirement may be waived if "good conservation practices" are employed at the shoreline site. Furthermore, the buffer requirement is only applicable to new development - existing development and previously platted lots are "grandfathered" to preexisting requirements. Other state programs share the cost of buffer strip implementation with farmers actively using land bordering the Chesapeake Bay and its tributaries.

The major emphasis of this policy has been in tidal tributaries of Chesapeake Bay. The emphasis in non-Chesapeake Bay portions of the Maryland coastal zone has been on stabilization of the coast by promoting planting and preservation of vegetated areas. Vegetation within the buffers along the coast has focused on grass species, while woody stemmed species have received greater emphasis along tidal tributaries.

Plummer (1993) provides a more comprehensive review of Maryland buffer policies and regulations, as well as a review of implementation within the coastal zone program.

Massachusetts

The state of Massachusetts coastal zone program does not currently have policies or regulations that establish vegetated buffers along the coast. Establishment of vegetated buffer areas may occur at local levels of government through zoning ordinances and regulations, or may be established on a case-by-case basis through the coastal zone program permitting process. The state coastal zone program, however, is in the process of developing a buffer zone program, which is presently being drafted.

Mississippi

The state of Mississippi coastal zone program has no statewide policies or regulations that establish vegetated buffers in the coastal zone. During the permitting process, however, vegetated buffers that consist solely of tidal wetlands may be established to protect significant resources and habitats. The establishment of vegetated buffer areas applies only to tidal wetland environments, and does not apply to upland areas adjacent to the coast.

New Hampshire

The state of New Hampshire coastal zone program, through state wetlands regulations, requires the establishment of a 100-foot vegetated buffer around coastal wetlands, beginning at the mean high tide mark. Although the buffer area is a requirement, activities can still be conducted within the buffer, provided that proper permits have been issued.

New Jersey

The state of New Jersey has a coastal zone program element that may be used to establish vegetated buffers along the coast. The program element requires a buffer width of 0 to 300 feet, determined on a case-by-case basis, and is dependent on the potential impact to water resources from the proposed development activity. The buffer program applies to private property, and to all activities conducted in the coastal zone by any state agency. The buffer program, however, is only applicable to those areas of the shoreline designated as significant or sensitive areas. Furthermore, local plans and zoning ordinances supersede the state coastal buffer program, and do not have to be consistent with state coastal zone policy. Plummer (1993) provides a more detailed review of New

Jersey buffer policy and regulations, as well as implementation examples.

New York

The general policy of the state of New York coastal zone program is to protect significant coastal resources and habitats, and therefore vegetated buffer areas may be established during the permitting process on a case-by-case basis. The state coastal zone program encourages the protection and/ or planting of vegetation along the shoreline, but does not require it as part of the program mandate.

Through the regulatory program of the Department of Conservation, a construction setback regulation exists that may establish vegetated buffer areas. The regulations require a setback from wetland areas of 75 feet (30 feet in New York City). The setback regulation does not require that the buffer area be vegetated, but encourages the use of vegetation. Local government may develop and implement vegetated buffer policy and regulations according to local zoning ordinances.

North Carolina

In the state of North Carolina, the portion of the coastal zone that lies within 75 feet of the water's edge is subject to permit approval for development purposes. Vegetated buffers may be established through the permitting process on a case-by-case basis. When buffer areas are established, they need not be vegetated as a requirement, but vegetation is encouraged. A 30-foot buffer is required around waters that are classified as high quality and/or of high significance, but the buffer need not be vegetated. The 30-foot buffer requirement is most typically used to protect public water supply watershed areas. Local zoning ordinances may require the establishment of vegetated buffers along the coast. Phillips (1989d) reviews some local-level buffer requirements in North Carolina.

Oregon

The state of Oregon has several statewide policies that require local governing bodies to be consistent in their planning and zoning efforts. Statewide policies to preserve and protect significant coastal habitats, cultural and historic resources, and scenic qualities may result in the establishment of vegetated buffers along the coastal zone through local adoption and implementation. Areas marked for preservation and/or restoration in estuaries may also be viewed as vegetated buffers.

Rhode Island

The state of Rhode Island coastal zone program has a policy for the establishment of vegetated buffers, but it is implemented on a case-by-case basis under the purview of program staff. When applied, the buffer is measured from the inland edge of the coastal feature (as defined by the program), with buffer width based on potential impacts of development and the sensitivity and use of the adjacent land and water. The state coastal zone program also requires a minimum 50-foot construction setback, but local zoning ordinances or regional Special Area Management Plans may require the establishment of a buffer area, or require a greater setback distance.

The state of Rhode Island has developed a more complete vegetated buffer program, a final version of which is included in Appendix A. Adoption of the program occurred during early 1994. Appendix B contains a copy of the vegetated buffer management and maintenance document that accompanies the state's buffer program.

South Carolina

In the state of South Carolina, vegetated buffers may be established on a case-by-case basis along or within critical or sensitive areas, such as salt marshes. Typically, the program regulates activity within the critical or sensitive areas, rather than establishing buffers around them. The coastal zone program also has jurisdiction within a setback area inland of coastal dune systems. The setback width is determined by erosional rates, and although vegetated buffers could be established within the coastal setback, the focus of the program is to regulate activity in the setback area rather than to establish it as a buffer area. The overall intent of the setback is to protect property by removing structures from erosional zones along the coast.

Texas

The state of Texas is in the process of developing its coastal zone program, and therefore at present has no policies or regulations that establish vegetated buffers along the coast. The program that is in development recognizes the value of coastal buffer zones, and several policies within the draft program deal with the concept of vegetated (and nonvegetated) huffers.

Virginia

The state of Virginia has a buffer program applicable to the shoreline of the Chesapeake Bay under the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act, but the program does not apply to other coastal areas in the state. The coastal zone program recommends the use of vegetation and vegetated buffer areas for shoreline stabilization and other uses, but it is accomplished on a voluntary basis by property owners.

Along the shores of the Chesapeake Bay, the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act requires a 100foot vegetated buffer along all shoreline that drains to or is adjacent to the Chesapeake Bay. The program does provide for limited use within the vegetated buffer, and variances may be sought to utilize lands within the buffer area. No variances will be provided that result in less than a 50-foot vegetated buffer remaining along the shoreline (except for agricultural uses).

Water-dependent uses — such as marinas and docks — are generally allowable within the 100foot buffer area. Agricultural land uses that abut the shoreline may seek a smaller vegetated buffer width of 50 feet, and a 20-foot buffer may be allowed for agricultural purposes, provided that a management plan has been developed and is actively being implemented. Plummer (1993) provides a more complete review of the Virginia Chesapeake Bay Preservation Area Program, as well as implementation examples.

Washington

The state of Washington coastal zone program recommends the use of vegetated areas for shoreline stabilization and other purposes, but does not require their use. Each of the coastal counties in the state is required to develop its own master plans and zoning ordinances, which may, but are not required to, include regulations for the establishment of vegetated buffers at a local level.

Т





IV. Selected Bibliography

This bibliography represents a search of the literature for works that relate to vegetated buffers. The selected bibliography presents a wide range of subjects, ranging from pollutant removal research to the aesthetic and scenic value of vegetated buffers. The selected works are definitely biased towards research on pollutant removal efficiency of vegetated buffers. The reason for this is twofold: (1) the bulk of the published literature is the results of research with this as their focus, and (2) in light of the recent emphasis on control of nonpoint source pollutants, this portion of the literature is extremely valuable in pursuing the use of vegetated buffers as a nonpoint source control mechanism. However, the selected references presented here represent a reasonable introduction to the diversity of uses of vegetated buffers as a multiple-use resource management tool.

Several bibliographies, some annotated, are given in the following list of literature references. One of special note, however, is that compiled by Dr. David Correll at the Smithsonian Environmental Research Center (Correll, 1993). This bibliography is specific to the literature regarding forested buffers, and is indexed according to the parameters researched in each citation given. The bibliography also contains references culled from international sources, and provides a robust compendium of research in forested buffers.

Abell, D.L. (ed.). 1989. Proceedings of the California Riparian Systems Conference: Protection, Management, and Restoration for the 1990s. Pacific Southwest Forest & Range Experiment Station Technical Report No. PSW-110. Berkeley, CA, 115 pp.

Aber, J.D., K.J. Nadelhoffer, P. Stendler, and J.M. Melillo. 1989. Nitrogen saturation in northern forest ecosystems. *BioScience* **39**:378–386.

Adam, R., R. Lagace, and M. Vallieres. 1986. Evaluation of beef feedlot runoff treatment by a vegetative filter. American Society of Agricultural Engineering Paper No. 86-208. St. Joseph, MI.

Adams, L.W. and L.E. Dove. 1989. Wildlife reserves and corridors in the urban environment: A guide to ecological landscape planning and resource conservation. National Institute for Urban Wildlife. Columbia, MD. 91 pp. Adams, L.W. and L.E. Dove. 1984. Urban wetlands for stormwater control and wildlife enhancement. National Institute for Urban Wildlife. Columbia, MD, 15 pp.

Adams, L.W. and D.L. Leed (cds.). 1987. Integrating man and nature in the metropolitan environment. National Institute for Urban Wildlife. Columbia, MD, 249 pp.

Adams, L.W., T.M. Franklin, L.E. Dove, and J.M. Duffield. 1986, Design considerations for wildlife in urban stormwater management. *Transactions of the North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference* **51**:249–259.

Ahola, H. 1990. Vegetated buffer zone examinations on the Vantaa River basin. *Aqua Fennica* **20**(1):65-69.

Allen, H.H. 1979. Role of wetland plants in erosion control of riparian shorelines. In: P.E. Greeson, J.R. Clark, and J.E. Clark (eds.), *Wetland Functions and Values: The State of Our Understanding*. American Water Resources Association Technical Publication No. TPS79-2, pp. 403–414.

Ambus, P. and R. Lowrance. 1991. Comparison of denitrification in two riparian soils. Soil Scientist Society of America Journal 55:994–997.

Anacostia Restoration Team. 1992. A current assessment of urban best management practices: Techniques of reducing nonpoint source pollution in the coastal zone. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. Washington, DC.

Anderson, B.W. and R.D. Ohmari. 1985. Riparian revegetation as a mitigating process in stream and river restoration. In: J.Gore (ed.), *The Restoration of Rivers and Streams*. Butterworth Publishers. Boston, MA, pp. 41–80.

Anderson, M.P. 1984. Movements of contaminants in groundwater: Groundwater transport, advection, and dispersion. In: National Academy of Sciences, *Groundwater Contamination*, pp. 37–45.

Asmussen, L.E., A.W. White, Jr., E.W. Hansen, and J.M. Sheridan. 1977. Reduction of 2,4-D load in surface runoff down a grassed waterway. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 6:159-162.

Aubertin, G.M. and J.H. Patric. 1974. Water quality after clearcutting a small watershed in West Virginia. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **3**:243–249.

Aull, G.H., T.L. Loudon, and J.B. Gerrish. 1979. Cropland, buffer, and stream: A field study. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 79-2010. St. Joseph, MI.

Baker, D.E. and L. Chesnin. 1975. Chemical monitoring of soils for environmental quality and animal and human health. *Advances in Agronomy* 27:305–367.

Barfield, B.J., E.W. Tollner, and J.C. Hayes. 1979. Filtration of sediment by simulated vegetation. I. Steady state flow with homogeneous sediment. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 22(3):540–545, 548. Barker, J.C. and B.A. Young. 1984. Evaluation of a vegetative filter for dairy wastewater in southern Appalachia. Water Resource Research Institute, North Carolina State University. Raleigh, NC,

Barnes, K.B. 1988. Cartographic modeling of nonpoint pollutant surfaces for a coastal drainage area. In: Lyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings of the Symposium on Coastal Water Resources*, Technical Publication Series of the American Water Resources Association, MD, pp. 133–145.

Bartlett, M.S., L.C. Brown, N.B. Hanes, and N.H. Nickerson. 1979. Denitrification in freshwater wetland soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 8:460–464.

Barton, D.R., W.D. Taylor, and R.M. Biette. 1985. Dimensions of riparian buffer strips required to maintain trout habitat in southern Ontario streams. *North American Journal* of Fisheries Management **5**:364–378.

Beaulac, M.N. and K.H. Reckhow, 1982, An examination of landuse – nutrient export relationships. *Water Research Bulletin* 18:1013–1024.

Best, L.B. 1983. Bird use of fencerows: Implications of contemporary fencerow management practices. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 11:343–347.

Bingham, S.C., P.W. Westerman, and M.R. Overcash. 1980. Effect of grass buffer zone length in reducing the pollution from land application areas. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 23(2):330-335; 342.

Bingham, S.C., M.R. Overcash, and P.W. Westerman. 1978. Effectiveness of grass buffer zones in eliminating pollutants in runoff from waste application sites. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 78-2571. St. Joseph, MI.

Blake, J.G. and J.R. Karr. 1984. Species composition of bird communities and the conservation benefit of large versus small forests. *Biological Conservation* **30**:173~187.

Booth, N.K. 1983. Basic Elements of Landscape Architectural Design. Elsevier Science Publishing Co., Inc. New York, NY. 315 pp.

Bormann, F.H., G.E. Likens, D.W. Fisher, and R.S. Pierce. 1968. Nutrient loss accelerated by clear-cutting of a forest ecosystem. *Science* **159**:882–884.

Bowmer, K.H. 1987. Nutrient removal from effluents by an artificial wetland: Influence of rhizosphere aeration and preferential flow studies using bromide dye tracers. *Water Resources* 21:591–599.

Brinson, M.M. 1988. Strategies for assessing the cumulative effects of wetland alteration on water quality. *Journal of Environmental Management* **12**:655–662. Broderson, J.M. 1973. Sizing buffer strips to maintain water quality. Master's of Science thesis, University of Washington. Seattle, WA, 84 pp.

Brown, K.W., K.C. Donnelly, J.C. Thomas, and J.F. Slowey, 1984. The movement of nitrogen species through three soils below septic fields. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **13**:460–465.

Brown, K.W. and J.C. Thomas. 1978. Uptake of N by grass from septic fields in three soils. *Agronomy Journal* **70**:1037–1040.

Brown, M.T. and J.M. Schaefer, 1987. Final Report: An evaluation of the applicability of upland buffers for the wetlands of the Wekiva Basin. Center for Wetlands, University of Florida. Gainesville, FL, 163 pp.

Brown, M.T., J.M. Schaefer, and K.H. Brandt. 1990. Buffer zones for water, wetlands and wildlife in east central Florida. Center for Wetlands Publication No. 89-07. Florida Agricultural Experiment Station Journal Series No. T-00061. 71 pp.

Bubenzer, G.D., J.C. Converse, and J.W. Patoch. 1989. Downward movement of water below grass filter strips case studies. Department of Agricultural Engineering. University of Wisconsin. Madison, W1.

Budd, W.W., P.L. Cohen, P.R. Saunders, and F.R. Steiner. 1987. Stream corridor management in the Pacific Northwest: I. Determination of stream-corridor widths. *Environmental Management* 11:587–597.

Burgess, R.L. and D.M. Sharpe (eds.). 1981. Forest Island Dynamics In Man-Dominated Landscapes. Springer-Verlag. New York, NY.

Cain, D. 1989. Evaluations of regional groundwater quality in relation to land use. *Groundwater* **27**(2):230-244.

Canter, L.W. and R.C. Knox. 1985. Septic Tank Effects On Ground Water Quality. Lewis Publishers, Inc. Chelsea, MI.

Carter, W.R. 1988. The importance of buffer strips to the normal functioning of stream and riparian ecosystems. Maryland Department of Natural Resources, Tidewater Administration, Coastal Resources Division. Annapolis, MD.

Casman, E. 1989. Effects of agricultural best management practices on water quality as related to adjustments of HSPF parameters, a literature review: III. Parameters and concepts for modeling vegetated filter strips. The Interstate Commission on the Potomac River Basin.

Castelle, A.J., C. Conolly, M. Emers, E.D. Metz, S. Meyer, and M. Witter (eds.). 1992. *Weiland buffers: An annotated bibliography*. Washington State Department of Ecology. Olympia, WA, 71 pp.

Castelle, A.J., C. Conolly, M. Emers, E.D. Metz, S. Meyer, M. Witter, S. Mauermann, T. Erickson, and S.S. Cooke. 1992. Wetlands buffers: Use and effectiveness. Washington State Department of Ecology Pub. No. 92–10. Olympia, WA. 171 pp.

Chesapeake Bay Local Assistance Act. 1990. Chesapeake Bay Local Assistance Board VR 173-02-01. Richmond, VA.

Chescheir, G.M., R.W. Skaggs, and J.W. Gilliam. 1992. Evaluation of wetland buffer areas for treatment of pumped agricultural drainage water. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **35**:175–182.

Chescheir, G.M., J.W. Gilliam, R.W. Skaggs, R.G. Broadhead, and R. Lea. 1987. The hydrology and pollutant removal effectiveness of wetland buffer areas receiving pumped agricultural drainage water. Water Resources Research Institute Report No. 231, University of North Carolina, Raleigh, NC. 170 pp.

Chescheir, G.M., R.W. Skaggs, J.W. Gilliam, and R.G. Broadhead. 1988. Wetland buffer areas for treatment of pumped agricultural drainage water. In: Lyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings of the Symposium on Coastal Water Resources.* Technical Publication Series of the American Water Resources Association, MD, pp. 255–263.

Clark, J.R. 1983. Coastal Ecosystem Management. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co. Malabar, FL, 928 pp.

Clark, J. 1977. Coastal Ecosystem Management. John Wiley and Sons. New York, NY. 811 pp.

Clausen, J.C. and D.W. Meals, Jr. 1989. Water quality achievable with agricultural best management practices. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* 44:593-596.

Clewell, A.F., R.S. Beaman, W.O. Cleckley, and T.R. Pratt. 1989. Managing for complexity in river corridors. In: J.A. Kuster and S. Daly (eds.), *Wetlands and River Corridor Management*. Association of Wetland Managers. Berne, NY, pp. 331–333.

Cohen, P.L., P.R. Saunders, W.W. Budd, and F.R. Steiner. 1987. Stream corridor management in the Pacific Northwest: II. Management strategics. *Environmental Management* 11:599–605.

Cole, D.W. and M. Rapp. 1981. Elemental cycling in forest ecosystems. In: D.E. Reichle (ed.), *Dynamic Properties* of Forest Ecosystems. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, England, pp. 341–409.

Comerford, N.B., D.G. Neary, and R.S. Mansell. 1992. The effectiveness of buffer strips for ameliorating offsite transport from silvicultural operations. National Council of the Paper Industry Technical Bulletin No. 631. New York, NY. 48 pp. Conner, W.H. and J.W. Day, Jr. 1988. Response of coastal wetland forests to human and natural changes in the environment with emphasis on hydrology. In: D.D. Hook and R. Lea (eds.), *The Forested Wetlands of the Southern United States*, pp. 34–43.

Cook College Department of Environmental Resources. 1989a. Watershed management strategies for New Jersey. New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station Report No. H-17505-1-89. New Brunswick, NJ.

Cook College Department of Environmental Resources, 1989b. Buffer strips to protect water supply reservoirs and surface water intakes: A model and recommendations. New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station Report No. H-17505-2-89. New Brunswick, NJ,

Cooper, A.B., C.M. Smith, and A.B. Bottcher. 1992. Predicting runoff of water, sediment, and nutrients from a New Zealand grazed pasture using CREAMS. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **35**:105–112.

Cooper, A.B. 1990. Nitrate depletion in the riparian zone and stream channel of a small headwater catchment. *Hydrobiologia* **202(1–2)**:13–26.

Cooper, J.R. and J.W. Gilliam. 1987. Phosphorus redistribution from cultivated fields into riparian areas. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **51**(6):1600–1604.

Cooper, J.R., J.W. Gilliam, R.B. Daniels, and W.P. Robarge. 1987. Riparian areas as filters for agricultural sediment. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **51(2)**:416– 420.

Cooper, J.R., J.W. Gilliam, and J.C. Jacobs. 1986. Riparian areas as a control of nonpoint pollutants. In: D.L. Correll (ed.), *Watershed Research Perspectives*. Smithsonian Institute Press. Washington, DC, pp. 166–192.

Corbett, E.S. and J.A. Lynch. 1985. Management of streamside zones on municipal watersheds. In: R.R. Johnson, C.D. Ziebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Folliott, and R.H. Hamre (eds.), *Riparian Ecosystems and their Management: Reconciling Conflicting Uses*. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service General Technical Report RM-120, Rocky Mountain and Range Experiment Station. Fort Collins. CO. pp. 187–190.

Corbett, E.S., J.A. Lynch, and W.E. Sopper. 1978. Timber harvesting practices and water quality in the eastern United States. *Journal of Forestry* **76(8)**:484–488.

Correll, D.L. 1993. Vegetated stream riparian zones: Their effects on stream nutrients, sediments, and toxic substances. An annotated and indexed bibliography. Smithsonian Environmental Research Center, Edgewater, MD.

Correll, D.L. 1991. Human impact on the functioning of landscape boundaries. In: M. Holland, R.J. Naiman, and P.G. Risser (eds.), *The Role of Landscape Boundaries in the* Management and Restoration of Changing Environments. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY, pp. 90–109.

Correll, D.L. 1983, N and P in soils and runoff of three coastal plain land uses. In: R. Lowrance, R. Todd, L. Asmussen, and R. Leonard (eds.), *Nutrient Cycling In Agricultural Ecosystems*. University of Georgia Agricultural Experiment Station Special Publication 23, Athens, GA, pp. 207–224.

Correll, D.L., T.E. Jordan, and D.E. Weller. 1992. Nutrient flux in a landscape: Effects of coastal land use and terrestrial community mosaic on nutrient transport to coastal waters. *Estuaries* **15**(4):431–442.

Correll, D.L. and D.E. Weller, 1989. Factors limiting processes in freshwater wetlands: An agricultural primary stream riparian forest. In: R.R. Sharitz and J.W. Gibbons (eds.), *Freshwaters Wetlands and Wildlife*. United States Department of Energy, Office of Science and Technology. DOE Symposium Series No. 61. Oak Ridge, TN, pp. 9–23.

Correll, D.L. and D. Ford. 1982. Comparison of precipitation and land runoff as sources of estuarine nitrogen. *Estuarine*, *Coastal and Shelf Science* 15:45–56.

Correll, D.L., T.E. Jordan, and D.E. Weller. 1992. Comparative study of nutrient and sediment interception in Chesapeake Bay riparian zones. Smithsonian Environmental Research Center. Edgewater, MD.

Correll, D.L., T.L. Wu, E.S. Friebele, and J. Miklas. 1977. Nutrient discharge from Rhode River watersheds and their relationship to land use patterns. In: D.L. Correll (ed.), *Watershed Research in Eastern North America: A Workshop To Compare Results.* Chesapeake Bay Center for Environmental Studies. Smithsonian Institute. Edgewater, MD. pp. 413– 435.

Craig, N.J. and E. Kuenzler. 1983. Land use, nutrient yield, and eutrophication in the Chowan River Basin. Water Resources Research Institute Report No. 205. University of North Carolina. Raleigh, NC.

Cross, S.P. 1985. Responses of small mammals to riparian forest perturbations. In: R.R. Johnson, C.D. Ziebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Folliott, and R.H. Hamre (eds.), *Riparian Ecosystems and Their Management: Reconciling Conflicting Uses*. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service General Technical Report RM-120, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. Fort Collins, CO.

Darling, N., L. Stonecipher, D. Crouch, and J. Thomas. 1982. Buffer strip survival survey. Hoodsport Ranger District, Olympic National Forest.

Dasmann, R.F. 1988. Biosphere reserves, buffers, and boundaries. *BioScience* 38:387-389.

DeWalle, F.B. and R.M. Schaff. 1980. Ground-water pollution by septic tank drainfields. *Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers* 106:631-646. Diamond, R.S. and D.J. Nilson, 1988. Buffer delineation method for coastal wetlands in New Jersey. In: Lyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings Of A Symposium On Coastal Water Resources*. Technical Publication Series of the American Water Resources Association, MD, pp. 771–783.

Dickey, E.C. and D.H. Vanderholm. 1981. Vegetative filter treatment of livestock feedlot runoff. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 10:279-284.

Dickman, C.R. 1987. Habitat fragmentation and vertebrate species richness in an urban environment. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 24:337–351.

Dickman, C.R. and C.P. Doncaster, 1987. The ecology of small mammals in urban habitats. Populations in a patchy environment. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **56**:629–640.

Dickson, J.G. and J.C. Huntley, 1985. Streamside management zones and wildlife in the southern coastal plain. In: R.R. Johnson, C.D. Ziebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Folliott, and R.H. Hanire (eds.), *Riparian Ecosystems and Their Management: Reconciling Conflicting Uses*. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service General Technical Report RM-120, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. Fort Collins, CO, pp. 263–264.

Dillaha, T.A., R.B. Reneau, S. Mostaghimi, and D. Lee. 1989a. Vegetative filter strips for agricultural nonpoint source pollution control. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **32(2)**:513–519.

Dillaha, T.A., J.H. Sherrard, and D. Lee. 1989b. Longterm effectiveness of vegetative filter strips. *Water Environment and Technology* 1:418–421.

Dillaha, T.A., J.H. Sherrard, D. Lee, S. Mostaghimi, and V.O. Shanholz. 1988. Evaluation of vegetative filter strips as a best management practice for feed lots. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation* **60**(7):1231–1238.

Dillaha, T.A., J.H. Sherrard, and D. Lee. 1986a. Longterm effectiveness and maintenance of vegetative filter strips. Virginia Water Resources Research Center Bulletin No. 153. Virginia Polytechnic Institute. Blacksburg, VA. 39 pp.

Dillaha, T.A., J.H. Sherrard, D. Lee, V.O. Shanholtz, S. Mostaghimi, and W.L. Magette. 1986b. Use of vegetative filter strips to minimize sediment and phosphorus loss from feedlots. Virginia Water Resources Center Research Bulletin No. 151. Virginia Polytechnic Institute. Blacksburg, VA.

Dillaha, T.A., R.B. Reneau, S. Mostaghimi, V.O. Shanholtz, and W.L. Magette. 1986c. Evaluating nutrient and sediment losses from agricultural lands: Vegetative filter strips. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Washington, DC.

Dillaha, T.A., J.H. Sherrard, D. Lee, S. Mostaghimi, and V.O. Stanholtz. 1985. Sediment and phosphorus transport in vegetative filter strips: Phase I, Field Studies. American

4

Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 85-2043, St. Joseph, MI.

Dillaha, T.A. and D.B. Beasley. 1983. Distributed parameter modeling of sediment movement and particle size distributions. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 26:1766–1772.

Dodd, R.C., M. McCarthy, W.S. Cooter, W.D. Wheaton, and S. Stichter, 1993 (Draft), Riparian buffers for water quality enhancement in the Albemarle-Pamlico area, Research Triangle Institute, Research Triangle Park, NC, 27 pp.

Doyle, R.C., G.C. Stanton, and D.C. Wolf. 1977. Effectiveness of forest and grass buffer filters in improving the water quality of manure polluted runoff. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 77-2501. St. Joseph, MI.

Doyle, R.C., D.C. Wolf, and D.F. Bezdicek. 1975. Effectiveness of forest buffer strips in improving the water quality of manure polluted runoff. In: *Managing Livestock Wastes*. Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Livestock Wastes. University of Illinois. Champaign, IL. pp. 299–302.

Edwards, W.M., L.B. Owens, and R.K. White. 1983. Managing runoff from a small, paved, beef feedlot. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **12**:281–286.

Ehrenfeld, J.G. 1987. The role of woody vegetation in preventing ground water pollution by nitrogen from septic tank leachate. *Water Resources Research* 21:605–614.

Engelstad, O.P. and K.S. Brady. 1985. Nonpoint source pollution from plant nutrients. In: *Perspectives on Nonpoint Source Pollution*. United States Environmental Protection Agency Report No. EPA-440/4-85-001, Washington, DC, pp. 241–243.

Engman, E.T. 1986. Roughness coefficients for routing surface runoff. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering* **112**(1):39–53.

Erman, D.C. and D. Mahoney. 1983. Recovery after logging in streams with and without bufferstrips in northern California. California Water Resources Center, University of California. Davis, CA.

Erman, D.C., J.D. Newbold, and K.B. Roby. 1977. Evaluation of streamside buffer strips for protecting aquatic organisms. California Water Resources Center Technical Completion Report No. 165. University of California. Davis, CA. 48 pp.

Exner, M.E., M.E. Burbach, and D.G. Watts. 1991. Deep nitrate movement in the unsaturated zone of a simulated urban lawn. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **20**:658–662.

Fail, J.L., Jr., M.N. Hamzah, B.L. Haines, and R.L. Todd. 1986. Above and below ground biomass, production, and element accumulation in riparian forests of an agricultural watershed. In: D.L. Correll (ed.), Watershed Research Perspectives. Smithsonian Institute Press. Washington, DC, pp. 193–224.

Farnworth, E.G., M.C. Nichols, C.N. Jann, L.G. Wolfson, R.W. Bosserman, P.R. Hendrix, F.B. Golley, and J.L. Cooley. 1979. Impacts of sediment and nutrients on biota in surface waters of the United States. United States Environmental Protection Agency Office of Research and Development. Environmental Research Lab Report No. EPA-600/3-79-105. Athens, GA. 314 pp.

Fitzpatrick, C. 1986. The use of buffer strips in controlling agricultural runoff, In: I.C. Campbell (ed.), *Stream Protection: The Management of Rivers for Instream Uses*. Water Studies Center, East Caulfield, Australia, pp. 75–84.

Flanagan, D.C. and G.R. Foster. 1989. Storm pattern effect on nitrogen and phosphorus losses in surface runoff. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **32**:535–544.

Flanagan, D.C., G.R. Foster, and W.H. Neibling. 1989. Simplified equations for filter strip design. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **32**:2001–2007.

Flanagan, D.C., G.R. Foster, and C.W. Moldenhauer. 1988. Storm pattern effect on infiltration, runoff, and erosion. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **31**:414–420.

Flanagan, D.C., W.H. Neibling, G.R. Foster, and J.P. Burt. 1986. Applicability of CREAMS in filter strip design. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 86-2043. St. Joseph, MI.

Fleisher, S., L. Stibe, and L. Leonardson. 1991. Restoration of wetlands as a means of reducing nitrogen transport to coastal waters. *Ambio: A Journal of the Human Environment* **20(6)**:271–272.

Florida Division of Forestry, 1990. Silvicultural best management practices. Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, Division of Forestry, Tallahassee, FL, 76 pp.

Forman, R.T.T. and M. Godron. 1986. Landscape Ecology. J. Wiley and Sons. New York, NY. 619 pp.

Forman, R.T.T. 1983. Corridors in a landscape: their ecological structure and function. *Ekologia* 2:375–387.

Foster, G.R., R.A. Young, and W.H. Neibling. 1985. Sediment composition for nonpoint source pollution analyses. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **28**:133–139.

Freeze, R.A. and J.A. Cherry, 1979. *Groundwater*. Prentice-Hall. Englewood Cliff, NJ, 604 pp.

Gersberg, R.M., W.J. Dawsey, and M.D. Bradley, 1991. Biodegradation of monoaromatic hydrocarbons in groundwater under denitrifying conditions, Bidletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 47,230–237.

Gersberg, R.M., B.V. Elkins, S.R. Lyon, and C.R. Goldman. 1986. Role of aquatic plants in wastewater treatment by artificial wetlands. *Water Resources* 20:363–368.

Gersberg, R.M., B.V. Elkins, and C.R. Goldman. 1983. Nitrogen removal in constructed wetlands. *Water Resources* 17:1009–1014.

Gilliam, J.W. and R.W. Skaggs. 1987. Natural buffer areas and drainage control to remove pollutants from agricultural drainage water. In: J.A. Kusler, M. Quammen, and G. Brooks (eds.), *Proceedings of the National Wetland Symposium: Mitigation of Impacts and Losses*. Association of State Wetland Managers, Berne, NY, pp. 145–148.

Gilliam, J.W., R.B. Damels, and J.F. Lutz. 1974. Nitrogen content of shallow ground water in the North Carolina coastalplains. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 3:147–151.

Glick, R., M.L. Wolfe, and T.L. Thurow. 1991. Urhan runoff quality as affected by native vegetation. American Society of Agricultural Engineers. Paper. No. 91-2067. St. Joseph, MI.

Gold, A.J., R.C. Simmons, and P.M. Groffman. 1991. Groundwater nitrate attenuation in riparian forests. American Society of Agricultural Engineers. Paper. No. 91-2501, St. Joseph, MI.

Gold, A.J., W.R. DeRagon, W.M. Sulfivan, and J.L. Lemunyon. 1990. Nutrate-nitrogen losses to groundwater from rural and suburban land uses. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **45**:305–310.

Golet, F.C. 1979. Rating the wildlife value of Northeastern fresh water wetlands. In: P. Greeson, J.R. Clark, and J.E. Clark (eds.). Wetlands Functions and Values: The State Of Our Understanding American Water Resources Association Technical Publication No. TPS79-2. Minneapolis, MN.

Golet, F.C. 1976. Wildlife wetland evaluation model. In: J.S. Larson (ed.), *Models for Assessment of Freshwater Wetlands*. Water Resources Research Center Publication No. 32. University of Massachusetts. Amherst, MA.

Gore, J. (ed.). 1985. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams. Butterworth Publishers. Boston, MA.

Gosselink, J.G., G.P. Shaffer, L.C. Lee, D.M. Burdick, D.L. Childers, N.C. Leibowitz, S.C. Hamilton, R. Boumans, D. Cushman, S. Fields, M. Koch, and J.M. Visser, 1990. Landscape conservation in a forested wetland watershed, *BioScience* 40:588-600.

Greeson, P.E., J.R. Clark, and J.E. Clark (eds.). 1979. Wetland Functions and Values. The State of Our Understanding. Proceedings of a National Symposium on Wetlands, Nov. 7-10, 1978. American Water Resources Association. Minneapolis, MN. Griffin, R., Jr. 1991. Introducing Non-Point Source Water Pollution. EPA Journal 17(5):6-9

Groff, D.W. and B.A. Obeda. 1982. Septic performance in hydrologically sensitive soils. *Wetlands* 2(286) 302.

Groffman, P.M., A.J. Gold, and R.C. Simmons, 1992. Nitrate dynamics in riparian forests: Microbial studies. Journal of Environmental Quality 21(4):666–671.

Groffman, P.M., E. Axelrod, J.L. Lemunyon, and W.M. Sullivan. 1994a. Denitrification in grass and forest vegetated filter strips. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **20**:671–674.

Groffman, P.M., A.J. Gold, T.P. Husband, R.C. Simmons, and W.R. Eddleman. 1991b. An investigation into multiple uses of vegetated buffer strips, Narragansett Bay Project No. NBP-91-63. Providence, R1.

Groffman, P.M. and J.M. Tiedje, 1989a. Denitrification in north temperate forest soils: Relationships between denitrification and environmental factors at the landscape scale. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **21(5)**:621–626.

Groffman, P.M. and J.M. Tiedje, 1989b. Denitrification in north temperate forest soils: Spatial and temporal patterns at the landscape and seasonal scales. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 21:613–620.

Hammer, D.A. 1992. Designing constructed wetlands systems to treat agricultural nonpoint source pollution. *Ecological Engineering* 1:49-82.

Hammer, D.A. 1989. Protecting water quality with wetlands in river corridors. In: J.A. Kusler and S. Daly (eds.), *Wetlands and River Corridor Management*. Association of Wetland Managers, Berne, NY, pp. 206–210.

Harper, D.B. and J.D. Warbach (eds.), 1976. Visual Quality and the Coastal Zone: Proceedings of a Conference (Workshop, College of Environmental Science and Forestry, State University of New York, Syracuse, NY.

Harris, R.A. 1985. Vegetative barriers: An alternative highway noise abatement measure. *Noise Control Engineering Journal* 27:4-8.

Haupt, H.F. and W.J. Kidd. 1965. Good logging practices reduce sedimentation in central Idaho, *Journal of Forestry* **63**:664-670.

Haycock, N.E. and G. Pinay. 1993. Groundwater nitrate dynamics in grass and poplar vegetated riparian buffer strips during winter. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 22:273-278.

Hayes, J.C., B.J. Barfield, and R.I. Barnhisel. 1984 Performance of grass filters under laboratory and field conditions (with appendix). *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 27:1321–1331. Hayes, J.C. and J.E. Hairston. 1983. Modeling long-term effectiveness of vegetative filters as on-site sedament controls. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 83-2081. St. Joseph. MI.

Hayes, J.C., B.J. Barfield, and R.I. Barnhisel. 1979a. Performance of grass filters under laboratory and field conditions. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 79: 2530. St. Joseph, MI.

Hayes, J.C., B.J. Barfield, and R.J. Barnhisel. 1979b. Filtration of sediment by simulated vegetation. II. Unsteady flow with non-homogenous sediment. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 22:1063-1067.

Hayes, J.C., B.J. Barfield, and R.I. Barnhisel. 1978. Evaluation of grass characteristics related to sediment filtration. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 78-2513. St. Joseph, ME

Hearne, J.W. and C. Howard-Williams, 1988. Modeling initrate removal by riparian vegetation in a springfed stream: The influence of land-use practices. *Ecological Modeling* **42**:179–198.

Hergert, G.W. 1986. Nitrate leaching through saudy soil as affected by sprinkler irrigation management. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 15:272–278.

Hesketh, E.S. 1986. The efficiency of nitrogen use by Kentucky bluegrass turf as influenced by nitrogen rate, fertilizer ratio, and nitrification inhibitors. Master's of Science thesis, University of Rhode Island. Kingston, RI.

Hill, A.R. 1988. Factors influencing nitrate depletion in a rural steam. *Hydrobiologia* 60:111-112.

Hill, A.R. 1983. Denitrification: Its importance in a river draining an intensively cropped watershed. Agriculture, *Ecosystems, & Environment* 10:47-62.

Hill, A.R. and K. Sanmugadas. 1985. Denitrification in relation to stream sediment characteristics. *Water Resources* 19:1579–1586.

Hill, A.R. and N. Wylie. 1977. The influence of nutrogen fertilizers on stream nitrate concentrations near Alliston, Ontario, Canada. *Progressive Water Technology* 8:91–100.

Holler, S.M. 1989. Buffer strips in watershed management. In: Watershed Management Strategies for New Jersey. Cook College Department of Environmental Resources. New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station Report No. H-17505-1-89. New Brunswick, NJ, pp. 69-116.

Hook, J.E. and T.M. Burton. 1977. Nitrate relations in the Penn State living filter system. In: R.C. Loehr (ed.), *Land As A Waste Management Alternative*. Ann Arbor Publishing. Ann Arbor, ML Hopkinson, C.S., Jr. and J.W. Day, Jr. 1980. Modeling the relationship between development and storm water and mutrient runoff. *Environmental Management* 4:315–324.

Horton, J.S. and C.J. Campbell, 1974. Management of phreatophyte and riparian vegetation for maximum multiple use. United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service Research Paper RM-117, 23 pp

Howard, R.J. and J.A. Allen. 1989. Streamside habitats in southern forested wetlands: Their role and implications for management. In: D.D. Hook and R. Lea (eds.), *The Forested Wetlands of the Southern United States*. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service General Technical Report SE-50. Atlanta, GA, pp. 97–106.

Hubbard, R.K., R.A. Leonard, and A.W. Johnson. 1991. Nitrate transport on a sandy Coastal Plain soil underlain by plinthute. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural* Engineers 34:802-808.

Hubbard, R.K., J.M. Sheridan, and L.R. Martin. 1990. Dissolved and suspended solids transport from Coastal Plain watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 19:413–420.

Hubbard, R.K. and J.M. Sheridan. 1989. Nitrate movement to groundwater in the southeastern Coastal Plain. *Journal of Soil & Water Conservation* 44:20-27.

Hubbard, R.K., R.G. Williams, and M.D. Erdman. 1989. Chemical transport from Coastal Plain soils under simulated rainfall. Surface runoff, percolation, nitrate, and phosphate movement. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers **32**:1239-1249.

Hubbard, R.K., G.J. Gascho, and J.E. Hook. 1986. Nitrate movement into shallow ground water through a Coastal Plain sand. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural* Engineers **29**:1564–1571.

Hubbard, R.K. and J.M. Sheridan. 1983. Water and nitrate-nitrogen losses from a small, upland coastal plain watershed. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 12:291–295.

Hynes, H.B.N. 1983. Groundwater and stream ecology. *Hydrobiologia* 100:93-99.

Hynes, H.B.N. 1970. The Ecology of Running Waters. Liverpool University Press, Liverpool, England, 555 pp.

[EP, Inc. 1990; P8 urban catchment model user's manual (Version 1.1). Prepared for the Narragansett Bay Project. Providence, RL

Jackson, W.A., L.E. Asmussen, E.W. Hauser, and A.W. White. 1973. Nitrate in surface and subsurface flow from a small agricultural watershed. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 2(480)-482.

Jacobs, T.C. and J.W. Gilliam. 1985a. Riparian losses of nitrate from agricultural drainage waters. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 14(4):472–478.

Jacobs, T.C. and J.W. Gilliam. 1985b. Headwater stream losses of nitrogen from two coastal plain watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 14(4):467–472.

Jacobs, T.C. and J.W. Gilliam. 1983. Nitrate loss from agricultural drainage waters: Implications for nonpoint source control. Water Resources Research Institute Report No. 83-209.1. North Carolina State University. Raleigh, NC.

James, B.R., B.B. Bagley, and P.H. Gallagher, 1990. Riparian zone vegetation effects on nitrate concentrations in shallow groundwater. In: J.H. Mihursky and A. Chaney (eds.), New Perspectives In The Chesapeake System: A Research and Management Partnership. Chesapeake Research Consortium Publication No. 137. Solomons, MD. pp. 605–611.

Jaworski, N.A. 1981. Sources of nutrients and the scale of eutrophication problems in estuaries. In: B.J. Neilson and L.E. Cronin (eds.), *Estuaries and Nutrients*. Humana Press, Clifton, NJ, pp. 83–110.

Johengen, T.H., A.M. Beeton, and D.W. Rice. 1989, Evaluating the effectiveness of best management practices to reduce agricultural nonpoint source pollution. *Lake and Reservoir Management* 5(1):63–70.

Johnston, C.A. 1991. Sediment and nutrient retention by freshwater wetlands: Effects on surface water quality. *Critical Reveiws of Environmental Control* **21(5–6)**:491–565.

Johnston, C.A., N.E. Detenbeck, and G.J. Niemi. 1990. The cumulative effect of wetlands on stream water quality and quantity: A landscape approach. *Biogeochemistry* **10**:105–141.

Johnston, C.A., G.D. Bubenzer, G.B. Lee, F.W. Madison, and J.R. McHenry. 1984. Nutrient trapping by sediment deposition in a seasonally flooded lakeside wetland. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 13:283–290.

Jones, R.D. and P.A. Schwab. 1993. Nitrate leaching and nitrate occurrence in a fine-textured soil. *Soil Science* **155**:272–282,

Jordan, T.E., D.L. Correll, and D.E. Weller. 1993. Nutrient interception by a riparian forest receiving inputs from adjacent cropland. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **22(3)**:467–473.

Jordan, R.A. and J.K. Shisler. 1988. Research needs for the use of buffer zones for wetland protection. In: J.A. Kusler, M. Quammen, and G. Brooks (eds.), *Proceedings of the National Wetland Symposium: Mitigation of Impacts and Losses.* Association of State Wetland Managers. Berne, NY. pp. 433-435.

Jordan, T.E., D.L. Correll, J. Miklas, and D.E. Weller. 1991. Nutrients and chlorophyll at the interface of a watershed and an estuary. *Linnology and Oceanography* **36**:251–267. Jordan, T.E., D.L. Correll, W.T. Peterjohn, and D.E. Weller. 1986. Nutrient flux in a landscape: The Rhode River watershed and receiving waters. In: D.L. Correll (ed.), *Watershed Research Perspectives*. Smithsonian Institute Press. Washington, DC, pp. 57-76.

Joyce, K., R.L. Todd, and L.E. Asmussen. 1985. Dissolved oxygen, total organic carbon and temperature relationships in southeastern U.S. coastal plain watersheds. *Agricultural Water Management* **9**:313–324.

Jung, G.A., J.A. Shaffer, W.L. Stout, and M.T. Panciera, 1990. Warm-season grass diversity in yield, plant morphology, and nitrogen concentration and removal in Northeastern USA. *Agronomy Journal* **82**:21~26.

Kao, D.T.Y., B.J. Barfield, and A.E. Lyons, Jr. 1975. Onsite sediment filtration using grass strips. In: *National Symposium on Urban Hydrology and Sediment Control*. University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, pp. 73–82.

Karcher, W.C. and J.C. Landon. 1983. Grassy swales prove cost-effective for water pollution control. *Public Works* 114:53–54.

Karr, J.R. and I.J. Schlosser. 1978. Water resources and the land water interface. *Science* 201:229-234.

Karr, J.R. and I.J. Schlosser. 1977. Impact of nearstream vegetation and stream morphology on water quality and stream biota. United States Environmental Protection Agency Document No. EPA-600/3-77-097.

Keeney, D. 1987. Sources of nitrate to groundwater. CRC Critical Reviews In Environmental Control 16:257–304.

Kenimer, A.L., S. Mostaghimi, and T.A. Dillaha. 1989. PLIERS: pesticide losses in erosion and runoff simulator. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **32**:127–136.

Keskitalo, J. 1990. Occurrence of vegetated buffer zones along brooks in the catchment area of Lake Tuusulanjaervi, south Finland. *Aqua Fennica* **20(1)**:55–64.

Knisel, W.G. (ed.). 1980. CREAMS: A field-scale model for chemicals, runoff, and erosion from agricultural management systems. United States Department of Agriculture. Conservation Research Report No. 26,

Kovacic, D.A., L.L. Osborne, and B.C. Dickson. 1991, Buffer strips and nonpoint source pollution. Illinois Natural History Survey Reports No. 304.

Kuenzler, E.J. 1989. Value of forested wetlands as filters for sediments and nutrients. In: D.D. Hook and R. Lea (eds.), *The Forested Wetlands of the Southern United States*. United States Forest Service General Technical Report SE-50. Orlando, FL, pp. 85–96. Kuenzler, E.J. 1988. Sewage nutrient removal by North Carolina swamp systems. In: Lyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings of a Symposium on Coastal Water Resources*. Technical Publication Service of the American Water Resources Association, MD, pp. 281–292.

Kuske, J. 1991. Water quality and forestry, January 1982—July 1990. Quick Bibliography Series QB 91-53. National Agricultural Library. Beltsville, MD, 31 pp.

Kusler, J.A. and S. Daly (eds.), 1989. Wetlands and River Corridor Management. Association of Wetland Managers. Berne, NY, 520 pp.

Labaree, J.M. 1992. How greenways work: A handbook on ecology. National Park Service and Atlantic Center for the Environment. Ipswich, MA, 50 pp.

Laflen, J.M. and D.C. Flanagan. 1992. A powerful tool. WEPP analyzes how farming and land use affects soil erosion, sediment delivery and sustainable practices. *Agricultural Engineering* **73**:18–19.

Lake, J. and J. Morrison. 1977. Environmental impacts of land use on water quality. Final report on the Black Creek project. EPA-905/9-77-007-A. United States Environmental Protection Agency Great Lakes National Program Office. Chicago, IL 106 pp.

Lamb, B.E., A.J. Gold, and G.W. Loomis. 1991. Nitrogen removal for on-site sewage disposal: Field evaluation of buried sand filter/greywater systems. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 34:883–889.

Lamb, B., A.J. Gold, G. Loomis, and C. McKiel. 1988. Evaluation of πitrogen removal systems for on-site sewage disposal. On-Site Wastewater Treatment Vol. No. 5, American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 10-87, St. Joseph, MI, pp. 151–160.

Lance, J.C. 1972. Nitrogen removal by soil mechanisms. Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation 44(7):1352–1361.

Lance, J.C. and C.P. Gerba. 1984. Virus movement in soil during saturated and unsaturated flow. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **47**:335-337.

Leak, W.B. and C.W. Martin. 1975. Relationship of stand age to streamwater nitrate in New Hampshire. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service Research Note NE-211. 5 pp.

Lee, C.R. et al. 1976. Highlights of research on overland flow for advanced treatment of wastewater. Paper Y-76-6. United States Army Corp of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station. Vicksburg, MS.

Lee, D.L., T.A. Dillaha, and J.H. Sherrard. 1989. Modeling phosphorus transport in grass buffer strips. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* **115**:409–427. Lee, L.C. and J.G. Gosselink. 1988. Cumulative impacts on wetlands: Linking scientific assessment and regulatory alternatives. *Environmental Management* **2(5)**:591–602.

Lee, V. and S. Olsen. 1985. Eutrophication and management initiatives for the control of nutrient inputs to Rhode Island coastal lagoons. *Estuaries* 8:191--202.

Leedy, D.L. 1979. An annotated bibliography on planning and management for urban-suburban wildlife. United States Fish and Wildlife Service Report No. FWS/OBS-79/25. Washington, DC, 256 pp.

Leedy, D.L. and L.W. Adams. 1984. A guide to urban wildlife management. National Institute for Urban Wildlife. Columbia, MD. 42 pp.

Leedy, D.L., R.M. Maestro, and T.M. Franklin. 1978. Planning for wildlife in cities and suburbs. Urban Wildlife Research Center, Inc. Ellicott City, MD.

Lemunyon, J.L. 1991. Grass species influence on the fate of nitrogen entrapped in vegetated filter strips. Ph.D. thesis, University Rhode Island, Kingston, RL

Lewis, R.L. III. (ed.). 1982. Creation and Restoration of Coastal Plant Communities. CRC Press, Inc. Boca Raton, FL.

Logan, J. 1990. Agricultural best management practices and groundwater protection. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **45(2)**:201–206,

Lovejoy, T.E. and D.C. Oren. 1981. The minimum critical size of ecosystems. In: R.L. Burgess and D.M. Sharpe (eds.), *Forest Island Dynamics in Man-Dominated Landscapes*. Ecological Studies #41. Springer-Verlag. New York, NY. pp. 7–12.

Lowrance, R.R. 1992. Groundwater nitrate and denitrification in a coastal plain riparian forest. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 21:401–405.

Lowrance, R.R. and R.A. Leonard. 1988. Streamflow nutrient dynamics on coastal plain watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **17**:734–740.

Lowrance, R.R., J.K. Sharpe, and J.M. Sheridan. 1986. Long term sediment deposition in the riparian zone of a coastal plain watershed. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **41**:266–271.

Lowrance, R.R., R. Leonard, and J. Sheridan. 1985a. Managing riparian ecosystems to control nonpoint pollution. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation **40(1)**:87–97.

Lowrance, R.R., R.A. Leonard, and L.E. Asmussen. 1985b. Nutrient budgets for agricultural watersheds in the Southeastern Coastal Plain. *Ecology* **66**:287–296.

Lowrance, R.R., R.L. Todd, and L.E. Asmussen, 1984a. Nutrient cycling in an agricultural watershed: I. Phreatic movement. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **13**(1):22–27. Lowrance, R.R., R.L. Todd, and L.E. Asmussen. 1984b. Nutrient cycling in an agricultural watershed: II. Streamflow and artificial drainage. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 13(1):27-32.

Lowrance, R.R., R. Todd, J. Fail, O. Hendrickson, R. Leonard, and L. Asmussen. 1984c. Riparian forests as nutrient filters in agricultural watersheds. *BioScience* 34:374–377.

Lowrance, R.R., R.L. Todd, L.E. Asmussen, and R.A. Leonard (eds.). 1983a. *Nutrient Cycling In Agricultural Ecosystems*. University of Georgia College of Agriculture, SP No. 23.

Lowrance, R.R., R.L. Todd, and L.E. Asmussen. 1983b. Waterborne nutrient budgets for the riparian zone of an agricultural watershed. *Agriculture*. *Ecosystems*, and *Environment* **10**:371–384.

Lyle, J.T. 1987. A general approach to landscape design for wildlife habitat. In: L.W. Adams and D.L. Leedy (eds.), *Integrating Man and Nature in the Metropolitan Environment*. National Institute for Urban Wildlife. Columbia, MD, pp. 87– 91.

Lynch, J.A. and E.S. Corbett. 1990. Evaluation of best management practices for controlling nonpoint pollution from silvicultural operations. *Water Resources Bulletin* 26:41-52.

Lynch, J.A., E.S. Corbett, and K. Mussallem. 1985, Best management practices for controlling nonpoint source pollution on forested watersheds. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **40**:164–167.

MacClintock, L., B.L. Whitcomb, and R.F. Whitcomb. 1977. Evidence for the values of corridors and minimization of isolations in preservation of biotic diversity. *American Birds* **31**:6–12.

Madison, R.J. and J.O. Brunett. 1985. Overview of the occurrences of nitrates in groundwater of the United States. United States Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 2275. pp. 93–105.

Magette, W.L., R.B. Brinsfield, R.E. Palmer, and J.D. Wood. 1989. Nutrient and sediment removal by vegetated filter strips. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **32**(2):663–667.

Magette, W.L., R.B. Brinsfield, R.E. Palmer, J.D. Wood, T.A. Dillaha, and R.B. Reneau, 1987. Vegetated filter strips for agriculture runoff treatment. United States Environmental Protection Agency Region III, Report No. CBP/TRS 2/87-003314-01.

Magette, W.L., R.B. Brinsfield, R.E. Palmer, and J.D. Wood. 1986. Vegetated filter strips for nonpoint source pollution control. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 86-2024. St. Joseph, MI.

Mann, R. 1975. Aesthetic Resources of the Coastal Zone. Roy Mann Associates, Inc. Cambridge, MA, 199 pp. Mannering, J.V. and C.B. Johnson. 1974. First Annual Report, Black Creek Study Project, Allen County, Indiana. Soil and Water Conservation District. Fort Wayne, IN

Margules, C.R., A.O. Nicholls, and R.L. Pressey, 1988, Selecting networks of reserves to maximize biological diversity. *Biological Conservation* **43**(1):63–76.

Marsalek, J. 1990. Evaluation of pollutant loads from urban nonpoint sources. *Water Science Technology* **22(10**/11):23-30.

Marsh, W.M. 1991, Landscape Planning: Environmental Applications. John Wiley and Sons, Inc. New York, NY.

Martin, C.W., D.S. Noel, and C.A. Federer, 1985. Clearcutting and the biogeochemistry of streamwater in New England. *Journal of Forestry* **83**(11):686–689.

Martin, C.W., D.S. Noel, and C.A. Federer. 1984. Effects of forest clearcutting in New England on stream chemistry. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **13(2)**:204–210.

Martin, C.W. and R.S. Pierce, 1980. Clearcutting patterns affect nitrate and calcium in streams of New Hampshire. *Journal of Forestry* **78**:268–272.

Martin, E.H. 1986. Effectiveness of an urban runoff detention pond-wetland system. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* **114**:810–827.

Matthews, F.E. and K.E. Moore. 1989. The Wekiva River buffer experience: Land use in the forth dimension. In: J.A. Kusler and S. Daly (eds.), *Wetlands and River Corridor Management*. Association of Wetland Managers. Berne, NY, pp. 464–469.

McCall, E.C. and M.E. Meadows, 1988. Impact of septic tanks on coastal water resources. In: Lyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings of a Symposium on Coastal Water Resources*, Technical Publication Series of the American Water Resources Association, MD, pp. 497~504.

Meals, D.W. 1991. Surface water trends and land use treatment. United States Environmental Protection Agency Office of Research and Development and Office of Water. Washington, DC. EPA Report No. EPA/625/4-91/027.

Meals, D.W. 1989. Bacteriological water quality in Vermont agricultural watersheds undergoing land treatment. *Lake and Reservoir Management* 5(1):53-62.

Mitsch, W.J. 1992. Landscape design and the role of created, restored, and natural riparian wetlands in controlling nonpoint source pollution. *Ecological Engineering* 1:27–47.

Moring, J.R. 1982. Decrease in stream gravel permeability after clear-cut logging: An indication of intergravel conditions for developing salmonid eggs and alevins. *Hydrobiologia* **88**:295–298. Morton, T.G., A.J. Gold, and W.M. Sullivan. 1988. Influence of overwatering and fertilization on nitrogen losses from home lawns. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **17**(1):124–130.

Mostaghimi, S., M.M. Deizman, and T.A. Dillaha. 1989. Impact of land application of sewage sludge on runoff water quality. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **32**:491-496.

Muscutt, A.D., G.L. Harris, S.W. Bailey, and D.B. Davies. 1993. Buffer zones to improve water quality: A review of their potential use in UK agriculture. *Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment* **45**(1–2):59–77.

Myrold, D.D. and J.M. Tiedje. 1985. Establishment of denitrification capacity in soil: Effects of earbon, nitrate and moisture. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **17**:819–822.

Naiman, R.J., H. Decamps, and M. Pollock. 1993. The role of riparian corridors in maintaining regional biodiversity, *Ecological Applications* **3**(2):209–212.

Naveh, Z. and A.S. Lieberman. 1984. Landscape Ecology: Theory and Applications. Springer-Verlag. New York, NY, 356 pp.

Neibling, W.H., W.C. Moldenhauer, and B.M. Holmes. 1983. Evaluation and comparison of two methods for characterization of sediment size distribution. *Transaction of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **26**:472–480.

Neibling, W.H. and E.E. Alberts. 1979. Composition and yield of soil particles transported through sod strips. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 79-2065. St. Joseph, Mf.

New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. 1989. Evaluation and Recommendations Concerning Buffer Zones Around Public Water Supply Reservoirs. Trenton, NJ.

New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. 1983. Technical Basis for 25-Foot-Wide and 50-Foot-Wide Buffer Strips. Trenton, NJ.

Newberry, D.G.S. 1992. Management of urban riparian systems for nitrate reduction. United States Environment Protection Agency Region 5. Chicago, IL.

Newbold, J.D. 1977. The use of benthic macroinvertebrates as indicators of logging impact on streams with an evaluation of buffer strip effectiveness. Ph.D. thesis, University of California, Berkeley, CA, 103 pp.

Newbold, J.D., D.C. Erman, and K.B. Roby. 1980. Effects of logging on macroinvertebrates in streams with and without buffer strips. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **37**:1076–1085.

Nichols, D.S. 1983. Capacity of natural wetlands to remove nutrients from wastewater. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation* **55**(5):495-502. Niedziałkowski, D. and D. Athayde, 1985. Water quality data and urban nonpoint source pollution: The Nationwide Urban Runoff Program. In: *Perspectives on Nonpoint Source Pollution*. United States Environmental Protection Agency Report No. EPA-440/4-85-001. Washington, DC, pp. 437– 441.

Niering, W.A. 1979. Our wetland heritage: Historic, artistic, and future perspectives. In: P.E. Greeson, J.R. Clark, J.E. Clark (eds.), *Wetland Functions and Values: The State Of Our Understanding*. American Water Resources Association Technical Publication No. TPS79-2, pp. 505–522

Nieswand, G.H., R.M. Hordon, T.B. Shelton, B.B. Chavooshian, and S. Blarr. 1990. Buffer strips to protect water supply reservoirs: A model and recommendations. *Water Resources Bulletin* **26(6)**:959–966.

Nilson, D.J. and R.S. Diamond. 1989. Wetland buffer delineation method for coastal New Jersey. In: J.A. Kusler and S. Daly (eds.), *Wetlands and River Corridor Management*. Association of Wetland Managers, Inc. Berne, NY, pp. 381– 386.

Nixon, S.W. 1980. Between coastal marshes and coastal waters. A review of twenty years of speculation and research on the role of salt marshes in estuarine productivity and water chemistry. In: P. Hamilton and K.B. MacDonald (eds.), *Estuarine and Wetland Processes*. Plenum Publishing Corporation, New York, NY, pp. 437–525.

Nixon, S.W. and V. Lee, 1986. Wetlands and Water Quality: A regional review of recent research in the United States on the role of freshwater and saltwater wetlands as sources, sinks, and transformers of nitrogen, phosphorus and various heavy metals. United States Army Corps of Engineers Technical Report Y-86-2, Washington, DC, 229 pp.

Norman, D.A., W.M. Edwards, and L.B. Owens, 1978. Design criteria for grass filter areas. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 78-2573. St. Joseph, MI.

Noss, R.F. 1987a. Corridors in real landscapes: A reply to Simberloff and Cox, *Conservation Biology* 1:159–164.

Noss, R.F. 1987b. Protecting natural areas in fragmented landscapes. *Natural Areas Journal* 7:2–13.

Noss, R.F. 1983. A regional landscape approach to maintain diversity. *BioScience* **33**:700–706.

Noss, R.F. and L.D. Harris. 1986. Nodes. networks, and MUMs: Preserving diversity at all scales. *Environmental Management* **10**:299–309.

Novotny, V. and J. Chesters. 1981. Handbook of Nonpoint Pollution: Sources and Management. Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York, NY, 555 pp.

Nutter, W.L. and J.W. Gaskin. 1989. Role of streamside management zones in controlling discharges to wetlands. In:

Hook, D.D. and R. Lea (eds.), *The Forested Wetlands Of The Southern United States*. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service General Technical Report SE-50. Atlanta, GA, pp. 81–84.

Obenhuber, D.C. and R. Lowrance. 1991. Reduction of nitrate in aquifer microcosms by carbon additions. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 20:255–258.

Omernick, J.M. 1977. Nonpoint-source-stream nutrient level relationships: A nationwide survey. United States Environmental Protection Agency Report No. EPA-600/3-77-105. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Corvallis, OR.

Omernick, J.M. 1976. The influence of land use on stream nutrient levels. United States Environmental Protection Agency Report No. 600/3-76-014.

Omernick, J.M. and R.M. Hughes, 1983. An approach for defining regional patterns of aquatic ecosystems and attainable stream quality in Ohio. Progress Report to Ohio EPA and Region V U.S. EPA, Corvallis Environmental Research Laboratory, Corvallis, OR.

Omemick, J.M., A.R. Abernathy, and L.M. Male. 1981. Stream nutrient levels and proximity of agricultural and forest tands to streams: Some relationships. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **36(4)**:227–231.

Osborne, L.L. and D.A. Kovacic. 1993. Riparian vegctated buffer strips in water quality restoration and stream management. *Freshwater Biology* **29**:243–258.

Osborne, L.L. and M.J. Wiley, 1988. Empirical relationship between land use/cover and stream water quality in an agricultural watershed. *Journal of Environmental Management* **26:9–**27.

Osteen, C., W.D. Seitz, and J.B. Staff, 1981, Managing land to meet water quality goals. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* (May-June):138–141.

Overcash, M.R., S.C. Bingham, and P.W. Westerman. 1981. Predicting runoff pollutant reduction in buffer zones adjacent to land treatment sites. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 24(2):430–435.

Owens, L.B., W.M. Edwards, and R.W. Van Keuren. 1991. Baseflow and stormflow transport of nutrients from mixed agricultural watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **20**:407–414.

Owens, L.B., W.M. Edwards, and R.W. Van Keuren. 1989. Sediment and nutrient losses from an unimproved, allyear grazed watershed. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 18:232-238.

Owens, L.B., W.M. Edwards, and R.W. Van Keuren. 1983. Surface runoff water quality comparisons between unimproved pasture and woodland. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 12:518–522. Palazzo, A.J. 1981. Seasonal growth and accumulation of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium by orchardgrass irrigated with municipal waste water. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **10:64–68**.

Palfrey, R. and E. Bradley. 1982. The Buffer Area Study. Maryland Department of Natural Resources, Tidewater Administration, Coastal Resources Division, Annapolis, MD.

Palfrey, R. and E.H. Bradley, Jr. 1981. Natural buffer areas: An annotated bibliography. Coastal Resources Division, Tidewater Administration, Maryland Department of Natural Resources, Annapolis, MD.

Palmstrom, N. 1991. Vegetated buffer strip designation method guidance manual. Narragansett Bay Project Final Report No. NBP-91-55. Providence, RI. 30 pp.

Paterson, J.J., J.H. Jones, F.J. Olsen, and G.C. McCoy. 1980. Dairy liquid waste distribution in an overland flow vegetative-soil filter system. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 23:973–977

Persky, J.H. 1986. The relation of ground-water quality to housing density. Cape Cod, Massachusetts. United States Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 86-4093. 28 pp.

Peterjohn, W.T. and D.L. Correll. 1986. The effect of riparian forest on the volume and chemical composition of baseflow in an agricultural watershed. In: D.L. Correll (ed.), *Watershed Research Perspectives*. Smithsonian Institute Press. Washington, DC. pp. 244-262.

Peterjohn, W.T. and D.L. Correll. 1984. Nutrient dynamics in agricultural watersheds: Observations on the role of riparian forests. *Ecology* **65**(5):1466–1475.

Peters, R.E., et al. 1981. Field investigations of overland flow treatment of municipal lagoon effluent. Technical Report EL-81-9, United States Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station. Vicksburg, MS.

Petrovic, A.M. 1990. The fate of nitrogenous fertilizer applied to turfgrass. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **19**:1–14.

Phillips, J.D. 1989a. An evaluation of factors determining the effectiveness of water quality buffer zones. *Journal of Hydrology* **107**:133–145.

Phillips, J.D. 1989b. Nonpoint source pollution control effectiveness of riparian forests along a coastal plain river. *Journal of Hydrology* **110**(3/4):221–237.

Phillips, J.D. 1989c. Evaluation of North Carolina's estuarine shoreline area of environmental concern from a water quality perspective. *Coastal Management* **17**:103–117.

Phillips, J.D. 1989d. Effect of buffer zones on estuarine and riparian land use in eastern North Carolina. *Southeastern Geographer* 29(2):136–149. Phillips, J.D. and L.R. Phillips, 1988a. Defineation of shoreline buffer zones for stormwater pollution control. In Lyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings of a Symposium on Coastal Water Resources*. Technical Publication Series of the American Water Resources Association. MD, pp. 351–358.

Phillips, L.R. and J.D. Phillips, 1988b. Land use planning technique for estuarine shoreline buffer zone establishment. In: Lyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings of a Symposium on Coastal Water Resources* Technical Publication Series of the American Water Resources Association MD, pp. 635–640.

Pitt, D.G. 1990. Land Use Policy: A key to ground water management. Water Resources Information. University of Maryland Cooperative Extension Service. Water Resource Publ. No. 33

Pitt, D.G., W. Gould, Jr., and L. LaSota. 1990. Landscape design to reduce surface water pollution in residential area. Water Resources Information. University of Maryland Cioperative Extension Servace. Water Resource Publ. No. 32.

Plummer, J.L. 1993. Vegetative buffers along coastalwaters: A case study of the Chesapeake Bay Critical Area Program. Master's of Science thesis, Clemson University, Clemson, South Carolina, 134 pp.

Porter, B W. 1981. The wetland edge as a community and its value to wildlife. In: Proceedings of the Midsest Conference on Wetlands Values and Management. Freshwater Society, Navarre, MN, pp. 15–25.

Power, J.F. 1985. Nitrogen- and water-use efficiency of several cool-season grasses receiving ammonium nitrate for 9 years. Agronomy Journal 77:189-192.

Power, J.F. and J.S. Schepers, 1989. Nitrate contamination of groundwater in North America. Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment 26:165–187.

Preul, H.C. 1966. Underground movement of nitrogen. Advancements in Water Pollution Research 1:309–323.

Preul, H.C. and G.J. Schroepfer. 1968. Travel of nitrogenin soils. Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation 40:30-48.

Ranney, J.W., M.C. Bruner, and J.B. Levenson. 1981. The importance of edge in the structure and dynamics of forest islands. In: R.L. Burgess and D.M. Sharpe (eds.), *Forest Island Dynamics in Man-Dominated Landscapes*. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, pp. 67–95.

Rasmussen, W.O. 1990. Predicting visual buffer strips in a forested environment. *Journal of Environmental Management* 36:83-94.

Reckkhow, K.H., J.B. Butcher, and C.M. Martin. 1985. Pollutant runoff models: Selection and use in decision making. *Water Resources Bulletin* **21**(2):185-195. Reppert, R.T., W. Sigleo, E. Stakhiv, L. Messman, and C. Meyers. 1979. Wetland values: Concepts and methods for wetlands evaluation. United States Army Corps of Engineers. Institute for Water Resources Research Report No. 79-R1, 109 pp.

Reuler, J.E., T. Djohan, and C.R. Goldman. 1992. The use of wetlands for nutrient removal from surface ranoff in a cold climate region of California - results from a newly constructed wetland at Lake Tahoe. *Journal of Environmental Management* **36**:35–53.

Rhodes, J., C.M. Skau, D. Greenlee, and D. Brown. 1985 Quantification of nitrate uptake by riparian forests and wetlands in an undisturbed headwaters watershed. In: R.R. Johnson, C.D. Ziebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Foltiott, and R.H. Hamre (eds.), *Riparian Ecosystems and Their Management Reconciling Conflicting Uses*. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service General Technical Report RM-120, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. Fort Collins, CO. pp. 175–178.

Ritter, W.E. and R.P. Eastburn. 1988. A review of dentrification in on-site wastewater treatment systems. *Environmental Pollution* **51**(1):49-61.

Ritter, W.F. and A.E.M. Chirnside, 1984. Impact of landuse on ground-water quality in southern Delaware. *Groundwatter* 22:38–47.

Robbat, A. and J.R. Sabol. 1988, Summary Report: The literature review of ecological benefits of the Conservation Reserve Program. American Management Systems, Inc. Prepared for United States Environmental Protection Agency, Science-Policy Integration Branch, Washington, DC.

Rogers, Golden & Halpern, Inc. 1988. Wetland buffer delineation method, Prepared for the Division of Coastal Resources. New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. Trenton, NJ, 69 pp.

Roman, C.T. and R.E. Good. 1985. Buffer delineation model for New Jersey Pinelands wetlands, Rutgers University Center for Coastal and Environmental Studies, Division of Pinelands Research, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ.

Roman, C.T. and R.E. Good, 1983. Wetlands of the New Jersey Pinelands: Values, functions, impacts and a proposed buffer delineation model. Center for Coastal and Environmental Studies, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ.

Ryther, J.A. and W.M. Dunstan. 1971. Nitrogen, phosphorus, and eutrophication in the coastal marine environment. *Science* **171**:1008–1013.

Salo, E.O. and T.W. Cundy (eds.). 1987. Proceedings of the Symposium on Streamside Management: Forestry and Fishers Interactions. Contribution No. 57, Institute of Forest Resources, University Washington, Seattle, WA, 471 pp. Schaefer, J.M. and M.T. Brown, 1992. Designing and protecting river corridors for wildlife, *Rivers* 3(1):14–16.

Schellinger, G.R. and J.C. Clausen, 1992. Vegetative lifter treatment of dairy barnyard runoff in cold regions. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 21:40–45.

Schiffer, D.M. 1988. Effects of pretreatment of highway runoff on quality of wetland bed sediments. In: Uyke and Hoban (eds.), *Proceedings of a Symposium on Coastal Water Resources*. Technical Publication Series of the American Water Resources Association, MD, pp. 293–298.

Schipper, L.A., W.J. Dyck, P.G. Barton, and P.D. Hodgkiss, 1989. Nitrogen renovation by denitrification in a forest sewer irrigation system. *Biological Wastes* 29:181–187.

Schlosser, I.J. and J.R. Karr. 1981a. Water quality in agricultural watersheds: Impact of riparian vegetation during base flow. *Water Resources Bulletin* 17:233–240

Schlosser, EJ, and J.R. Karr. 1981b. Riparian vegetation and channel morphology impact on spatial patterns of waterquality in agricultural watersheds. *Environmental Management* 5:233–243.

Schonewald-Cox, C.M. 1988. Boundaries in the protection of nature reserves. *BioScience* 38:480-486.

Schueler, T.R. 1992. A current assessment of urban best management practices. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.

Schueler, T.R. 1987. Controlling urban ranoff: A practical manual for planning and designing urban BMPs. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.

Schueler, T.R., P.A. Kimble, and M.A. Heraty. 1992. A current assessment of urban best management practices: Techniques for reducing non-point source pollation in the coastal zone. Dept. of Environmental Programs, Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.

Schueler, T.R. and M.R. Bley, 1987. A framework for evaluating compliance with the 10% rule in the Chesapeake Bay critical area. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments Department of Environmental Programs. Washington, DC.

Schwer, C.B. and J.C. Clausen. 1989. Vegetative filtertreatment of dairy milkbouse wastewater. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 18:446-451.

Scott, T. and P. Fulton. 1978. Removal of pollutants in the overland flow (grass infiltration) system. *Proceedings of an International Conference on Developments in Land Methods of Wastewater Treatment and Utilization*. Melbourne, Australia.

Shaffer, M. 1981. Minimum population sizes for species conservation. *BioScience* 31:131–134.

Sheridan, J.M. and R.K. Hubbard. 1987. Transport of solids in streamflow from Coastal Plain watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 16:131–136.

Shisler, J.K., P.F. Waidelich, H.G. Russel, and R.B. Piel. 1987. Buffer zones in wetland management practice. *Proceedings of the 10th National Conference on Estuarine and Coastal Management*. Volume 2: pp. 781. (Abstract Only)

Shisler, J.K., P.E. Waldelich, H.G. Russell, and R.A. Jordan. 1985. Coastal wellands: Wetland buffer delineation study - Task 4. New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station Publication No. P-40502-02-85. Rutgers University. New Brunswick, NJ.

Short, H.L. 1985. Management goals and habitat structure. In: R.R. Johnson, C.D. Zaebell, D.R. Patton, P.F. Folliott, and R.H. Hamre (eds.), *Riparuan Ecosystems and Their Management: Reconciling Conflicting Uses*. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service General Technical Report RM-120, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. Fort Collins, CO, pp. 257–262.

Simberloff, D. and J. Cox. 1987. Consequences and costs of conservation corridors. *Conservation Biology* 1:63–71.

Sinseoni, A.E., Jr. 1979. A study of regional development along the south shore region of Rhode Island, using a visual approach based on existing environmental factors. Master's of Science thesis, Cornell University. Ithaca, NY, 72 pp.

Simmons, R.C., A.J. Gold, and P.M. Groffman. 1992. Nutrate dynamics in operian forests: Groundwater studies. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **21(4)**:659–665.

Slater, J.M. and D.G. Capone, 1987. Denitrification in aquifer soil and nearshore marine sediments influenced by groundwater nitrate. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 53:1292–1297.

Smardon, R.C. (ed.), 1983. The Future of Werlands. Assessing Visual-Cultural Values: Allenheld-Osum Publishers, Totawa, NJ.

Smith, C.T. 1989. The filter strip concept: Maintaining water quality in the managed forest. In: R.D. Briggs, W.B. Krohn, et al (eds.), *Forest and Wildlife Management in New Figland - What can we afford?* Mame Agricultural Experiment Station Report 336.

Smith, R.L. and J.H. Duff. 1988. Denitrification in a sand and gravel aquifer. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 54:1071–1078.

Soil Conservation Service, 1989, Conservation practice standards for vegetated filter strips. United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC.

Soil Conservation Service, 3982, Filter Strip (acre), Soil Conservation Service (SCS), Filter Strip 393,

Spurt, S.H. and B.V. Barnes, 1980. Forest Ecology, Thirdedition. Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, NY,

Staley, T.E., W.L. Stout, and G.A. Jung. 1991. Nitrogen use by tall fescue and switchgrass on acidic soits of varying water holding capacity. *Agronomy Journal* 83:732–738.

Stearns, L.J., E.O. Ackerman, and A.G. Taylor. 1982. Illinois vegetative filter design criteria. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 82-2613, St. Joseph, MI.

Steinblums, I.J., H.A. Froehlich, and J.K. Lyons, 1984. Designing stable buffer strips for stream protection. *Journal of Forestry* **82**:49–52.

Storm, D.E., T.A. Dillaha, and S. Mostaghimi. 1988. Modeling phosphorus transport in surface runoff. *Transactions* of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers **31**:117– 127.

Swift, L.W., Jr. 1986. Filter strip widths for forest roads in the southern Appalachians. *Southern Journal of Appalachian Forestry* **10**(1):27–34.

Swift, L.W., Jr. 1984. Gravel and grass surfacing reduces soil loss from mountain roads. *Forest Science* **30**:657–670.

Swift, L.W. and S.E. Baker, 1973. Lower water temperatures within a streamside buffer strip. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service Research Note SE-193, 7 pp.

Syers, J.K., R.F. Harris, and D.E. Armstrong. 1973. Phosphate chemistry in lake sediments. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 2:1-14.

Tassone, J.F. 1981. Utility of hardwood leave strips for breeding birds in Virginia's central Piedmont. Master's of Science thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State College, Blacksburg, VA, 83 pp.

Terry, R.V., W.L. Powers, R.V. Olson, L.S. Murphy, and R.M. Robinson. 1981. The effect of beef feedlot ranoff on the nitrate-nitrogen content of a shallow aquifer. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **10**:22–26.

Tew, D.T., L.A. Morris, and H.L. Allen. 1986. Estimates of nutrient removal, displacement and loss resulting from harvest and site preparation of a *Pinus taeda* plantation in the Piedmont of North Carolina. *Forest Ecology and Management* 15:257–267.

Thomas, D.L., P.G. Hunt, and J.W. Gilliam. 1992. Water table management for water quality improvement. *Journal of Soil & Water Conservation* 47:65–70.

Thompson, D.B., T.L. Loudon, and J.B. Gerrish. 1978. Winter and spring runoff from manure application plots. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 78-2032. St. Joseph, MI. Todd, R.L., R.R. Lowrance, O. Hendrickson, L. Asmussen, R. Leonard, J. Fail, and B. Herrick. 1983. Riparian vegetation as filters of nutrients exported from a coastal plain agricultural watershed. In: R.R. Lowrance, R.L. Todd, L.E. Asmussen, and R.A. Leonard (eds.), *Nutrient Cycling In Agricultural Ecosystems*. University of Georgia College of Agriculture SP No. 23, pp. 485–496.

Tollner, E.W. and J.C. Hayes, 1986. Measuring soil aggregate characteristics for water erosion research and engineering: A review. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **29**:1582–1589.

Tollner, E.W., B.J. Barfield, C.T. Haan, and T.Y. Kao. 1976. Suspended sediment filtration capacity of simulated vegetation. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **19(11)**:678-682.

Tollner, E.W., B.J. Barfield, C. Vachirakornwatana, and C.T. Haan. 1977. Sediment deposition patterns in simulated grass filters. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **20**(5):940–944

Trimble, G.R., Jr. and R.S. Sartz. 1957. How far from a logging road should a logging road be located? *Journal of Forestry* **55**:339–341.

Triquet, A.M., G.A. McPeek, and W.C. McComb. 1990. Songbird diversity in clearcuts with and without a riparian buffer strip. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **45**:500– 503.

Trudell, M.R., R.W. Gillham, and J.A. Cherry, 1986. An in-situ study of the occurrence and rate of denitrification in a shallow unconfined sand aquifer. *Journal of Hydrology* **83**:251–268.

United States Army Corps of Engineers, 1991, Buffer strips for riparian zone management (A literature review). United States Army Corps of Engineers New England Division, Waltham, MA, 56 pp.

United States Army Corps of Engineers, 1980. A habitat evaluation system (HES) for water resources planning. Lower Mississippi Valley Division. Vicksburg. MS, 89 pp.

United States Department of Agriculture, 1991. National Handbook of Conservation Practices. United States Department of Agriculture Soil Conservation Service. Washington, DC.

United States Department of Agriculture, 1980. CREAMS: A field scale model for chemiculs, runoff, and erosion from agricultural systems. United States Department of Agriculture Conservation Research Report No. 26, 643 pp.

United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1993. Guidance Specifying Management Measures For Sources of Nonpoint Pollution In Coastal Waters. Office of Water. Publication No. 840-B-92-002. Washington, DC. United States University Protection Agency, 1983. Results of the nationwide urban runoff program -> executive summary National Technical Information Service Publication No. PB84-185545, Springfield, VA.

United States Fish and Wildlife Service, 1980. *Habitatevaluation procedures*. Division of Ecological Services, USFWS, Department of the Interior, Washington, DC, ESM 102.

Urban, D.L., R.V. O'Neil, and H.H. Shugart, Jr. 1987. Landscape ecology. *BioScience* 37(2):419–127.

Valiela, I., K. Foreman, M. LaMontagne, D. Hersh, J. Costa, P. Peckol, B. DeMeo-Anderson, C. D'Avanzo, M. Babione, C.H. Sham, J. Brawley, and K. Lajtha. 1992. Couplings of watersheds and coastal waters: Sources and consequences of nutrient enrichment in Waquoit Bay, Massachussetts. *Estuaries* 15(4):443–457.

Vanderholm, D.H., E.C. Dickey, J.A. Jackobs, R.W. Elmore, and S.L. Spahr. 1979. Livestock feedlot runoff control by vegetative filters. United States Environmental Protection Agency Report No. EPA-600/2-79-143. Washington, DC,

Verner, J. 1989. The guild concept applied to management of bird populations. *Environmental Management* 8:1-14.

Vink, A.P.A. 1983. Landscape Ecology and Land Use. Longman Inc. New York, NY, 264 pp.

Virginia Division of Soil and Water Conservation. 1983. Grass filter strips in Virginia. Richmond, VA.

Vitousek, P.M., J.R. Gosz, C.C. Grier, J.M. Melillo, W.A. Reiners, and R.I., Todd. 1982. A comparative analysis of potential nitrification and nitrate mobility in forest ecosystems. *Ecological Monographs* **52**:155–177,

Vitousek, P.M. and J.M. Melillo. 1979. Nitrate losses from disturbed forests: Patterns and mechanisms. *Forest Science* **25**(4):605–619.

Vitousek, P.M., J.R. Gosz, C.C. Grier, J.M. Melillo, W.A. Reiners, and R.I. Todd. 1979. Nitrate losses from disturbed ecosystems. *Science* 204:469-474.

Walker, S.E., S. Mostaghimi, and T.A. Dillaha. 1990. Modeling animal waste management practices: Impacts on bacteria levels in runoff from agricultural lands. *Transactions* of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 33:807– 817.

Walker, W.W. 1990. P8 urban catchment model program documentation. Version 1.1. Prepared for the Narragansett Bay Project. Providence, RL Waring, S.A. and J.W. Gilliam. 1983. The effect of acidity on nutrate reduction and denitrification in lower coastal plain soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal **47**:246–251.

Warwick, J. and A.R. Hill, 1988. Nitrate depletion in the ripacian zone of a small woodland stream. *Hydrobiologia* **157**:231–240.

Watts, D.G., G.W. Hergert, and J.T. Nichofs. 1991. Nitrogen leaching losses from irrigated orchardgrass on sandy soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **20**:355–362.

Weier, K.L. and J.W. Gilliam, 1986. Effect of acidity on denitrification and nitrogen oxide evolution from Atlantic Coastal soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 50:1202-1205.

Weier, K.L., J.W. Doran, and J.F. Power. 1993. Denitrification and the dinitrogen/nitrous oxide ration as affected by soil water, available carbon, and nitrate. *Soil Science Society* of America Journal **57**:66–72.

Weiskel, P.K. and B.L. Howes. 1992. Differential transport of sewage derived nitrogen and phosphorus through a coastal watershed. *Environmental Science Technology* **26(2)**:352-360.

Welsch, D.J. 1991. Riparian forest buffers: Function and design for protection and enhancement of water resources. United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service Report No. NA-PR-07-91. Radnor, PA. 24 pp.

Whipple, W. and J.V. Hunter. 1981. Settleability of urban runoff pollution. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation* **53**(1):1726-1732.

Whitcomb, R.F., J.F. Lynch, P.A. Opler, and C.S. Robbins, 1976. Island biogeography and conservation: Strategy and limitations. *Science* **193**:1030-4032.

Wiley, M.J., L.L. Osborne, and R.N. Larimore. 1990. Longitudinal structure of an agricultural prairie river system and its relationship to current stream ecosystem theory. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 47:373– 384.

Willenbring, P.R. and W.D. Weidenbacher, 1985. The use of wetlands in treating nonpoint source pollution. In: *Perspectives on Nonpoint Source Pollution*. United States Environmental Protection Agency Report No. EPA-440/4-85-001. Washington, DC. pp 380–381.

Williams, R.D. 1990. Vegetative filter strips and surface water quality. United States Department of Agriculture Water Quality and Watershed Research Laboratory. (Unpublished manuscript)

Williams, R.D. and A.D. Nicks. 1988. Using CREAMS to simulate filter strip effectiveness in erosion control. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **43**:108–112.

Wilson, B.N., B.J. Barfield, and I.D. Moore. 1984a. A hydrology and sedimentology watershed model. Operational format and hydrologic component. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 27:1370–1377.

Wilson, B.N., B.J. Barfield, and I.D. Moore. 1984b. A hydrology and sedimentology watershed model. Sedimentology component. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* 27:1378–1384.

Wilson, E.O. (ed.). 1988. *Biodiversity*. National Academy Press. Washington, DC, 521 pp.

Wilson, L.G. 1967. Sediment removal from flood water by grass filtration. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers* **10**(1):35–37.

Witten, J.D. and S.J. Trull. 1991. Quantification and control of nitrogen inputs to Buttermilk Bay, Massachusetts. Northeast Waste Water Association Conference. Portland, ME. 9 pp.

Wong, S.L. and R.H. McCuen. 1982. Design of vegetative buffer strips for runoff and sediment control. Maryland Department of Natural Resources, Coastal Resources Division, Tidewater Administration. Annapolis, MD. 23 pp.

Woodard, S.E. 1988. The effectiveness of buffer strips to protect water quality. 8th Annual International Symposium on Lake and Watershed Management, pp 26,

Wright, J.A., A. Shirmohammadi, and W.L. Magette. 1992. Water table management practice effects on water quality. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural* Engineers **35**:823–831.

Wu, T.L., D.L. Correll, and H.E.H. Remenapp. 1983. Herbicide runoff from experimental watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **12**:330–336.

Yates, P. and J.M. Sheridan. 1983. Estimating the effectiveness of vegetated floodplains / wetlands as nitratenitrogen and orthophosphate filters. *Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment* 9:303-314. Young, K. 1981. Scientists seek answer to huffer zone dilemma. Virginia Institute of Marine Sciences. *Marine Research Bulletin* 13:4–6.

Young, M.J. 1989. Buffer delincation method for urban palustrine wetlands in the Puget Sound region. Master's of Science thesis. University of Washington. Seattle, WA.

Young, M.J. and S. Mauermann, 1989, Protection of wetland ecosystems via vegetated zones: An annotated bibliography. Washington Department of Ecology. Olympia, WA.

Young, R.A., T. Huntrods, and W. Anderson. 1980. Effectiveness of vegetative buffer strips in controlling pollution from feedlot runoff. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 9(3):483–487

Young, R.A. and C.K. Mutchler. 1969. Effect of slope shape on erosion and runoff. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers*. 9:231–239.

Zirschky, J.D., D. Crawford, L. Norton, and D. Deemer. 1989. Metals removal in overland flow. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation* 16:470–475.

Zube, E.H. 1973. Rating everyday rural landscapes of the northeastern U.S. Landscape Architecture (July):1973.

Zube, E.H. 1970. Evaluating the visual and cultural landscape. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **25(4)**:137–141.





Appendix A — The Rhode Island Coastal Zone Buffer Program

Adopted April 1994, RI CRMP

Section 140 Setbacks

Amend Section 140. C to read as follows:

"C. Setbacks shall extend a minimum distance of either fifty (50) feet from the inland boundary of the coastal feature or twenty-five (25) feet inland of the edge of a Coastal Buffer Zone, whichever is further landward. In areas designated by the Council as Critical Erosion Areas-(Table 2), the minimum distance of the setback shall be not less than 30 times the calculated average annual erosion rate for less than four dwelling units and not less than 60 times the calculated average annual erosion rate for projects proposing more than 4 dwellings units.

"SECTION 150 COASTAL BUFFER ZONES

A. Definition

1. A Coastal Buffer Zone is a land area adjacent to a Shoreline (Coastal) Feature that is, or will be, vegetated with native shoreline species and which acts as a natural transition zone between the coast and adjacent upland development. A Coastal Buffer Zone differs from a construction setback (Section 140) in that the setback establishes a minimum distance between a shoreline feature and construction activities, while a buffer zone establishes a natural area adjacent to a shoreline feature that must be retained in, or restored to, a natural vegetative condition (Figure 2). The Coastal Buffer Zone is generally contained within the established construction setback.

Figure 2 An example of the application of a Coastal Buffer Zone.



B. Findings

1. The establishment of Coastal Buffer Zones is based upon the CRMC's legislative mandate to preserve, protect and, where possible, restore ecological systems. 2. Vegetated buffer zones have been applied as best management practices within the fields of forestry and agriculture since the 1950s to protect in-stream habitats from degradation by the input of sediment and nutrients (Desbonnet et al 1993). More recently, vegetated buffer zones have gained popularity as a best management practice for the control and abatement of nonpoint source pollutants (contaminated runoff) and are routinely applied in both engineered and natural settings (Desbonnet et al 1993).

3. Coastal Buffer Zones provide multiple uses and multiple benefits to those areas where they are applied (Desbonnet et al 1993). The multiple uses and benefits of Coastal Buffer Zones include:

(a) Protection of Water Quality: Buffer zones along the perimeter of coastal water bodies can be effective in trapping sediments, pollutants (including oil, detergents, pesticides, herbicides, insecticides, wood preservatives and other domestic chemicals), and absorbing nutrients (particularly nitrogen) from surface water runoff and groundwater flow. The effectiveness of vegetated buffers as a best management. practice for the control of nonpoint source runoff is dependent upon their ability to reduce the velocity of runoff flow to allow for the deposition of sediments, and the filtration and biological removal of nutrients within the vegetated area. In general, the effectiveness of any vegetated buffer is related to its width. slope, soil type, and resident species of vegetation. Effective buffers for nonpoint source pollution control, which remove at least 50%, and up to 99%, of sediments and nutrients entering them, range from 15 feet to 600 feet in width.

The removal of pollutants can be of particular importance in areas abutting poorly flushed estuaries that are threatened by an excess of nutrients or are contaminated by runoff water, such as the South Shore Salt Ponds and the Narrow River. Large, well flushed water bodies, such as Narragansett Bay, are also susceptible to nonpoint source pollutant inputs, and can be severely impacted by nonpoint source pollutants as has been documented in studies completed for the Narragansett Bay Project.

(b) *Protection of Coastal Habitat:* Coastal Buffer Zones provide habitat for native plants and animals. Vegetation within a buffer zone provides cover from predation and climate, and habitat for nesting and feeding by resident and migratory species. Some species which use coastal buffer zones are now relatively uncommon, while others are considered rare, threatened or endangered. These plants and animals are essential to the preservation of Rhode Island's valuable coastal ecosystem.

The effectiveness of vegetated buffers as wildlife habitat is dependent upon buffer width and vegetation type. In general, the wider the buffer the greater its value as wildlife habitat. Larger buffer widths are typically needed for species that are more sensitive to disturbances (e.g., noise). Furthermore, those buffers that possess vegetation native to the area provide more valuable habitat for sustaining resident species. A diversity of plant species and types (e.g., grasses, shrubs and trees) promotes biodiversity within the buffer area, and the region overall. (c) Protection of Scenic and Aesthetic Quality: One of the primary goals of the Council is to preserve, protect, and where possible restore the scenic value of the coastal region in order to retain the visual diversity and unique visual character of the Rhode Island coast as seen by hundreds of thousands of residents and tourists each year from boats, bridges, and such vantage points as roadways, public parks, and public beaches (Section 330). Coastal Buffer Zones enhance and protect Rhode Island's scenic and visual aesthetic resources along the coast. Coastal buffers also preserve the natural character of the shoreline, while mitigating the visual impacts of coastal development. Visual diversity provides for both contrast and relief between the coastal and inland regions, leading to greater aesthetic value of the landscape.

(d) *Erosion Control:* Coastal Buffer Zones provide a natural transition zone between the open coast, shoreline features and upland development. Natural vegetation within a Coastal Buffer Zone helps to stabilize the soil, reduces the velocity of surface water runoff, reduces erosion of the soil by spreading runoff water over a wide area, and promotes absorption and infiltration through the detrital (leaf) layer and underlying soils. The extensive root zones often associated with buffer zone vegetation also help prevent excessive shoreline erosion during coastal storm events by stabilizing underlying soils.

(e) *Flood Control*: Coastal Buffer Zones aid in flood control by reducing the velocity of runoff and by encouraging infiltration of precipitation and runoff into the ground rather than allowing runoff to flow overland and flood low lying areas. In addition, Coastal Buffer Zones often occupy the flood plain itself and thus add to coastal flood protection.

(f) Protection of Historic and Archaeological Resources: Coastal Buffer Zones protect areas of cultural and historic importance such as archaeological sites by helping prevent intrusion while protecting the sites' natural surroundings.

C. Policies

1. The establishment of a Coastal Buffer Zone is based upon the CRMC's legislative mandate to preserve, protect and, where possible, restore ecological systems. The determination of the inland boundary of the Coastal Buffer Zone must balance this mandate with the property owner's rights to develop and use the property.

2. The Council shall require Coastal Buffer Zones in accordance with the requirements of this section for the following: a) new residential development; b) commercial and industrial development; c) activities subject to Section 300.8 and Section 300.13; and d) inland activities identified in Section 320. For existing residential structures, the Council shall require a Coastal Buffer Zone for category "A" and "B" activities when the RIDEM requires the modification or expansion of an existing septic system or when the footprint of the structure is expanded.

3. The vegetation within a buffer zone must be either retained in a natural, undisturbed condition, or properly

managed in accordance with the standards contained in this section. In cases where native flora (vegetation) does not exist within a buffer zone, the Council may require restoration efforts which include, but are not limited to, replanting the Coastal Buffer Zone with native plant species.

4. Coastal Buffer Zones shall remain covered with native flora and in an undisturbed state in order to promote the Council's goal of preserving, protecting, and restoring ecological systems. However, the Council may permit minor alterations to Coastal Buffer Zones that facilitate the continued enjoyment of Rhode Island's coastal resources. All alterations to Coastal Buffer Zones or alterations to the natural vegetation (i.e., areas not presently maintained in a landscaped condition) within the Council's jurisdiction shall be conducted in accordance with the standards contained in this section as well as all other applicable policies and standards of the Council. In order to ensure compliance with these requirements, the Council may require applicants to submit a Buffer Zone Management Plan.

Table 2a.	
Coastal Buffer	Zone designations for residential
development.	

		Water Use Category	
Residential Lot Size (aq. 11.)	Туре 3,4,5 & 6		Туре 1&2
		Required Butter (f1)	
<10,000	15		25
10,000 - 20,000	25		50
20,001 - 40,000	50		75
40.001 - 60.000	75		100
60,001 ~ 80,000	100		125
80,001 - 200,000	125		150
>200,000	150		200

5. In order to enhance conservation, protect water quality, and maintain the low intensity use characteristic of Type 1 and 2 waters, greater buffer widths shall be applied along the coastline abutting these water types.

6. In critical areas and when the property owner owns adjoining lots, these lots shall be considered as one lot for the purposes of applying the values contained in Table 2a and ensuring that the appropriate buffer zone is established.

D. Standards

1. All Coastal Buffer Zones shall be measured from the inland edge of the most inland Shoreline (Coastal) Feature.

2. Coastal Buffer Zone Requirements for New Residential Development: The minimum Coastal Buffer Zone requirements for new residential development bordering Rhode Island's shoreline are contained in Table 2a. The Coastal Buffer Zone requirements are based upon the size of the lot and the CRMC's designated Water Types (Type 1 - Type 6). Where the buffer zone requirements noted above cannot be met, the applicant may request a variance in accordance with Section 120. A variance to 50% of the required buffer width may be granted administratively by the Executive Director if the applicant has satisfied the burdens of proof for the granting of a variance. Where it is determined that the applicant has not satisfied the burdens of proof, or the requested variance is in excess of 50% of the required width, the application shall be reviewed by the full Council.

3. Coastal Buffer Zone Requirements for Existing Residential Structures that Expand the Footprint of the Structure and for Structures Required by the RIDEM to Modify or Expand an Existing Septic System: When an existing residential structure does not meet the Council's Coastal Buffer Zone requirements contained in Table 2a (e.g., the existing structure does not have a buffer zone or has a buffer zone with a width less than the value contained in Table 2a), the following Coastal Buffer Zone requirements shall apply to each modification of the residential structure until the property's Coastal Buffer Zone equals, but does not exceed, the value contained in Table 2a:

(a) Where alterations to a residential structure result in the expansion of the structure's footprint (square footage of the ground floor area encompassed by the structural foundation of an existing building), the Coastal Buffer Zone requirement shall be established with a width equal to the percentage increase in a structure's footprint as of April 15, 1994 multiplied by the value contained in Table 2a ([square foot increase of footprint/square footage as of April 15, 1994] X value contained in Table 2a = Coastal Zone Buffer Requirement);

(b) Where alterations to a residential structure result in an increase in flow to the Individual Sewage Disposal System (ISDS) and the RIDEM has required the modification or expansion of the existing ISDS, the Coastal Buffer Zone requirement shall be established with a width equal to 25% of the value contained in Table 2a (0.25 X value contained in Table 2a = Coastal Buffer Zone requirement).

These requirements only apply to category "A" and "B" assents. In addition, the Executive director shall have the authority to grant a variance to these requirements for category "A" assents in accordance with the burdens of proof contained in Section 120.

4. Coastal Buffer Zone Requirements for all Commercial and Industrial development and activities subject to the requirements of Section 300.8, Section 300.13, or Section 320: Coastal Buffer Zones shall be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Council. Table 2a may be used as appropriate guidance. However, depending on the activity proposed and its potential impacts on coastal resources, the Council may require a Coastal Buffer Zone with a width greater than that found in the Table 2a.

5. All property abutting critical habitat areas, as defined by the Rhode Island National Heritage Program or the Council, shall possess a minimum vegetated buffer zone of 200 feet between the identified habitat and any development area. The Executive director shall have the authority to grant a variance to these requirements in accordance with the burdens of proof contained in Section 120.

6. All property abatting Coastal Natural Areas (Section 210.4) shall have a minimum vegetated Coastal Buffer Zone of 25 feet from the inland edge of the coastal feature. The Executive director shall have the authority to grant a variance to these requirements in accordance with the burdens of proof contained in Section 120.

7. All property located within the boundaries of a Special Area Management (SAM) Plan approved by the Council shallmeet additional buffer zone requirements contained within these SAM plans. When a SAM plan's buffer zone requirements apply, the buffer width values contained in this section will be compared to those required by the SAM plan, and the larger of the buffer widths applied.

8. The setback (Section 140) for all new residential, commercial, and industrial structures shall exceed the Coastal Buffer Zone requirement by a minimum of 25 feet for fire, safety, and maintenance purposes. Where the 25 foot separation distance between the inland edge of the buffer and construction setback cannot be obtained, the applicant may request a variance in accordance with Section 120. The Executive Director shall have the authority to grant variances to this requirement. However, a vegetated Coastal Buffer Zone shall not directly contact any dwelling's footprint.

E. Buffer Management and Maintenance Requirements

1. All alterations within established Coastal Buffer Zones or alterations to natural vegetation (i.e., areas not presently maintained in a landscaped condition) within the Council's jurisdiction may be required to submit a Buffer Zone Management Plan for the Council's approval that is consistent with the requirements of this section and the Council's most recent edition of *Buffer Zone Management Guidance*. Buffer Zone Management Plans shall include a description of all proposed alterations and methods of avoiding problem areas such as the proper placement and maintenance of pathways. Applicants should consult the Council's most recent edition of *Buffer Zone Management Guidance* when preparing a buffer management plan.

2. In order to promote the Council's goal to preserve, protect and, where possible, restore ecological systems, Coastal Buffer Zones shall be vegetated with native flora and retained in a natural, undisturbed condition, or shall be properly managed in accordance with Council's most recent edition of *Buffer Zone Management Guidance*. Such management activities compatible with this goal include, but are not limited to:

(a) Shoreline Access Paths: Pathways which provide access to the shoreline are normally considered permissible provided they are less than or equal to 6 feet wide and follow a path that minimizes erosion and gullying within the buffer zone (e.g., a winding, but direct path). Pathways should avoid, or may be prohibited in, sensitive habitat areas,

including, but not limited to, coastal wetlands. Pathways may be vegetated with grasses and mowed or may be surfaced with crushed stone or mulch.

(b) View Corridors: Selective tree removal and pruning and thinning of natural vegetation may be allowed within a defined corridor in order to promote a view of the shoreline. Only the minimal alteration of vegetation necessary to obtain a view shall be acceptable to the Council. Shoreline access paths shall be located within view corridors to the maximum extent practicable in order to minimize disturbance of Coastal Buffer Zones. View corridors shall be prohibited in sensitive or critical habitat areas.

(c) Habitat Management: Management of natural vegetation within a buffer zone to enhance wildlife habitat and control nuisance and non-native species of vegetation may be allowed. Homeowner control of pest species of vegetation such as European bittersweet and nuisance species such as poison ivy is normally considered acceptable. However, the indiscriminate use of herbicides or the clear-cutting of vegetation shall be prohibited. The use of fertilizers is generally prohibited within the Coastal Buffer Zone except when used to enhance the replanting of native vegetation (e.g., hydro-seeding) approved by the Council. However, the clearing or outright elimination of natural vegetation for such purposes as controlling ticks or pollen shall not be permitted.

(d) Safety and Welfare: Selective tree removal, pruning and thinning of natural vegetation within a Coastal Buffer Zone may be allowed by the Council on a case-by-case basis for proven safety and welfare concerns (e.g., removal of a damaged tree in close proximity to a dwelling). In order to promote child safety and manage pets in areas harboring ticks, fences along the inland edge of a Coastal Buffer Zone and along shoreline access pathways may be permitted.

(e) Shoreline Recreation: The CRMC recognizes that shoreline recreation is one of the predominant attractions for living on, or visiting the Rhode Island Coast. In order to allow for such uses, minor alterations of buffer zones may be permitted along the shoreline if they are determined to consistent with Council's requirements. These alterations may include maintaining a small clearing along the shore for pienic tables, benches, and recreational craft (dinghies, canoes, day sailboats, etc.). Additionally, the CRMC may allow small, non-habitable structures including storage sheds, boat houses and gazebos within Coastal Buffer Zones, where appropriate. However, these structures may be prohibited in sensitive or critical habitat areas. Due to the potential for these structures to impact values provided by Coastal Buffer Zones, the Council shall exercise significant discretion in this area."

Appendix B — Rhode Island Coastal Buffer Zone Management Guidance

Revised January 7, 1994

CRMC Coastal Buffer Zone Management Guidance

A. Guidelines for preparing an application for Coastal Buffer Zone Management:

1. All proposals for buffer zone management must be designed with respect to the one or more of the "Management Options" identified in Section "B" of these guidelines and must utilize appropriate techniques for managing vegetation as defined in Section "C".

2. Photographs and site plans must be submitted for all applications in order to minimize the need for on-site inspections. Actual field inspections will only be performed when deemed necessary by CRMC staff. All applications should be complete, clear and concise. Applications which are unclear or imprecise will be returned.

3. Applications which propose acceptable alterations within Coastal Buffer Zones (as determined by CRMC staff) will be processed as a "Category "A" and will receive administrative approval. In cases where CRMC staff determines the application to be unacceptable, an effort will be made to negotiate a resolution with the applicant. If a favorable resolution cannot be reached, CRMC staff will make a recommendation to the Executive Director that the application be processed as a Category "B" review requiring final decision by the full Coastal Council.

4. All proposals for Coastal Buffer Zone management should involve minor alterations which do not depreciate the values and functions of Coastal Buffer Zones as defined by Section 150 of the RICRMP. At a minimum, at least sixty (60%) of a buffer zone shall remain completely unaltered. Typically, Coastal Buffer Zone Management Plans which affect 25% or less of a buffer zone are more likely to be approved. Areas to remain unaltered should be clearly identified on the proposed plans. An exception to this requirement is allowed for "Suburban Coastal Buffer Zones" - see Section B.6 of this Guidance material.

5. Where appropriate, Coastal Buffer Zone management may be applied to Coastal Banks. However, the CRMC may impose greater restrictions on alterations affecting coastal banks.

6. Tree damage and removal - in cases where a small number of dead, diseased, or storm damaged trees need to be removed from a baffer zone, the applicant may request an expedited review. In such cases, a description of work and a photograph of the area may be sufficient for CRMC review.

B. Management options within coastal buffer zones:

1. <u>Shoretine Access Paths</u> - Pathways which provide access to the shoreline are normally considered appropriate. Pathways may be 6' wide or less and follow a winding, but direct path that does not promote erosion within the buffer zone. Shoreline access paths must be designed to minimize disturbance and may be prohibited in sensitive habitat areas, including but not limited to, coastal wetlands. Pathways may be vegetated with grasses and mowed or may be surfaced with crushed stone or mulch. Fertilizers may only be allowed for the initial establishment of grassed pathways. Proper site plans must be submitted which show the location of the proposed path through the buffer zone. Applicants may also be required to delineate the path on site for CRMC staff inspection.

2. View Corridors - Selective tree removal and pruning and thinning of natural vegetation may be allowed within a defined corridor in order to promote a view of the shoreline. Only the minimal alteration of vegetation necessary to obtain a view shall be considered acceptable (clear cutting is not allowed). Shoreline access paths (if proposed) should be located within a view corridor to minimize disturbance within the buffer. Applicants proposing a view corridor must prepare a plan showing the view corridor's location within the Coastal Buffer Zone with respect to view points from a dwelling or other viewing area. View corridors are typically trapezoidal in shape, being narrow at the inland edge and expanding toward the shore. On residential lots of 2 acres or less, only one view corridor is typically considered acceptable. View Corridors may not affect more than 25 % of the length of the Coastal Buffer Zone as measured along the shoreline feature. View Corridors may be prohibited in sensitive or critical habitat areas.

3. Habitat Management - The management of natural vegetation within a Coastal Buffer Zone to either enhance wildlife habitat or control nuisance and/or non-native species of vegetation may be allowed where it is demonstrated that the existing environmental conditions will be improved for native plantlife and wildlife. Additionally, homeowner control of nuisance species of vegetation such as European Bittersweet and poison ivy are considered acceptable within managed portions of Coastal Buffer Zones. However, the indiscriminate use of herbicides is prohibited and fertilizers may only be used to enhance the replanting of native vegetation. In addition, maintaining a buffer zone in a "landscaped condition", or establishing lawn are not considered appropriate habitat management activities and are prohibited. In Coastal Buffer Zones encompassing one acre or more, clearing may be allowed to establish field conditions which contain native grasses and herbaceous plants. In such cases, clearing for field establishment shall not affect more than 25% of the Coastal Buffer Zone. All Buffer Zone Management plans involving habitat management within a Coastal Buffer Zone of one acre or more, or in sensitive or critical habitat areas (as determined by CRMC staff) shall submit a buffer zone management plan prepared by a gualified environmental professional or biologist.

4. <u>Safety and Welfare</u> - Selective tree removal and pruning and thinning of natural vegetation within a Coastal Buffer Zone may be allowed on a case-by-case basis for proven safety and welfare concerns (e.g., removal of a damaged or diseased tree in close proximity to a dwelling). In order to promote child safety and manage pets in areas harboring ticks, fences along the inland edge of a Coastal Buffer Zone and along shoreline access paths or shoreline recreation areas may be permitted (fences must be of an "open" type construction to permit the passage of wildlife, e.g. split rail or similar). Coastal Buffer Zone management plans shall include methods of avoiding problem areas such as the proper placement and maintenance of paths.

5. Shoreline Recreation - The CRMC recognizes that shoreline recreation is one of the predominant attractions for living on, or visiting the Rhode Island coast. In order to allow for such uses, minor alterations of Coastal Buffer Zones may be permitted along the shoreline if they are determined to be consistent with CRMC's goals and policies as noted in the Rhode Island Coastal Resources Management Program (RI CRMP). Appropriate alterations typically include maintaining a small clearing along the shore for picnic tables, benches, and recreational craft (dinghies, canoes, day sailboats, etc.). Additionally, where appropriate, the CRMC may allow small (200 sq. ft. total floor space, or less), non-habitable structures including storage sheds, boat houses, and gazebos within Coastal Buffer Zones. Due to the potential for these structures to impact natural values provided by Coastal Buffer Zones, the Council shall exercise significant discretion in this area.

6. Suburban Coastal Buffer Zones - Where the Coastal Buffer Zone requirement is 25' or less (as per RICRMP Section 150, Table 2a), the CRMC shall consider such buffer zones "Suburban Coastal Buffer Zones". Suburban Coastal Buffer Zones may be managed in their entirety (100%) by selective tree removal, selective pruning, selective thinning and restorative planting. However, the CRMC may require that several trees be maintained or planted to protect scenic quality.

C. Appropriate techniques for managing vegetation within a coastal buffer zone:

1. Sclective Tree Removal - In cases where the applicant wishes to remove a few select trees, trees proposed to be cut must be specifically identified for CRMC staff review. In most cases, photographs of the buffer area may be sufficient provided the affected trees are clearly shown in relation to the surrounding buffer and shoreline. Trees may also be marked on-site to allow inspection by CRMC staff. In order to minimize disturbance and allow monitoring by CRMC staff, tree stumps of fallen trees shall not be removed. CRMC staff may make a follow-up inspection to verify that only marked trees were cut based upon stump counts. Should the applicant wish to remove a fallen tree from the buffer zone, this must be performed in a manner which does not disturb remaining vegetation. Selective tree removal is often a preferred technique for the establishment of a view corridor.

2. Selective Pruning - Pruning as defined for CRMC purposes involves cutting branches from trees, tree saplings and shrubs. For certain Coastal Buffer Zone Management options, pruning the tops of shrubs and forest undergrowth (topping) may be appropriate to discourage growth in height. On level ground, shrubs and forest undergrowth should be pruned to a height of not less than 4'-5'. In areas where the ground surface descends toward the shoreline, topping should only be performed to a height that allows a view of the water. Applicants proposing pruning must describe in detail the work proposed, provide photographs and a site plan, and/or mark those portions of the Coastal Buffer Zone where vegetation will be pruned on-site. The species of vegetation to be pruned should be identified since some species of vegetation cannot tolerate excessive pruning or topping. Selective pruning is often a preferred technique for the establishment of a view corridor.

3. Selective Thinning - Thinning as defined for CRMC purposes involves the selective removal of tree saplings, shrubs and vines occurring in brush areas and in the undergrowth of forested buffer zones. Applicants proposing thinning must describe in detail the work proposed, provide photographs and a site plan, and/or mark areas to be thinned on-site. The species of vegetation to be removed from a Coastal Buffer Zone management area must be differentiated from those species which are to be retained and encouraged. Selective thinning is often a preferred technique in areas where habitat management will be performed.

4. <u>Restorative Planting</u> - For purposes of Coastal Buffer Zone Management, restorative planting shall be strictly defined as the planting or replanting of **natural vegetation native to the Rhode Island shoreline**. However, naturalized species such as Rugosa Rose may be allowed, as determined by CRMC staff. The planting of non-native, landscape and exotic species, in most cases, shall not be considered appropriate in Coastal Buffer Zones.

5. <u>Mowing</u> - In most cases, mowing of vegetation within a Coastal Buffer Zone shall be prohibited unless associated with the establishment and maintenance of shoreline access path or approved shoreline recreation area. However, for certain habitat management options, annual or biannual mowing may be allowed to maintain field vegetation where such vegetation is considered valuable to wildlife and other natural values. In such cases, mowing shall be confined to 25% of the Coastal Buffer Zone area, or less.

6. <u>Clearing</u> - Clearing or clear-cutting of vegetation within a Coastal Buffer Zone shall only be allowed for the establishment of shoreline access paths, shoreline recreation areas and in certain cases, habitat management options which are designed to maintain a field of native grasses and herbaceous plants. Clearing shall not affect more than 25% of the Coastal Buffer Zone area. Clearing for habitat management shall not be allowed in Coastal Buffer Zones of less than one acre. 7. <u>Filling and grading</u> - Minor filling (10 cubic yards or less) and grading shall only be allowed in Coastal Buffer Zone areas for the establishment of shoreline access paths and shoreline recreation areas. Certain minor cutting and filling activities may also be allowed on a case-by-case basis to promote these uses. Filling and grading shall not be allowed for habitat management options.

Figure 10. Example of an adequate buffer zone management plan drawn by owner.



71